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ABOUT 
THIS  
REPORT
This report aims to provide 
a balanced, accurate and 
accessible assessment of  
the group’s strategy,  
performance and prospects  
in relation to material  
financial, economic,  
social, environmental  
and governance issues.

ARB Holdings (ARB) is committed to conducting 
its business ethically and responsibly with a view to 
creating sustainable value. This integrated report is 
aimed at providers of capital as well as a diverse range 
of other stakeholders. Its objective is to provide readers 
with concise information that will allow them to make 
informed assessments of ARB’s ability to create value 
for shareholders over the short, medium and long 
term. To achieve this, the group regularly engages with 
its stakeholders to share with them the material issues 
identified by the group. Please see page 18 of this report 
for how ARB does this.

This integrated report covers the period 1 July 2020 to  
30 June 2021, i.e. the group’s financial year, and covers 
all of ARB’s operations, which are solely based in South  
Africa. Its preparation is guided by the International 
Integrated Reporting Council’s (IIRC) International 
Integrated Reporting <IR> Framework and is in 
compliance with the JSE, which include JSE Listings 
Requirements, the King Report on Corporate Governance 
in South Africa (King IV™) and the Companies Act 
2008 (Act 71 of 2008) as amended (the Companies 
Act). The audited financial statements were prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).

The board conducted a review of the 17 principles  
and the associated practices of King IV™, which is 
available on the ARB website, www.arbhold.co.za.  
The group continues to be pragmatic in the application  
of King IV™, adopting a “fit for purpose” approach. The 
board continuously reviews at least three principles 
every year to ensure recommended practices adopted 
are still appropriate and effective. Any changes made 
are loaded onto the ARB website.

Materiality
This report aims to provide a balanced, accurate and 
accessible assessment of the group’s strategy, performance 
and prospects in relation to material financial, economic, 
social, environmental and governance issues. ARB applies 
the principle of materiality when assessing what 
information should be included in the report. Material 
issues, which are identified through engagement with 
stakeholders, both influence the group’s strategy and 
inform the content of this report. 

ESG
The COVID-19 pandemic has sharply emphasised that 
governments, businesses and individuals across the 
globe can no longer afford to ignore the perils associated 
with the differences in societal means and the alarming 

Report feedback
The integrated report is available online 
at www.arbhold.co.za, together with  
the King IV™ compliance register. The 
board welcomes feedback on the  
report from stakeholders. Please  
contact the chief financial officer (CFO) 
at grants@arbhold.co.za with any 
suggestions for improvement, or with 
any questions or queries you may have.

Indicates further information 
available on the group’s 
website www.arbhold.co.za

Navigate the report

Alan R Burke, founder and chairman 
for almost 40 years.



rate of degradation of the environment. Whilst good 
corporate governance has been firmly on the radar 
for listed South African companies thanks to King IV™ 
and its predecessors, often putting local companies 
ahead of their international peers in this respect, social 
and environmental impacts have gained increasing 
significance over the past few years. ARB remains 
committed to ensuring good corporate citizenship 
in this respect, with the group’s environmental, social 
and governance (ESG) efforts outlined in the ESG 
report (instead of, as in previous years, the sustainability 
report) as ARB strives to embrace ESG good practice. 

Ethics
Ethical behaviour and conduct within ARB are governed 
by the social and ethics committee and driven 
throughout the organisation. During the year under 
review these were found to have been maintained at 
the highest level. The group firmly believes that the 
ethics of the organisation are entrenched, with ethical 
behaviour driven from top management structures, 
and with no tolerance for deviation of any kind.

Forward-looking statements
The integrated report includes forward-looking 
statements, which include assumptions, uncertainties 
and similar risks and consequentially, the actual result 
may be different to that anticipated. Words such as 
believe, anticipate, intend, seek, will, may, could, and 
the like identify these forward-looking statements, 
but not exclusively. Forward-looking statements only 
apply as at the date of this report and ARB does 
not undertake to update these forward-looking 
statements other than in the half year or the next full 
year results announcements.

Integrated risk management and  
combined assurance
ARB uses a combined assurance model that aims 
to match the risk areas affecting the group with 
assurance obtained from management, together 
with internal and external risk assurance providers. 
Management provides the board with assurance 
that it has implemented and monitored the group’s 
risk management plan as set out in the risk registers 
presented to the board and that the plan is integrated 
into ARB’s day-to-day activities.

ARB believes that an effective risk governance model 
contains checks and balances to support appropriate 
consideration of risk and opportunity management 
throughout the organisation. The group considers 
integrated risk management practices supplemented 
by the combined assurance model to be an 
optimal approach that facilitates coordinated risk 
management and governance efforts. 

The internal audit function reports directly to the 
audit committee chairman, is overseen by the audit 
committee and assesses the effectiveness of ARB’s 
systems of internal controls and risk management. 
PKF Durban provides external assurance on the 
fair presentation of the group’s annual financial 
statements. Their scope does not include the  
review of any financial or operating information 
contained elsewhere in this integrated report. 
The subsidiaries’ Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment (B-BBEE) compliance is externally 
assessed and audited by the company, B-BBEE Rated.

The audit committee, as well as the board, have 
considered the exposure to sustainability risks and 
have concluded that it is not necessary to engage an 
external assurance provider to provide assurance on 
this integrated report.

Process Nature of assurance Status Provider

Internal audit function Internal assurance Assured Internal

Annual financial statements External assurance Assured PKF Durban

B-BBEE (Electrical Wholesalers – level 2) External assurance Assured B-BBEE Rated

Ethics and trust

   Whistle-blower service and policy Internal assurance Assured Internal

   Protection of Personal Information (POPI) Act Internal assurance Assured Internal
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Board acknowledgement and appointments
The board would like to pay tribute to the group’s 
founder, Alan R Burke. The business culture and 
ethics that he instilled when he founded ARB remain 
engrained in the group, and are continued by two of 
his sons, who remain in the business. Blayne Burke was 
appointed to the board on 1 July 2021 as the group chief 
executive officer (CEO) designate. Further changes to the 
directorate in the period covered by this report include 
that of Theo Botha, who was appointed on 6 April 2021 as 
a representative non-executive director of ARB on behalf 
of Alan R Burke, who represents shareholders controlling 
62% of the shares of the group. These appointments will  
be ratified by shareholders’ approval at the annual 
general meeting (AGM) on 15 November 2021. 

Board approval
The ARB board of directors acknowledges its 
responsibility to ensure the integrity of the integrated 
report for the year ended 30 June 2021, and in the  
board’s opinion, the report addresses all material issues 
and fairly presents the group’s integrated performance 
and its impacts. This report was approved by the board on  
18 August 2021 as follows:

Ralph Patmore
Chairman of the board

William (Billy) Neasham 
Group CEO

Grant Scrutton
Group CFO

James Dixon 
Independent non-executive director

Simon Downes
Independent non-executive director

Theo Botha
Representative non-executive director

Blayne Burke*
Group CEO designate

* Appointed to the board on 1 July 2021.
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ARB Holdings is an investment holding company for businesses 
involved in the trading and distribution of electrical, lighting 
and related products to the contracting, mining, industrial, 
construction, parastatal, retail and domestic markets across 
South and Southern Africa. The group also holds exclusive 
rights to distribute various leading international electrical 
products into the Southern African Development Community 
(SADC) region. The group operates and reports across three key 
operating segments.



Up 126.5%  
to R211.4m

Profit

(2020: R93.3m)
R

Up 24.2% 
to R2 923m

(2020: R2 353m)

Revenue

Up 37.6%  
to 82.49c

(2020: 59.96c)

HEPS

R

Cash resources 

(2020: R152.0m)

R345.2m 
cash

(including a special  
dividend of 10.00c)

Dividend

42.50c 
per share R

NAV per share

(2020: 443.84c)

525.80c

Up 102%  
to R294.8m

(2020: R145.9m)

Operating profit

R

Basic EPS

(2020: 35.68c)

Up 128.3%  
to 81.45c

2021 
IN REVIEW 
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2021

Global shortage of steel, PVC 
and the dramatic increase in 

the copper price also affected 
supplies, impacted local 

manufacturers – in some cases, 
this resulted in the inability  

of suppliers to achieve  
OTIF deliveries

The pandemic has caused 
ongoing supply chain issues 
in both major divisions, with 

Eurolux particularly affected by 
the shortage of containers and 
other shipping-related issues

ARB also faced supply 
shortages and “on time and in 
full” (OTIF) issues from major 

local suppliers that rely on 
imported products in their 
manufacturing processes

Both divisions, but particularly lighting, benefited from the  
increase in discretionary expenditure

Group continued its unbroken record of paying all suppliers 
on time and in full, accruing significant goodwill as a result

Two new board 
members appointed

ARB benefited from the  
re-starting of projects that 
had been delayed by the first 

wave of COVID-19

ARB produced a record performance

Tough decisions were 
taken early to ensure 

sustainability through  
the pandemic

The team swiftly implemented the decisions, while  
driving improved performance – outcome was that the  

organisation buckled down, ensured cash was preserved,  
and remained focused on what was important

“Changing of the guard” 
– Blayne Burke appointed as the designated 

group CEO from 1 January 2022

The challenge of the restructuring of  
both major divisions is now over As a trading and distribution 

group, the priority remains 
on people and working 

capital management and to 
ensure that ARB’s operations 

remain cash generative

was a stellar year

2021 IN REVIEW (continued)

High stock levels ,particularly  
in the electrical division, provided an 

advantage over competitors, resulting in 
market share gain for the group
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ARB has a track record of making profits, even in the toughest years:
    Paid creditors OTIF throughout the lockdowns associated with COVID-19 pandemic.
    Made a profit in the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic (year ended 30 June 2020) and current year profit is up 

126.5% on last year.

The group also has a strong focus on working capital management, generating cash of R345.2m in the current year 
(R151.9m in the first year of COVID-19 [year ended 30 June 2020]), and a robust balance sheet.

A profitable and cash generative company

The group is committed to sustainability beyond profit and is focused on the core elements of ESG:
    There is a sound governance structure in place, with active board and committee participation and engagement.
    The code of conduct is supported by an embedded ethical culture.
    There is a whistle-blower mechanism for reporting transgressions, including incidences of corruption and fraud.
    ARB is a low carbon emitter and user of water, but has an increasing commitment to ensure compliance with 

environmental and associated legislation through various initiatives focusing on the safe disposal of “problem 
products” as an example.

Executive pay is in line with performance, measured against key performance indicators (KPIs).

R2.7m has been invested in training and development in the past year, with health and safety, labour and employment 
legislation and policies, and B-BBEE remaining key focus areas.

A company with long-term sustainability 

INVESTMENT 
CASE

A growth player

ARB has the sustainable capacity to provide products into what has 
the potential to be a very high growth industry. According to the 
International Energy Fund’s (IEA) flagship report, SDG7: Data and 
Projections (October 2020), the number of people without access to 
electricity globally is 770 million, with 75% of this population living in  
sub-Saharan Africa (SSA). While this percentage has declined since 
2013, it is set to increase again post 2020, mainly due to the effects of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, pushing many countries further away from 
achieving the goal of achieving universal access to electricity by 2030.  

The group remains a major player in the South African market and 
has been in business for over 40 years – it has proven that it has the 
significant financial resources, a geographical “point of presence” 
footprint close to the customer via 20 branches, the distribution 
capability and a well-established management team that can lead the 
business in challenging circumstances.

 Acquisitions remain part of the group’s 
growth and expansion strategy in addition to 
organic growth, and the board is cognisant 
and continually evaluates opportunities that 
present themselves.

Opportunities to expand the product base 
in both divisions are constantly evaluated.

ARB has well-known and respected brands, 
including: 
 Eurolux 
 Radiant 
 Euro Nouveau 
 ARB Electrical Wholesalers. 

The entrepreneurial mindset that started 
ARB remains embedded in the culture.

The group has a proven record of returning excess cash to 
shareholders, which includes special dividends. The year in 
which the COVID-19 pandemic started was an exception, with 
the conscious decision not to pay a dividend in the prior year 
to retain cash reserves during the uncertainty of the pandemic.

ARB is pleased to have paid dividends over the past 
five years, delivering average dividend yield of 5.28% 
compared to its three local peers, which produced 
an average yield of 4.11%, 3.8% and 1.98% respectively. 
The group is also pleased to have paid dividends 
again this year, following its record performance. 

A payer of consistent dividends
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   Eurolux
   Radiant
   Cathay Lighting
   Euro Nouveau

ARB Holdings owns 60% of 
Eurolux, which in turn owns 100% 
of Radiant and Cathay Lighting. 
Eurolux is a leading importer 
and distributor of a wide range of 
light fittings and lamps, including 
energy-saving light-emitting diode 
(LED), halogen and fluorescent 
lamps. The product range also 
includes electrical accessories, pre-
packed wire and small cables, and 
ancillary products, including fans 
and lighting components 

Eurolux markets its products 
under its own well-known brand, 
as well as those of Radiant, What4 
Electronics, and Euro Nouveau.

The division operates out of three 
custom-designed distribution 
centres, two in Johannesburg 
and one in Cape Town, and sells 
to retail chains, independent “do 
it yourself” (DIY) and hardware 
chains, as well as to resellers such 
as specialised lighting shops and 
electrical wholesalers. In 2019 
Eurolux acquired Radiant, and 
subsequently the operations were 
consolidated.

   ARB Electrical Wholesalers
   ARB Connect
   ARB Global
   CraigCor Distribution Co
   Consolidated Electrical 

Distributor (CED)
   GMC Powerlines

ARB Holdings owns 100% of 
ARB Global, GMC Powerlines 
and CED and a 74% interest 
in ARB Electrical Wholesalers, 
a level 2 B-BBEE company, 
which operates 20 electrical 
wholesale branches 
throughout South Africa, which 
in turn owns 75% of CraigCor 
Distribution Co. 

ARB Electrical Wholesalers 
is one of southern Africa’s 
largest distributors of electrical 
products. It has a presence in 
all nine provinces, and provides 
a wide range of internationally 
recognised and South African 
Bureau of Standards (SABS) 
approved products across five 
main categories:

   power and instrumentation 
cable; 

   overhead line (OHL) 
equipment and conductors; 

   general low-voltage 
products;

   lighting and renewable 
energy solutions; and

   the Cable Management 
Group.

ARB Holdings is an investment holding company for businesses involved in the trading and distribution of electrical, 
lighting and related products to the contracting, mining, industrial, construction, parastatal, retail and domestic markets 
across South and Southern Africa. The group also holds exclusive rights to distribute various leading international 
electrical products into the Southern African Development Community (SADC) region. The group operates and reports 
across three key operating segments:

Electrical 
division

Lighting 
division

Corporate 
division

   ARB Holdings 
   Xact ERP Solutions
   ARB Properties

ARB’s property portfolio is 
housed in the corporate 
division. The division provides 
strategic leadership to the 
group and performs the 
internal audit, secretarial, 
legal and centralised treasury 
functions for the underlying 
operating subsidiaries. 

ARB Holdings owns 100% of 
Xact ERP Solutions, which 
provides the electrical 
division and other third-
party clients with specialist 
enterprise resource planning 
(ERP) software solutions and 
hardware services and support.

THE GROUP 
AT A GLANCE
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ARB operates mainly in the South African electrical  supply market, with a strategy to expand into SSA. Within 
the SSA market, South Africa has the lion’s share of the power generation capacity, supplying approximately  
40% of Africa’s electricity (Eskom, 2019). The electricity sector in South Africa is dominated by the national 
utility Eskom, which generates approximately 90% of the electricity used in the country, with total nominal 
capacity of 44 172 megawatts (MW) from 30 power stations. The balance is supplied by municipalities and 
redistributors as well as private generators. The utility sells power directly to some 2 703 industrial, 51 848 
commercial, 81 638 agricultural and six million residential customers. 

Around 580 million people in SSA lacked access to electricity in 2019 according to World Energy  
Outlook 2020 by the International Energy Agency. More than 95% of those living without electricity are in 
countries in Africa and developing Asia. In 2015, SSA was home to 13% of the world’s population, but to 48% 
of the global population without access to electricity. Although SSA currently consumes less power than 
Brazil, by 2040 demand is projected to reach a level equal to the 2010 level of consumption of both Latin 
America and India combined. As a result, the industry is set to remain robust well into the future.

The electrical supply market

 low voltage (less than 1 Kilovolt [KV]);
 medium voltage (1KV to 132KV); 
 high voltage (132KV to 400KV); and 
  a limited very high voltage sector (greater 

than 765KV).

In South Africa, the electrical supply 
industry is broken down into power 
size segments, determined by Eskom, 
and split into: 

  power supply utilities such as Eskom, 
Zesco (Zambia), BPC (Botswana), EDM 
(Mozambique) and Nampower (Namibia);

  Independent Power Producers (IPPs) 
and municipalities; and 

  large users such as mines and  
heavy industries that tend to procure 
directly from these original equipment 
manufacturers (OEMs) on long-term 
supply contracts.

Eskom’s Distribution Division manages 
the medium voltage sector, Eskom’s 
Transmission Division the high voltage 
business, while municipalities oversee 
the low voltage sector. Generally, cable 
manufacturers supply the formal 
market directly, which includes:

ARB operates in the informal market, which comprises 
construction companies, contractors, builders, 
municipalities and parastatals, and end-users who are 
supported by electrical wholesalers, cable traders, large 
retail chain stores, and other general retailers who are 
supplied on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

  cable – copper and aluminium power cable; communication 
cable; electrical wires, etc.; 

  OHL products – hardware for the construction of overhead 
line structures and the cables that distribute power; and 

  low voltage components – a very large category of 
equipment and accessories ranging from commodities 
to specialist products covering wires, switches, sockets, 
conduits, cable management systems, light fittings, lamps,  
transformers, switchgear, solar systems and components, 
cable management systems, tools, etc. used by the informal 
market.

The group distributes cable, OHL and low voltage products  
sourced from:
  local manufacturers (Aberdare Cables; Tulisa cables; CBI; South 

Ocean Cables; Crabtree; Vexilla, etc.); 
  international manufacturers with local representation (Schneider; 

ABB; Legrand; Ledvance; Siemens; 3M; PLP, etc.); and
  products imported directly from international manufacturers 

(Copperweld, etc.).

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

7

A R B  I N T E G R AT E D  R E P O R T  2 0 2 1G E T T I N G  TO  K N O W  A R B



Electrical

These segments are largely dependent on and driven by the DIY and construction industry. The major trends that 
influence the lighting market are the need for energy efficiency and the development of LED lighting, which clearly 
has a large role to play in reducing the energy costs in industry and domestic housing. 

These products are sold to large, medium and small electrical contractors, electricians, commercial and industrial 
project builders and maintenance users, retail chain stores (through Eurolux), DIY users, and the general public. While 
there are very limited direct sales to Eskom, mines and municipalities, the lion’s share of sales to customers results in 
the installation of product on their networks.

ARB’s competitors include cable traders and other electrical wholesalers and distributors, several of which have formed 
a collective buying group, and increasingly, the group’s own local suppliers.

The lighting supply market 

The local lighting industry – which is serviced by local manufacturers and importers – is categorised into the following 
product categories:  

Lamps (light bulbs) Light fittings
Electrical accessories  

and components

These are supplied through three primary distribution channels:
 direct supply by OEMs to large customers;
  retail sales directly to the consumers (Builders Warehouse; Makro; Game; Spar; Build IT; Chamberlains, etc.); and
  wholesalers such as ARB Electrical Wholesalers, which supplies contractors and trade buyers.

The industry is guided by three sets of stringent laws that enforce standards and criminalise non-compliance: The 
Occupational Health and Safety Act (OSH Act of 1993), which has its own Electrical Installation Regulations, requiring 
certificates of compliance for all premises; the National Regulator Compliance Standards’ Act (NRCS Act of 2008); 
and the South African National Standards Act (SANS Act of 2008). The SABS is responsible for publishing all local 
standards, which are based on local adaptions of the International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) standards. 

The SABS sets the national standards 
and also operates a voluntary product 
certification scheme for electrical 
products, which ensures continued 
compliance of SABS-certified products. 
The NRCS sets local compulsory 
specifications for some cable types 
and carries out market surveillance 
inspections to monitor compliance, 
although these inspections have 
become increasingly intermittent.

Standards play a pivotal role in the quality of products that are sourced and distributed by the 
group. ARB distributes only certified products, but uncertified products brought in by smaller 
importers are fast becoming a factor in the informal markets, including shops catering to lower 
income bracket earners, where price is the only driver.

Regulations covering the electrical and lighting industry

Quality 
standards

This resulted in the formation of the SAFEhouse Association, a non-profit 
industry organisation committed to the fight against sub-standard, 
unsafe electrical products and services. Most subsidaries are members 
of the association, which was formed by organisations within the 
South African electrical industry to combat these issues, and to provide 
information and support in buying decisions about the criteria by which 
to assess products and services, and by exposing specific cases of sub-
standard products and practices. The Association of Electric Cable 
Manufacturers of South Africa (AECMSA) also represents the interests 
of consumers and manufacturers. For more information, please visit 
https://safehousesa.co.za/

THE GROUP AT A GLANCE (continued)
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Waste management Regulations in the SADC region

The Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) regulations  
were gazetted by the South African government on  
5 November 2020, catering for the implementation of an EPR 
scheme in certain industries, namely the paper, packaging and 
some single-use products sectors, the electrical and electronic 
equipment sector, and the lighting sector. While there is an 
extensive list of products outlined for the packaging and 
lighting sector, the gazetted regulations currently contain 
little to no guidance in respect of the electrical and electronic 
equipment sector.

In line with pre-existing EPR requirements, the lighting industry 
had already established Lightcycle SA, a product responsibility 
organisation (PRO) to oversee the responsible waste disposal 
of all lighting within South Africa. Lightcycle SA, which was 
established in 2018, thus effectively functions as an EPR 
scheme. It is funded by Eurolux, the Illumination Engineering 
Society of South Africa (IESSA), Osram, Ledvance and Voltex.

Since the introduction of stricter new EPR regulations last year,  
it is still uncertain as to what the future holds for existing  
industry-organised PROs like Lightcycle SA. Government 
subsequently postposed implementation of the new 
regulations to 5 May 2021 in order to address issues raised 
by affected producers and involved parties. At the time of 
writing this report, producers were required to register with 
the Department of Forestry, Fisheries and Environment  
(DFFE) within six months of the publication of the regulations, 
with 5 November 2021 given as the new revised date for  
final compliance. 

While all countries in SSA have similar quality 
standards, they are not the same. There is  
an Energy Performance Regulation working  
group, chaired by an NRCS technical expert, 
working towards cooperation in standardisation  
of electrical standards in the region, which is hoped 
to result in uniformly harmonised standards. These 
standards are being developed by SADC experts 
on standards with input from the Southern 
Africa Development Community Cooperation in 
Standardisation (SADCSTAN) technical committee 
representing the national standard bodies and 
other stakeholders. The documents that are being 
debated, for example, quality and performance 
standards for lighting, will have an impact on all 
local and imported luminaires, as a result of their 
minimum materials and production standards, 
including costs for testing. 

What is found in practice though, is that 
enforcement and policing of these standards in 
the largely informal markets in our neighbouring 
countries is less vigorous and large volumes of 
low-priced and lower-quality imported products 
have been flooding these markets in recent 
years. However, some countries like Zambia are 
now believed to be wanting to return to better 
quality standards.

Lighting 

The lighting industry is covered by specification VC8055. This means any imported or locally manufactured light 
fitting is required to comply with this standard and to obtain a NRCS’s Letter of Authority to import or manufacture. A 
new draft standard (VC9012) has been debated for over five years, but with many industry participants involved in this 
process, this NRCS-compulsory specification for lighting is still unresolved. Currently VC8043 only applies to halogen, 
incandescent and fluorescent lamps.

There are no current compulsory standards for the newer LED lamps. The compulsory specifications (VCs) for 
performance standards for General Lighting Service (GLS) lamps (the classic pear-shaped light bulbs) – VC9109 
(performance requirements) – and VC9110 for GLS safety lamps are still being debated between industry, the 
Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) and NRCS. These have been gazetted for public comment for all lamps, 
including LED lamps. It is likely, however, that halogen and fluorescent lamps will be phased out in the near future, 
with draft new regulations for light bulbs in South Africa having been gazetted in March 2021. 

These regulations will introduce new safety and performance specifications for various light bulbs, 
including filament and halogen lamps. Fluorescent light bulbs are also required to comply with the new 
specifications, which specify how much light a lightbulb must supply – a minimum of 90 lumens per watt  
(lm/watt) for Phase 1 and 105 lm/watt for Phase 2. Typically, compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs, or fluorescent 
lightbulbs) produce between 40 lm/watt and 70 lm/watt. If CFLs make a technological advancement and meet 
these specifications in the future, then they could be legally sold. LED will then be the choice of lamp going forward.
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Pietermaritzburg
Richards Bay

Limpopo
Polokwane

Mpumalanga
Nelspruit

Northern Cape
Kathu

North West
Rustenburg

Western Cape
Cape Town (3)

Electrical division

KwaZulu-Natal 
Durban

Corporate division

Eastern Cape

Northern Cape

KwaZulu-Natal

Mpumalanga
North West

Limpopo

Gauteng

Free State

Western Cape

GEOGRAPHIC FOOTPRINT

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Cathay  
Lighting  
(Pty) Ltd

Eurolux 
(Pty) Ltd

Xact ERP 
Solutions  
(Pty) Ltd

ARB Global  
(Pty) Ltd

GMC 
Powerlines  

(Pty) Ltd

ARB  
Electrical 

Wholesalers 
(Pty) Ltd

CraigCor 
Distribution 
Co (Pty) Ltd

Consolidated
Electrical  

Distributors 
(CED)

The Radiant 
Group  

(Pty) Ltd

100%

Directors of 
Eurolux

40%

60%

ARB  
HOLDINGS 
LTD (JSE)

100%100%

100%

74%

Batsomi 
Power  

(Pty) Ltd
26%

74%

100%

100%

THE GROUP AT A GLANCE (continued)
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  Utilising the centralised Lords 
View distribution centre to 
gain efficiencies from the 
existing branch network.

  Expanding the branch 
network through new store 
openings and strategic 
acquisitions.

  Expanding the range of 
products, and leveraging 
niche product offerings 
through its national 
distribution footprint.

  Growing wallet-spend with 
existing customers and 
market share with new 
customers.

  Growing through acquisitions 
that make it possible to 
achieve strategic objectives 
faster and at a lower cost.

  Growing through 
partnerships with leading 
retailers, incorporating 
information sharing and 
alignment of strategies 
between the entities.

  Increasing market share 
through the expansion of the 
customer base.

  Broadening the product 
offering to new and existing 
customers.

  Carefully expanding into 
Africa with local retail 
partners. 

  Growing through acquisitions 
that offer good value and 
quick synergistic benefits. 

  Leveraging further benefits of 
the Radiant acquisition.

  Providing structured 
assistance in executing the 
strategies of the operating 
divisions.

  Diversifying the group 
through the acquisition of 
trading and distribution 
businesses in related 
industrial or consumer 
products sectors.

  Expanding the Xact ERP 
Solutions customer base.

Acquisitions, as a top-up to organic growth, remain part of the group’s growth and expansion 
strategy and the board is cognisant of opportunities that present themselves. These 
acquisition opportunities are evaluated based on a set of criteria which needs to be met.  
The strategy is focused on the following elements within each division:

Electrical
division

Lighting
division

Corporate
division

STRATEGY
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VALUE – CREATING 
BUSINESS MODEL

INPUTS VALUE CREATION 
THROUGH BUSINESS 
ACTIVITIES

ARB creates value through its 
interactions and relationships 
with its stakeholders and within 
the commercial environments in 
which it operates, and on which it 
depends.

The group trades through two 
primary divisions, i.e. the electrical 
and lighting divisions, which house 
well-known and trusted brands 
and products, industry expertise 
and market knowledge, supported 
by purpose and values, and a 
committed and involved leadership 
team and management teams.

ARB also operates in strategic 
locations, making it easier for 
customers to gain access to 
products, and provides superior 
customer service.

*  Please refer to page 41 for more 
information.

Our purpose To support, solve and simplify

  Product knowledge: customer  
value add

  Sourcing knowledge: best product 
at a fair price

  Standards and specification 
knowledge

 Brands and brand awareness

Intellectual Capital

  Skilled leadership team
  Depth and experience of executive 

and management
  Industry specialists
  Fair remuneration 
  HR policies
  Skills of ARB workforce, whose 

skills and efforts enable the group 
to meet customer needs

  Trading ability of ARB traders
  Ongoing training and skills transfer
  Initiatives to “make a plan” and 

assist a customer
  Attracting and retaining engaged 

employees

Human Capital

  Investments in assets required to 
deliver against objectives

  Solid cash position and long-term 
financial sustainability

  Access to funding if necessary

  Divisional funding structures
  Right stock range to meet  

customer requirements
  Provide credit to customers to  

fund projects

Financial Capital

  Relationships with stakeholders, 
customers, suppliers and 
communities

 Customer satisfaction
 Relationships with funders

 Good corporate governance
 Robust risk management
 Ethical conduct and values
 Environmental care
 Project-focused CSI initiatives

Social/Relationship Capital

  National branch network of 
Connect stores and showrooms in 
major locations

  Specialist, in-house training 
courses

 Diversified and well-known brands
 Industry knowledge
 Centralised distribution centre
  Quality policies, procedures and 

standards

  Legal and statutory compliance 
requirements, including technical 
and other requirements for the 
industries in which ARB operates

 Cybersecurity
 Performance improvement
  Quality standards maintained and 

improved
 Properties
 Specialist ERP software

Organisational Capital

VALUE  
CREATED

R593 977k*

Employees
45%

Providers of  
capital

5%
Government

14%

Retained in 
group

37%
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OUTPUTS

OUTCOMES
Customer satisfaction

Challenged and engaged employees

  YES programme sponsor
  Financial support

  Time-based and volunteering support

  Product support 
  Community upliftment through transfer of skills and 

employment

Payment of taxes

Low impact on the environment
  Low carbon footprint

  Solutions for disposal of certain 
products

  Low water usage and contamination
  Providing electrification for the country

  Assisting in reducing the country’s energy 
consumption with energy-efficient 
products and renewable energy

  Lighting solutions include high-quality 
low-voltage and energy-saving LED, 
halogen and fluorescent lighting

Turnkey commercial offerings
Electrical products
 Power and instrumentation cables
 OHL equipment and conductors
 General low-voltage products
 Renewable energy solutions

Lighting products
 Light fittings and lamps
 Electrical accessories
 Cut cable products
 Ancillary products, including fans and lighting components

Wholesale and sourcing specialists
 Procurement
 Product packaging
 Electrical goods
 Residential and commercial lighting solutions
 Sourcing brands

Financial
 Return on investment for providers of capital and shareholders

Sourcing specialism
 Procurement advantage
 Procurement automation
 Knowledge of customer needs
 Highly skilled central procurement team(s)
 Long-standing supplier partnerships

Expert logistics
 Route to market and distribution network
 Own delivery fleet
  Central distribution centre receiving/

breaking bulk
  Connect stores close to customers/lighting 

showrooms in central locations

Superb customer knowledge
 Understanding customers’ needs
 Intense focus on service – “make a plan”
 Expert technical knowledge and assistance
 Long-standing relationships with customers
  Enthusiastic sales representatives in the field
 Wide customer base

Wide range of high-quality products
  Wide range for both commercial and industrial 

customers – lighting and electrical
 Product innovation and diversification

Easy, convenient access to  
products
 Stores in all major centres
 Online alternative
 Lighting showrooms in central locations
 Delivery provided

Credit funding
 Backed by credit insurance
 Any store – one account
 Central control, local relationship

Our values Put people first. Make a plan. Stay driven. Stay humble.

  Diversified product 
mix aligned to customer 

needs
 Repeat business

 Demand for products

 Stronger brands and reputation
  Improved business sustainability
 Long-term relationships
 Increased market share

   Contribute to the 
development of South Africa

  Improve social and economic 
wellbeing

  Good corporate citizenship

  Trained, skilled and experienced employees
  Good work environment

  886 permanent employees shared in  
wealth creation

  Good corporate culture

Upliftment of communities

13
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Below is an outline of the stakeholder engagement that occurred during the year  
under review. 

ARB has a structured programme in place to communicate with its various stakeholders – identified as groups of people 
or individuals who are impacted by the group’s operations. The group is committed to constructive and transparent 
engagement with all stakeholders to ensure that key risks and opportunities arising from these relationships are 
identified and resolved through dialogue and engagement where necessary. Regular engagement further ensures that 
ARB is aware of any issues raised and actions are put in place to resolve these should this be necessary.

The outcomes of the group’s stakeholder analysis, and the risks and opportunities identified through this process, are 
considered in determining material matters for the business. While the COVID-19 pandemic remains a major concern 
in South Africa, no further COVID-specific initiatives were undertaken further to those outlined in last year’s integrated 
report. ARB remains vigilant in all respects regarding the pandemic. Below is an outline of the stakeholder engagement 
that occurred during the year under review, with the introduction of a simplified approach this year focusing on the 
more material issues identified:

Excellent Very Good Good

Quality of engagement

Customers Financiers

Shareholders/
Investment 
community

RegulatorsEmployees

Communities

Suppliers

14
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Responsibility

Responsibility

Issues raised/other Our strategic response
  Pricing and availability of inventory
  Volatile exchange rates and rising 

copper price, causing fluctuating 
pricing in fixed price contracts

  Poor payments by their state 
owned enterprise (SOE)/parastatal 
customers and the necessity for  
ARB to assist in funding their 
delayed payments

  The lack of reliability of ARB’s 
suppliers with regard to OTIF cable 
supply in the market as a result of 
supply chain delays nationally and 
internationally and the impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic

  The interaction with customers has shifted to online meetings 
or calls during the pandemic

  ARB continues to manage stock levels to mitigate against  
over- or under-pricing and secures pricing and stock ahead  
of time to minimise price volatility

  Customers are engaged with on the effect of supply chain 
issues and of the pandemic on the business, as well as any 
possible impact this has on the group’s ability to supply the 
market

ARB conducts formal business meetings during the year with customers 

Customers
  Divisional executive teams Excellent

Quality of relationship

How we engage

Issues raised/other Our strategic response
   Dividend not paid in 2020 for the 

first time in many years 
 No share buy-backs undertaken 
  Succession planning at a senior level
  The board has listened to the main 

shareholder and a representative 
director has been appointed to the 
board

  A family member of the majority 
shareholder appointed to the board 
and named as the next group CEO 

  Results presentations and AGM conducted online via Zoom, 
taking into account COVID-19 restrictions and regulations

  The group CEO and group CFO have engaged with 
shareholders and analysts regarding the matters listed 
during the year under review in 1:1 meetings and at results 
presentations

  The matter of succession planning is addressed in this 
integrated report 

  Theo Botha is a representative director, and his appointment 
has the full support of the board and management

  Blayne Burke has been groomed for group CEO position 
for several years now and is therefore considered a suitable 
candidate for the role

ARB engages via SENS 
announcements, the integrated 

report, the interim and final 
results presentations, the 

 AGM and via the ARB  
Holdings website

Formal and informal 1:1 
meetings and calls are held  
with current and potential 

investors, as well as analysts

The group CEO is interviewed by 
the media to share information 
pertaining to the group’s results 
(interim and final results) which 

are available on the website

Shareholders/
Investment 
community

  William (Billy) Neasham (group CEO)
  Grant Scrutton (group CFO), and the 

ARB board
Excellent

Quality of relationship

How we engage
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Responsibility

Responsibility

Responsibility

Issues raised/other Our strategic response
 Increasing low-cost competition 
  Perceived anti-competitive supplier and competitive 

trading practices
  Challenges with meeting foreign suppliers due to 

COVID-related travel restrictions

  All meetings are conducted online or 
telephonically due to the pandemic (trade 
shows have not taken place during this time)

  ARB ensures any issues raised are 
appropriately resolved

Suppliers
  Procurement executives Excellent

ARB has regular meetings and calls with its suppliers 

How we engage

Issues raised/other Our strategic response
  The increase of union representation within the electrical 

and lighting divisions
  The challenge by the union in the lighting division regarding 

the Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration 
(CCMA)-approved restructuring in September 2020

  Emphasis on preservation of employment while sustaining 
commercial viability, which necessitated no pay increases 
in FY2020

  Employee engagement during the COVID-19 
pandemic has shifted mainly to online 
platforms 

  Communications and new safety procedures 
have focused on keeping employees 
informed about the pandemic so that they 
keep safe and know how to adequately 
protect themselves against the virus

Regular and comprehensive employee communications and employee engagement  
forums are in place – communications channels and employee forums are  

detailed extensively in the ESG report (employee report section). 

Employees   Divisional executive teams with human 
resources (HR) staff

Quality of relationship

Very good

How we engage

  Department of Labour in 
relation to any Section 189A 
processes 

 POPI Act implementation
 EPR regulations 

Issues raised/other Our strategic response
  All S189A processes in the previous financial year were dealt with satisfactorily 
   The group implemented internal systems required for the POPI Act, and has 

assigned executives responsibility for this
   ARB’s response to the EPR regulations is on the board agenda and will be 

dealt with in the year to come

Reporting, correspondence, formal meetings and feedback sessions

Regulators   The ARB board 
and executive

How we engage

   Good – fit for purpose.
   POPI Act – in process of bedding down. 
   EPR regulations – work in progress for 

next year.

Quality of relationship

Quality of relationship
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Responsibility

Responsibility

Issues raised/other

Issues raised/other

Our strategic response

Our strategic response

   Increased gearing levels, especially with IFRS 16 rollout 
and new Eurolux properties

  Increased trade facilities required for projects in 
neighbouring countries

   Requests for support for additional CSI projects, for 
example, this year ARB made contributions to a pilot 
project that aims to prevent plastic pollution from 
entering South Africa’s oceans, as well as the group’s 
active involvement in the Youth Employment Services 
(YES) programme, as detailed in the ESG report 

   Volunteering by employees of their time and skills to 
community-based initiatives 

  Resolved issues for Radiant acquisition
 New facilities negotiated 
 Negotiating more flexible facilities

  The social and ethics committee monitors 
CSI activities and spend and evaluates further 
requests for support

   New focus on making CSI contributions and 
offering support of a non-financial nature 
where branches are located

Financiers

Communities

  The ARB board and executive 
management

 Operational teams

How we engage

How we engage

ARB holds 1:1 meetings as well as telephonic 
discussions with financiers

ARB has a number of corporate social 
investment (CSI) initiatives in place and  

there is participation by both the  
group’s major divisions – these projects  

are included in the ESG report

Annual facilities review

The group’s social and environmental  
responsibilities are also detailed  

in the ESG report

Good – fit for purpose.
Work in progress for next year.

The group addresses any issues or needs 
arising in the communities in which it 
operates, with a focus on sustainable 
interventions that are not necessarily of a 
financially-based nature and where ARB 
employees are able to volunteer time and 
contribute skills to make positive changes 
within communities. 

Quality of relationship

Quality of relationship
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The management of ARB’s risk is a key driver in the way in which the group is run. What follows is a description of 
the group’s risk assessment process, starting with the categorisation of the top risks into four groups.

Risk categories

Strategic  
risk

Internal and external 
events and scenarios 
that may inhibit the 

group’s ability to 
achieve its strategic 

objectives, i.e. business 
model choice, strategy 

and execution, etc.

Financial  
risk

Risks that might have an 
adverse impact on the 
financial position of the 
group, i.e. unexpected 
internal and external 

changes in markets, prices, 
rates and liquidity supply 

and demand.

Operational 
risk

Loss resulting from 
inadequate or failed 

internal processes, people 
and systems, or from 

external events, i.e. 
information and data 

management, people and 
technology risk.

Compliance 
and regulatory 

risk

Risk of breaching/
non-compliance with 
laws, regulations and 

internal policies.

Risk  
committee

Strategic

Environmental

ITReputational

Financial

Operational

Risk assessment process
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Description of risk Level of risk Mitigation strategies and focus areas

Credit risk 
(Finance risk of bad and doubtful debts)

High The group is seeking to reduce its exposure 
and risk by 50%, as credit insurance becomes 
increasingly expensive. ARB is also in the 
process of establishing a contingency fund in 
order to cover potential defaults.

Disintermediation 
(Strategic risk of suppliers dealing directly  
with customers)

High ARB provides a full range of products through 
an extensive branch network at acceptable 
prices, and excels at client service. This will 
remain a key focus. The group also provides 
funding and business assistance to small, 
medium and micro enterprises (SMMEs). 
Where required, alternative supply channels 
are sourced.

Supply chain disruptions
(Operational risk that supplies will be delayed)

High Increases in stock levels for fast moving items.
Regular meetings with suppliers and 
forwarding and clearing agents to understand 
issues and timeframes for mitigation.

Senior management
(Strategic risk of a lack and depth of  
senior management)

High Senior management has been under pressure 
in a challenging trading environment. Those 
positions for which changes are expected or 
there is a lack of support have been identified 
and recruitment is in progress. Adequate 
succession planning for these positions is also 
receiving urgent attention.

Commercial success of Lords View 
distribution centre and the continuing 
implementation of the warehouse 
management system (WMS) 
(Operational risk of changing the business 
model to a distribution centre-supplied system 
and the recovery of the concomitant costs)

High The conversion to a central distribution model 
continues to be rolled out by the top levels of 
management. Although the group has made 
good progress with respect to the 
implementation of the WMS, it will remain a 
key focus of management for the near future.

ARB – Midrand

RISK MATRIX
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2021

Month
High

(cents)
Low

(cents)
Close

(cents)
Volume

(000’s)
Value

(R000’s)
VWAP
(cents)

July 2020 329 280 328 999 2 833 284
August 2020 400 320 395 1 110 3 851 347
September 2020 397 290 360 2 129 7 752 364
October 2020 378 300 340 858 3 001 350
November 2020 368 315 350 705 2 409 342
December 2020 350 320 348 1 079 3 575 331
January 2021 368 320 320 270 888 329
February 2021 488 321 450 1 851 7 504 405
March 2021 534 425 495 1 194 5 448 456
April 2021 582 450 514 276 1 374 498
May 2021 578 441 496 683 3 401 498
June 2021 594 432 529 2 186 11 006 503

12 months 13 339 53 044 398

2020

Month
High

(cents)
Low

(cents)
Close

(cents)
Volume

(000’s)
Value

(R000’s)
VWAP
(cents)

July 2019 438 438 438 20 9 438
August 2019 430 430 430 4 137 1 755 430
September 2019 400 430 430 7 600 3 265 430
October 2019 354 354 354 55 572 19 671 354
November 2019 322 322 322 860 277 322
December 2019 324 324 324 1 462 474 324
January 2020 340 352 352 14 550 5 067 352
February 2020 409 410 410 841 345 410
March 2020 210 310 310 406 126 310
April 2020 300 300 300 1 000 300 300
May 2020 300 280 300 199 968 59 900 300
June 2020 325 326 324 17 884 5 813 324

12 months 304 300 97 092

Number of shares traded as a percentage of:

  Public shareholders (free float)  35.7%
  Total shares traded   13 339 039

Share performance 

Opening price July 2020 324 cents 
Closing price June 2021 529 cents
Number of shares in issue 235 000 000
Ratio of volume traded to shares issued (%) 5.68%
Rand value traded during the period R53 043 514
Price/earnings ratio as at 30 June 2021  6.49% 
Earnings yield as at 30 June 2021 (%)  15.40% 
Market capitalisation as at 30 June 2021 R1 243 150 000
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ARB vs indices five year

ARB vs peer group

Open  High  Low  Close  ARB Holdings LTD   FTSE/JSE small cap index
 FTSE/JSE all share index   FTSE/JSE electronic and electrical equipment index

 ARB Holdings LTD   FTSE/JSE small cap index   FTSE/JSE all share index   FTSE/JSE electronic and electrical equipment index

 ARB Holdings LTD   Allied Electronics Corp Ltd   Ellies Holdings Ltd   Reunert Ltd   South Oceans Holdings Ltd   Cafca Ltd   CIL
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23 A joint note from our chairman and CEO
28 Board of directors

02
Despite the headwinds, 2021 has been a 
stellar year for the group, and one which  
has produced a record performance  
against all odds.

ARB  
LEADERSHIP



Overview
Last year we stated that 2020 would be a year to be 
remembered – for all the wrong reasons. While this 
year has been just as difficult from a macro-economic 
perspective, given the intermittent lockdowns 
because of the pandemic experienced, continued 
load-shedding and the generally weak economic 
conditions that prevailed, we are delighted to say that 
for ARB, this will be a year that will be remembered 
for all the right reasons. 

Despite the headwinds, 2021 has been a stellar year 
for the group, and one which has produced a record 
performance against all odds. In last year’s report we 
shared that the board and executive management had 
taken a number of proactive decisions to ensure the 
sustainability of the business through the COVID-19 
pandemic, including the review and rightsizing of all 
operations, the curtailing of all capital expenditure; 
the holding back of dividends to conserve cash, as well 
as the tighter management of operating and working 
capital expenditure. Other measures implemented 
were COVID-19 specific upgrades in health and safety 
protocols and management practices. 

We are tremendously proud of how well the team 
has managed not only to swiftly implement these 
sometimes-difficult decisions, but also to keep driving 
improved performance at the same time. The outcome 
has been that the entire organisation has buckled 
down, and ensured that cash was preserved, and 
we have remained focused on what was important 
without being distracted. 

With the challenge of the restructuring of both major 
divisions now behind us, the emphasis for the next 
six months will be to ensure that Blayne Burke,  
who was announced as the new group CEO with 
effect from 1 January 2022 (JSE’s Stock Exchange 
News Service [SENS] notification of 2 July 2021), is fully 
prepared to take over management of the group. 

We are tremendously proud of how well 
the team has managed not only to swiftly 

implement these sometimes-difficult 
decisions, but also to keep driving improved 

performance at the same time. 

The 2021 financial year began during the peak of the 
first wave of the pandemic, with the group’s ability to 
trade being affected by different levels of lockdown 
that were in place until September 2020. Another 
major challenge was to manage the ongoing health 
and safety of ARB employees, by ensuring that they 
could work either in rotating shifts, from home or 
from the group’s various locations in accordance 
with government’s strict COVID-19 regulations and 
protocols.
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Fortunately, the ability of the group to trade was not unduly 
hampered by incidences of infections among employees  
or by the lockdowns over December 2020/January 2021 
and then again during the peak of the third wave in  
May/June 2021. However, the pandemic has caused ongoing 
supply chain issues in both major divisions. Eurolux was 
particularly affected by the shortage of containers and other 
shipping-related issues. The group also faced supply shortages 
from major local suppliers that rely on imported products in 
their manufacturing processes.

The global shortage of steel, PVC and the dramatic increase in 
the copper price were further factors affecting supplies, with 
manufacturing of cable coming under severe pressure and, 
in some cases, resulting in the inability of suppliers to achieve  
on-time and in-full deliveries. 

Despite these issues, the high stock levels at the start of the year, 
and the favourable ZAR/US$ exchange rate at which the stock 
was purchased, have meant that both major divisions have been 
able to weather the storm, with good stock levels providing a 
considerable advantage when compared to many of the group’s 
competitors. The lack of stock has challenged some smaller 
competitors, and the group has been able to capitalise on this, 
resulting in market share gains. 

Both the electrical and lighting divisions benefited from the 
increase in discretionary expenditure as consumers were unable 
to travel, dine out or participate in other forms of entertainment 
that were restricted as a result of the pandemic, and in some 
instances, received COVID-19 related government payments. 
The lighting division particularly gained from these trends, as 
people worked from home; decided to build home offices and 
redecorate their homes. This is true for most competing DIY and 
home supply retailers. 

Given the group’s strong financial position, we continued our 
unbroken record of paying all suppliers on time and in full, 
accruing significant goodwill as a result. Despite challenges arising 
from remote working and the reliance on technology platforms 
to communicate, which affected almost the entire value chain 
(including employees, suppliers, and customers); the ongoing 
threat of illness or death requiring the need to protect staff and 
customers; and the implementation of the electrical division’s 
WMS, all while ensuring continuous supply to customers, the 
group managed to successfully navigate through the year, and 
produce a record result. This is an achievement of which we are 
justifiably proud. 

ARB also benefited from the 
re-starting of projects that had 
been delayed by the first wave of 
COVID-19. These projects included 
the construction of a major new 
data centre, to which ARB is 
supplying materials. We anticipate 
that more projects of this nature will 
be undertaken in the short term, 
accelerated by the trend of remote 
working. 

Eurolux
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Financial review
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Revenue improved by 24.2% (2020: -13.1%) mainly as 
a result of market share gains; the significant rise in 
the copper price, which impacts cable sales, and the 
lost revenue in the comparable period from April to 
June 2020. Gross margins improved from 25.0% to 
25.6%, primarily due to the change in product mix, 
the advantages of the well-priced stockholding at the 
beginning of the year and the rising value of copper stock 
on hand throughout the year. 

Although closely managed and constantly reviewed, 
overheads increased by 4.5%, largely as a result of the 
variable cost increases attributable to the growth in 
revenue. 

Operating profit increased by 102.0% to R294.8m (2020: 
R145.9m), while operating margin improved to 10.1% 
(2020: 6.2%). This improvement is principally a result of 
the focus of controlling cost increases in all divisions. 

Net interest received increased by 42.4% despite the 
reduction in the prime interest rate, and is mainly due 
to the cash generated from the improved management 
of working capital, particularly in the lighting division. 
As a result, working capital in the group is now within 
the targeted range of 20% to 25%. Again, this is a credit 
to operational management and confirmation of our 
comments last year that the group believed the excess 
working capital was a short-term phenomenon. 

Inventory levels declined by 1.9% as part of the focus 
on balancing the inventory profile while ensuring our 
ability to satisfy customers’ requirements, particularly 
the retailers, who measure ARB’s delivery performance. 
Both major divisions have been impacted by the supply 
challenges from abroad, with the lighting division 
significantly so. This division’s management continues to 
take steps to improve inventory control while still meeting 
the “in-stock” requirements of its major retail customers. 
Management remains committed to ensuring that 
inventory is kept within the group’s targeted parameters. 

The trade receivables book increased by 40.2%, even 
though revenue increased by only 24.2%. This is mainly 
due to the low sales in the comparable quarter of April to 
June 2020, where revenue declined in the first and most 
severe stage of the lockdown due to COVID-19. Capital 
expenditure for the financial year amounted to R120.7m 
(2020: R51.9m), principally as a result of the transfer of 
ownership of the properties acquired in the Radiant 
acquisition being registered after 18 months. These 
properties were financed by external debt.

As a trading and distribution group, the focus remains 
on working capital management, to ensure that ARB’s 
operations remain cash generative. 

Divisional review 
Electrical division (revenue increased by 25.5% and 
operating profit improved by 107.0%) 
This division comprises ARB Electrical Wholesalers, GMC 
Powerlines, ARB Global, CraigCor and CED. 

Revenue has increased across all of these operations. The 
revenue increase during the year is attributable to: 

  the implementation of certain projects (particularly 
in the first half of the financial year), that were initially 
delayed by the first lockdown; 

  the improving rand value of cable sales from an 
increase in the rand copper price and a gain in market 
share; 

  the reduced revenue during the initial lockdown in the 
previous financial period; and 

 the sale of cable management products. 

Gross margin improved by 0.2%, predominantly due to 
the effort by management to increase margin wherever 
possible, and to changes in product mix. The division 
restructured certain operations in September 2020 
and the resulting cost savings helped to improve the 
operating margin to 6.9% (2020: 4.2%). Management of 
working capital remains a high priority, and the business 
remains cash generative. 

Lighting division (revenue increased by 20.4% and 
operating profit improved by 266.8%) 
This division comprises Eurolux, Radiant and Cathay 
Lighting. The increase in revenue is predominantly 
attributable to:

  the improved demand from retailers arising from the 
increase in discretionary expenditure in DIY projects 
during the lockdowns;

  the lack of revenue in the comparable period, in which 
the division experienced a loss of approximately six 
weeks of trading; and

  the availability of stock, given the relatively high 
stockholding at the end of the prior year, which 
we indicated would be proactively addressed and 
this proved to be a competitive advantage due to 
international supply chain issues.

The finalisation of the Radiant integration and the 
rightsizing of the operations in September 2020 resulted 
in a significant reduction in the cost base. The overall 
increase in revenue, with constant gross margin, and 
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a significant reduction in overheads, has resulted in 
an improvement in the operating margin to 12.9% of 
turnover (2020: 4.2%). 

The optimisation of working capital, particularly inventory, 
remains another significant focus for the next six months, 
while maintaining the required customer OTIF measures. 

Corporate division (revenue increased by 9.7%,  
operating profit reduced by 7.1 %) 
The division comprises the group’s property portfolio 
and the Xact ERP Solutions business. For the financial 
year under review, performance has been in line with 
expectations. 

For the past year, the emphasis of Xact ERP Solutions 
has been diverted to the electrical division’s software 
integration of the WMS and ERP systems at the Lords 
View distribution centre. While this has not been without 
significant challenges, the implementation is now well 
on track, and as highlighted in the group’s interim results, 
is expected to deliver results in the six months after the 
year-end through significant overhead savings. 

Unfortunately, the premises that housed Xact ERP 
Solutions were destroyed during the civil unrest that 
erupted in KwaZulu-Natal in July 2021, and new premises 
are now being sought. Once the business has been 
relocated, the emphasis will revert to external customer 
relationships. Xact ERP remains a small revenue and 
profit generator for the division and the group.

Corporate activity and expansion 
While acquisitions do remain part of ARB’s overall 
strategy, at this point it is unlikely that this will entail 
major transactions. To date, only one potential immaterial 
acquisition has been identified, the details of which will 
be disclosed when appropriate.

Directorate 
As mentioned earlier in this integrated report, changes 
to the directorate in the period covered by this report 
include the appointment of Blayne Burke to the board on  
1 July 2021 as the group CEO designate, and of Theo Botha, 
who was appointed on 6 April 2021 as a representative 
non-executive director of ARB. These appointments  
will be ratified by shareholders’ approval at the AGM on 
15 November 2021. 

Dividends 
In view of the group’s continued strong cash generation 
the board has resolved to declare a dividend of  
32.50 cents per share (2020: no dividend) for the year 
ended 30 June 2021, representing the maximum pay-out 

in terms of the company’s dividend policy. In addition, 
the board has resolved to declare a special dividend of 
10.00 cents per share (2020: no dividend) in order to 
return excess cash to shareholders. 

Outlook 
It remains difficult at this stage to anticipate what the next 
year will yield for the group. However, we are optimistic 
that the COVID-19 vaccination programme, which has 
been stepped up remarkably in recent months in South 
Africa, will help to control the spread of the pandemic, 
both locally as well as around the world. The safety and 
protection of our employees, as well as anyone we do 
business with, will remain a priority. 

The continued lack of activity in infrastructure investment 
and the impact of this on the construction industry 
remain a concern for the group, as does the constraint 
on supplies. The difficulty in obtaining adequate credit 
insurance is also likely to persist, resulting in a need for 
the group, and particularly the electrical division, to take 
more uninsured credit risk. However, our operations 
are now fit for purpose and able to take advantage of 
any improvement in the local economy. Our extensive 
geographical footprint and distribution capabilities; an 
experienced board and executive management team, 
as well as our substantial financial resources remain a 
strong defence against any possible setbacks. 

Appreciation 
We realise that the lives of our employees, suppliers, 
customers and other stakeholders, are likely to be 
materially different after the pandemic, with many lives 
having been lost. We extend our condolences to those 
who have lost loved ones during this time. On behalf of 
the board, thanks are due to the executive management 
team for their diligence during the year – congratulations 
on achieving these exceptional results. To each one of 
our employees, we are grateful for your perseverance, 
strength of commitment and contribution towards the 
results. To our customers, suppliers, business partners and 
shareholders, we once again thank you for your ongoing 
support and belief in the group. We are constantly aware 
that without a functioning and supportive business 
ecosystem around us, ARB could not have achieved the 
results we did. 

 

Ralph Patmore  William (Billy) Neasham 
Chairman  Group CEO 

18 August 2021 
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Benefit to the board:  
Deep commerce skills, 
extensive experience gained 
from serving on other boards of 
listed South African companies, 
and sound strategy, finance 
and governance expertise.

Ralph holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce degree, a Master 
of Business Leadership degree 
from UNISA’s School of Business 
Leadership, and has attended 
the Executive Programme at 
Stanford University, USA. He 
is an accredited associate of 
the Institute for Independent 
Business International. Ralph 
was a co-founder of JSE Main 
Board listed Iliad Africa Limited 
and served as CEO for 10 years 
from 1998 until his retirement 
in 2008. Prior to joining Iliad, 
Ralph held various executive 
positions including as managing 
director of subsidiaries within 
the Unihold and Malbak groups, 
and as a director of Everite 
Limited and Group Five Holdings 
Limited. He currently serves 
on the boards of several listed 
companies, including Mustek 
Limited, Calgro M3 Holdings 
Limited, and Trellidor Holdings 
Limited. Ralph is also an Institute 
of Directors (IODSA) director 
training facilitator. 

BCom, MBL B. Comm CA(SA) B. Comm CA(SA), FCMA, MBA CA(SA)

Ralph Patmore 69
Chairman and previously  
lead independent  
non-executive director

Benefit to the board:  
Vast industry expertise, 
commerce, financial and 
audit skills, and an in-depth 
knowledge of the operating 
environment and of ARB.

Billy qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant in 1980 and 
has been involved with ARB 
Electrical Wholesalers since 
1988 as the audit partner and 
professional advisor, initially with 
KPMG, and then with Griffith & 
Aiken. Billy joined ARB in June 
2000 as the financial director 
responsible for the high level 
of financial discipline instilled 
throughout the group, a position 
he held until he was appointed 
as group CEO in February 2015.

William (Billy) Neasham 64
Group CEO

Benefit to the board:  
Excellent entrepreneurial skills, 
diverse sector knowledge, 
strategic skills, and entrenched 
accounting, business and 
financial expertise.

Simon has 35 years’ experience 
in the financial and general 
management of entrepreneurial 
companies, with core experience 
in manufacturing, property 
investment and administration. 
He qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant and completed his 
articles with Pim Goldby (now 
Deloitte). In 1984 he achieved an 
MBA from the Graduate School 
of Business at the University of 
Cape Town, and is also a fellow 
of The Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants. Simon 
is the Executive Chairman and 
sole shareholder of Shave & Gibson 
Group (Pty) Ltd, an independent 
manufacturer of board packaging 
and security printed products. He 
is the immediate past chairman 
of the board of directors and a 
trustee of Clifton College where 
he served for 20 years, as well as 
the past chairman of Centenary 
Homes for the Aged. He is the 
founder of, and chairs, a number 
of NPO trusts and has served as 
chairman of the KwaZulu-Natal 
Water Polo Association for over  
a decade. 

Simon Downes 62
Independent non-executive 
director

Benefit to the board:  
Multi-faceted expertise on 
the accounting and auditing 
environment, combined with 
deep experience derived from 
serving on various boards, and 
consulting skills.

James qualified as a 
Chartered Accountant with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
(PwC) and retired in 2009 after 
40 years’ service. He was the 
engagement partner on many 
of the firm’s larger clients, led 
their KwaZulu-Natal Assurance 
practice and represented the 
region as a member of the 
National Assurance Executive. 
Prior to his appointment as 
the independent chairman on 
the Combined Motor Holdings 
Limited board James served 
as the chairman of their audit 
committee for seven years. 
James also holds directorships 
in various property investment 
companies and consults to  
small businesses, and has also 
been an active member of the 
KwaZulu-Natal Committee of 
the Audit Committee Forum  
for many years.

James Dixon 69
Independent non-executive 
director

Years of 
service to 
the group

 11 years

Years of 
service to 
the group
 21 years

Years of 
service to 
the group
 13 years

Years of 
service to 
the group

 5 years
AC

RC

RNC

AC AC

RC RC

SEC SEC

RNC RNC
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Benefit to the board:  
Sector-specific expertise, vast 
knowledge of the operating 
environment, excellent 
financial skills and an in-depth 
understanding of ARB.

Grant qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant in 1986 at KPMG and 
spent two years in their Seattle, 
USA office on a rotational exchange 
programme. He was previously 
the financial director of four listed 
companies, including Voltex, 
Powertech, SACMH and Winhold, 
and brings a wealth of operational 
as well as financial, strategic, 
acquisitions, turnarounds and 
experience managing diverse self-
standing operations to the group, 
including 20 years’ in the trading 
environment.

B. Comm (Hons) CA(SA)

Grant Scrutton 59
CFO

Benefit to the board: 
In-depth sector expertise, financial 
skills, excellent knowledge of ARB’s 
operations, and of the group’s  
trading environment.

Blayne graduated from the  
University of Cape Town with  
a Bachelor of Commerce in  
December 2004, followed by an 
Honours degree in Financial Analysis 
and Portfolio Management in 2005. 
On completion of his studies, Blayne 
worked in the banking sector in both 
the USA and the UK. In March 2008 
he joined ARB Electrical Wholesalers 
as credit risk manager, responsible for 
the approval of new accounts as well 
as the maintenance of the existing 
debtors’ book. In December of the 
same year, he moved to Gauteng  
to take over the management of  
the largest branch in the group. In  
July 2011 Blayne was promoted to 
director of procurement and moved  
to ARB Electrical Wholesalers’ head 
office in Durban where he was 
responsible for the centralisation 
of the company’s procurement 
systems and processes. A year later, 
Blayne was promoted to COO of the 
business upon the resignation of 
Craig Robertson and became CEO in 
December 2012. Since then he has led 
ARB Electrical Wholesalers through 
the expansion of the branch network, 
numerous acquisitions and business 
integrations and the establishment 
of new operating divisions within the 
business. He was appointed to the 
board of ARB Holdings in July 2021. 

B. Comm (Hons)

Blayne Burke 39
Group CEO designate

Benefit to the board:  
Specialist knowledge of corporate 
governance issues, capable of 
combining practical approach 
with strong theoretical backing, a 
strategic perspective of corporate 
governance, sustainability issues 
and corporate reputations; and 
special expertise on remuneration.

Theo was appointed to the board 
with effect from 6 April 2021, with 
the appointment to be approved 
by shareholders at the next AGM. 
He served articles at (now) PwC in 
1986, and since 2002 has run his 
own consultancy specialising in 
corporate governance commentary. 
Theo is also a member of CRISA 
(Committee for Responsible 
Investing in South Africa), and 
a director and shareholder of 
Spanjaard Limited. He previously 
served as a director of Piotrans (Pty) 
Ltd (Rea Vaya 1a) and Litsamaiso 
(Pty) Ltd (Rea Vaya 1b), and was a 
trustee of Peermont Chamber of 
Commerce Trust.

BCompt, BCompt (Hons)

Theo Botha 61
Representative non-executive 
director

Newly 
appointed

Years of 
service to 
the group

 6 years

Years of 
service to 
the group

13 years
SEC
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The year under review produced record results 
for the group, which is testimony to the many 
years of hard work and long hours, and the 
ability of the business to overcome the many 
and varied challenges it has faced in its now 
41-year history.



Year ended 
30 June

Five-year
 CAGR* 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Profitability         
Revenue (R000’s) 4%  2 922 919  2 352 995  2 709 020  2 590 150  2 479 419  2 489 791  2 150 764 
Gross profit (R000’s) 6%  751 349  587 604  650 355  615 186  594 412  548 114  517 305 
Gross profit % 25.7% 25.0% 24.0% 23.8% 24.0% 22.0% 24.1%
Operating profit (R000’s) 8%  294 823  145 896  155 367  204 326  214 455  222 214  196 411 
Operating profit % 10.1% 6.2% 5.7% 7.9% 8.6% 8.9% 9.1%
Profit after tax (R000’s) 5% 211 405  93 315  145 165  191 647  171 466  160 171  146 354 
Profit attributable to 
shareholders (R000’s) 7% 191 404  83 843  134 977  168 496  146 592  135 577  121 505 
Headline earnings per 
share (cents) 7% 82.44 59.96 58.20 71.70 61.89 59.74 51.71
Solvency and liquidity         
Net asset value (R000’s) 8%  1 235 641  1 043 022  1 022 472  967 476  898 940  825 188  757 897 
Net tangible asset value 
per share (cents) 10%  512.41  435.55  408.53  374.47  353.90  321.96 292.82
Solvency ratio (Total 
assets: Total liabilities) 3.0 3.6 3.1 3.3 3.4 3.2 3.5
Current ratio (Current 
assets: Current liabilities)  2.8  3.1  2.5  2.7  2.9  3.5  3.8 
Net working capital as a 
% of revenue (%) 22% 29% 23% 22% 23% 22% 23%
Inventory days (based 
on cost of sales) 99 124 108 94 91 83 87
Receivable days (based 
on revenue) 62 55 56 56 62 64 60
Payable days (based on 
cost of sales) 72 54 67 61 61 60 56
Cash flow         
Cash generated by 
operating activities 
(R000’s) 356 285  135 391  225 801  225 339  207 021  167 919  166 876 
Net cash on hand at 
year-end (R000’s)  345 242  151 956  180 890  259 420  306 642  243 269  226 780 
Shareholder returns         
Return on average 
shareholders' funds 16.8% 8.0% 13.6% 18.1% 17.0% 17.1% 16.7%
Operations         
Number of staff at 
year-end – Permanent 886 990 1 079 961 947 917 944
Number of branches at  
year-end – Electrical division 23 24 25 26 20 20 18
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Year ended 
30 June

Five-year
 CAGR* 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Dividends and 
distributions**        
Dividend cover (times) 1.9 – 2.3 2.9 2.5 2.5 2.6
Dividends (cents per 
share) 7% 32.5 – 25.0 25.0 25.0 23.1 20.1
Special dividends 
(cents per share)  10.0  –  –  10.0  10.0  10.0  10.0 
Share performance         
Number of ordinary 
shares in issue (’000)  235 000  235 000  235 000  235 000  235 000  235 000  235 000 
Market capitalisation at 
year-end (R000’s) (4%)  1 243 150  761 400  1 109 200  1 327 750  1 480 500  1 292 500  1 410 000 
Share price:
   High (cents) 594 438 623 630 680 605 785
   Low (cents) 280 280 420 410 470 450 575
   Close (cents at  

30 June) (1%) 529 324 472 565 630 550 600

* Compound annual growth rate.
**	 (Adjusted)	Declared	after	year-end	from	profits	for	this	year.

CraigCor
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2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

Effects of IFRS 16 on SoCI
Depreciation on right-of-use (ROU) assets 14 603 12 180
Interest on right-of-use (ROU) liabilities 7 547 8 956
Rental expense for year (20 440) (28 474)

1 710 (7 338)

Effects of IFRS 16 on SoFP
ROU assets 60 867 69 817
ROU liability – long-term (61 017) (64 513)
ROU liability – short-term (11 522) (15 898)

(11 672) (10 594)
Deferred tax thereon 3 268 2 966

Effect on equity (8 404) (7 628)

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

2019
R000’s

2018
R000’s

Operating profit 294 823 145 896 155 367 204 326
Abnormal items (24 187) (43 003) 21 617 26 000

Change in put option (13 700) 33 003 21 248 26 000
Impairment of buildings (10 540) (9 559) – –
Goodwill impaired – (7 847) (18 410) –
Gain on Radiant purchase – – 18 779 –
W/off Eurolux trademark – (58 500) – –

PBIT 270 583 102 893 176 984 230 326

The year under review produced record results 
for the group, which is testimony to the many 
years of hard work and long hours, and the 
ability of the business to overcome the many 
and varied challenges it has faced in its now 
41-year history. 

This truly has been a remarkable year, and one which 
could not be more fitting for Billy Neasham, the group 
CEO, to bow out on as he retires soon, and so passes on 
the baton to the next generation of leadership. 

The results for the year will be reviewed in detail in other 
parts in this integrated report, so the focus of this report 
will be on the financial aspects not covered elsewhere. 

Statement of comprehensive income (SoCI) 
The put option liabilities have been increased from R40m 
to R53m, which results in a charge (loss) of R13.7m to the 
income statement. This IFRS valuation adjustment is the 

The valuation adjustments 
of these put options 
generally work counter-
cyclically to the group’s 
trading results, as such 
reducing the results in 
good trading years (such 
as this year) or increasing 
results in poorer years 
such as last year.

calculated price that the group will pay the minorities if  
they exercise their put options at the balance sheet date. 
There is currently no indication as to when these options 
may be put. 

The current Eurolux option can be put at any time.  
The smaller CraigCor option can only legally be put 
in March 2023. The abnormal items over the past four  
years, including these put option valuation changes, are 
set out below: 

Net interest income is significantly 
lower than the cash balance on 
the statement of financial position 
(SoFP) would indicate as a result of 
the capitalisation of property leases 
in terms of IFRS 16 and the new debt 
raised to fund the Radiant properties 
acquired in Wynberg, Sandton. The 
effects of IFRS 16 on the results are set 
out alongside:
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Group operating profit (Rmil)
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The oversupply of industrial properties resulting from 
the pandemic and the associated economic slowdown 
has had a negative effect on the valuation of the group’s 
properties. Over the last two years ARB has impaired 
certain properties below cost by some R20m and the 
balance have been written down by a further R3.2m. The 
vast majority of these value diminutions have occurred in 
“owner-developed” properties, highlighting the current 
significant build-to-buy discount.

Tax rates are lower than the standard rate (2021: 23.4%; 
2020: 12.52%), mainly as a result of the changes in the put 
option liability (2021: 2.4%; 2020: -8.6%), and the utilisation 
of a portion of the assessed tax losses in Radiant. 

The prior year was marked by the beginning of the severe 
COVID-19 related lockdown, so comparisons to that year 
do not always make sense. In 2019 and prior to that, the 
effects of IFRS 16 were also not included in the results, 
making direct comparison challenging for investors. 
Added to this, as previously mentioned, were the effects 
of the valuation adjustments of the put option liability, 
which generally affected the results counter-cyclically 
to operational performance. We try to position the 
longer-term performance of the group to address these 
anomalies.

SoFP 
The only significant change in the SoFP this year is the acquisition of the Radiant property in Wynberg for R88m, 
which took 18 months to register transfer due to COVID-related municipality shut-downs. The conditions in which the 
buildings were taken over has also been problematic and is now the subject of a legal claim against the vendors. These 
buildings have been funded by a Nedbank mortgage loan, repayable over five years, with a 50% bullet payment in 
August 2025. 

Billy has always said that managing a trading company is mainly about managing four elements of the business: 
turnover, gross margin, fixed operating expenses (people) and working capital. 

The decrease in the second half of 2020 was the result of the 
lockdown of the economy during the initial phase of COVID-19. 
The second half improvement in 2019 was a result of the 
acquisition of Radiant Lighting, although the cracks in the 
economy had already started to show. A dearth of new projects, a 
significant decrease in Eskom spending (even during the general 
elections) and basic lack of infrastructure expenditure hampered 
the results in this period. 2021 surpassed a return to previous 
levels of performance, and was a record year.

As a high fixed cost business, any small increase or decrease in 
turnover with similar margins has a direct effect on the bottom 
line. The effects of this were obvious in the second half of 2019 
and 2020. Management did well in this period to rationalise  
and reduce costs, with the closure of loss-making branches.  
The lighting division (specifically Eurolux) also reduced rented 
space by one third and both divisions undertook a significant 
rationalisation of staff (currently 886 compared to 1 079 at  
the end of 2019).
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Gearing of R177.6m remains low, but has increased with 
the implementation of IFRS 16, the minorities’ share of 
the acquisition of Radiant and the bond to purchase 
the Radiant properties. This is offset by significant cash 
holding of R345.2m. This net cash position of R167.6m 
will be reduced by the dividends of R100m to be paid 
in September. The net result of this is that ARB remains 
a substantially ungeared trading company and property 
owner.

Conclusion and outlook
This ungeared group with a restructured cost base 
will react positively and quickly to any increase in 
development spend, be it Eskom in the run-up to the 
coming municipal elections; corporate South Africa 
investing a portion of the massive stock pile of cash on 

their balance sheets; government starting to catch up 
on the significant infrastructure maintenance backlog, 
or KwaZulu-Natal rebuilding itself after the devastating 
effects of the looting and wanton destruction of property 
that took place in July 2021. 

All that remains for me is to thank Billy Neasham for 
the close interaction which we have enjoyed in the past 
six years, and to wish him a long, happy and healthy 
retirement. Billy, it has been a pleasure working with you.

Grant Scrutton 
Group CFO

The electrical division has consistently managed working capital well. Monthly strategic reviews are held with group 
executives and working capital levels are carefully managed in detail. There is a monthly detailed review of outstanding 
debtors and a separate stock and cash flow planning meeting. The lighting division does not require the same level of 
formalisation, but the focus is on short-term cash flow planning.

The lighting division also has a much longer working capital cycle 
than the electrical division as it imports most of its requirements, 
resulting in two-month lead times, while most of the electrical 
division’s stock can be delivered within seven days. It is also the 
lighting division’s strategy to hold larger stock levels to be able 
to supply retailers within a 95% OTIF basis, despite being drawn 
down by unplanned projects. The margin allows for higher stock 
levels, but this will be carefully managed in the future given the 
volatile exchange rate.
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Operating income (Rmil)Revenue (Rmil)
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CEO
Blayne Burke Non-executive 

director

Mpho Modise

Sales director
Jason Burke

CFO
Jonathan GravesAlernate non-

executive director

Tshepo Tshotetsi 
Non-executive 
director

Sizakele Xulu

Electrical 
division

Highlights and challenges

ARB Electrical Wholesalers  
maintained level 2 BEE 
status

Business restructuring 
successfully completed in 
September 2020 – business 
has emerged “leaner and 
meaner”

WMS at Lords View 
distribution centre should 
start to contribute to results

Projects activity increased 
post first COVID-19 hard 
lockdown

Construction industry 
activity remains low, as do 
electrification projects

Revenue up 25.5%

Operating profit up 107.0%

Operating margin  
improved to 6.9%
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Despite the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, and levels 
of lockdown reinstituted during the third and fourth 
quarters of the financial year, the electrical division 
delivered an excellent set of results for the year ended 
2021. The improvement in operating profit was primarily 
due to the combination of the increase in sales volumes 
and the reduction in costs as a result of the restructuring 
and cost-cutting initiatives undertaken in 2020.

Given that the impact of the first and second waves of 
the pandemic on the South African economy and on 
the division’s customer base was hard to determine, the 
electrical division had originally anticipated a significant 
reduction in sales volume going into this financial year. 
As mentioned at the interim results presentation, as well 
as in last year’s integrated report, a massive effort was 
thus made to cut costs to ensure the division was suitably 
structured to deal with these challenges. 

Fortunately, the expected decrease in sales volumes did 
not fully materialise, with demand in fact improving. A 
contributing factor to this, particularly in the first quarter, 
was an increase in demand from construction sites, which 
opened up again in July 2020. The division continued 
to trade well throughout the financial year, despite 
further lockdowns in December 2020/January 2021 
and again in May and June 2021. The division has also 
shown good efficiency improvements as a result of the 
WMS at the Lords View distribution centre now being 
fully operational. One branch in Randburg, Gauteng, was 
closed during the year due to non-performance. Working 
capital remains in line with budgeted expectations, and 
remains a critical focus area for management.

The division benefited from having sufficient stock on 
hand, which proved to be a significant differentiator 
as competitors battled to acquire stock as a result of 
pandemic-related supply chain issues. The significant 
increase in the rand copper price because of the 
booming commodities cycle assisted the ZAR sales of 
power cables. However, market activity continues to lag 
behind levels which the division is accustomed to. 

The mining sector has, however, undergone a good 
recovery on the back of the commodities boom, which 
in turn has sparked renewed investment into the sector. 
This has resulted in improved demand for the division’s 
products and supply into the sector. To date there has 
been very little indication of recovery in the construction 
sector or of the government’s infrastructure development 
plan being implemented, although the business is 

hopeful that the recent changes to the South African 
Cabinet as announced by President Ramaphosa in early 
August 2021 will give momentum to the plan.

Credit remains an issue as credit insurers continue to be 
reluctant to extend credit to the levels typically required 
by the division’s customers, which has had an impact on 
revenue growth. 

The initial stock shortages experienced from suppliers 
as a result of COVID-19, particularly PVC, has improved, 
with the division continuing to secure the vast majority 
of its products from South African manufacturers. 
Those products which are imported have experienced a  
sharp price increase due to the increase in shipping  
costs globally. 

Eskom’s national grid constraints, and the ensuing 
rolling blackouts, persisted in plaguing electricity supply 
in South Africa, which fortunately had a limited effect 
on the division, although the lack of electrification 
projects continues to have an impact on volumes to the 
contractors who generally perform this OHL work. 

Despite another challenging year, particularly for the 
division’s employees, who have had to deal with additional 
economic pressure and uncertainties, the entire team is 
to be thanked for their tremendous perseverance and 
the high levels of service offered to customers no matter 
the circumstances. The division has truly built a new level 
of resilience in the past year, and continues to create 
opportunities for growth into the future. We have been 
rewarded for our hard-won efforts in this financial year, 
which have borne fruit, and look forward to even greater 
success in the coming financial year.

The division benefited from  
having sufficient stock on hand, which 
proved to be a significant differentiator 
as competitors battled to acquire stock 
as a result of pandemic-related supply 

chain issues. 
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Lighting 
division

Highlights and challenges

Brittle supply chains 
particularly container and 
shipping issues

Radiant optimisation 
finalised

Operational efficiency  
a major focus

Division continues to take 
steps to improve inventory 
control while meeting 
“in-stock” requirements of 
major retailer customers

Focus on improving  
BEE scorecard

New state-of-the-art 
showrooms opened  
in Johannesburg and 
Durban

Revenue up 20.4%

Operating profit up 266.8%

Operating margin  
improved to 12.9%

CEO and CFO
Peter Willig

Procurement director
Steve Palframan

Market and sales director
Shaun Bouchier
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The financial year started with the return to a “new 
normal” from a steadily decreasing level of pandemic-
related lockdowns in South Africa following the first 
wave of the pandemic. Given the uncertainty that existed 
at the time, a S189A restructure was initiated, and all 
the fixed costs of the division were reduced to match 
an anticipated decline in revenue. The S189A process 
was conducted under the auspices of the CCMA and 
was completed by the end of October 2021. In order to 
allow for social distancing measures in the workplace, a  
shift system was introduced, with the division continuing 
to operate at full capacity on a 24 hour-a-day for five  
days basis.

Revenue for the year held up well as a result of a shift 
in discretionary spending and increased government 
spending on COVID-19 allowances, namely TERS and 
UIF. The division further benefited from the work from 
home trend, with the entire DIY industry profiting as 
people spent money on home offices and other home 
improvements. 

Having said this, the year under review was not without 
its challenges, with courier service levels declining as 
a result of lockdown-related travel restrictions, the 
required issuing of permits to allow couriers to continue 
to operate, and several courier companies closing due to 
the financial stress caused by the pandemic. In addition, 
turnover slowed during the second wave of COVID-19 in 
December 2020 and January 2021.

Changes in international trade and various global 
lockdowns resulted in an imbalance of equipment within 
the shipping industry, and increased demand resulting 
in a severe shortage of containers. This in turn caused 
intermittent delays depending on the time and port of 
shipping. There was also a reduction in capacity on the 
division’s route, with shipping companies exiting certain 
routes and other lines having to use smaller vessels 
due to increased demand elsewhere. The problems 
experienced in ports in South Africa caused further 
delays. These issues remain ongoing and have forced 
greater interaction with ARB and its logistics providers to 
ensure goods are cleared as quickly as possible.

A further complication was labour sourcing issues in 
China taking time to resolve after the Chinese New Year 
as people looked to improve their job status and switched 
industries. Thankfully these have now been resolved, 
with suppliers in China returning to capacity. There have 
also been significant price increases from China due to 
supply constraints with respect to base metals and other 

commodities, with shortages of critical components 
further impacting supply. The RMB (Chinese Yuan) 
has strengthened against the US Dollar (USD) causing  
further price increases, although this has been  
somewhat mitigated by the ZAR also strengthening 
against the USD.

The division has appointed a new supplier and has 
sufficient stock on hand, despite general cable  
supply being constrained due to capacity shortages in 
South Africa. 

Post the 2020 year-end, a decision was taken to preserve 
cash and bring down the working capital investment. 
When expressed as a percentage of annual revenue, 
working capital decreased from 70% to 50%. This was 
achieved despite the difficulties experienced in the supply 
chain from China. This also includes an investment into 
the electrical accessories business to ensure that there 
is sufficient stock for customers. After year-end a further 
investment in working capital was approved to ensure 
that there is enough stock to achieve the required fill 
rates. Orders have been placed and the division should 
receive the stock before the peak sales period. This will 
once again support turnover in the new financial year. 
Stock levels are substantially lower than the prior year, 
mainly due to below budget sales in the COVID-19 level 5 
lockdown period of the 2020 year.

In terms of growth strategies, the Radiant reorganisation 
and the sourcing consolidations were completed and 
visible benefits are flowing through to the business. The 
excess buildings acquired as part of the acquisition have 
been repaired and sold, and are waiting to be transferred 
to the buyer. This should be completed in the first  
quarter of the new financial year. The remainder of the 
division’s strategies are in line with the expected progress 
for the year.

Looking to next year, the restructuring of the division 
has created an efficient, effective and lean entity that 
is well placed to take advantage of any growth in the 
South African economy, and with all showrooms now 
complete, it is anticipated that the division will benefit 
from the expanded reach. 

Finally, thanks go to our employees, who faced a 
challenging year. Despite this, our operations and service 
continued uninterrupted, and this was largely due to the 
hard work and diligence of both staff and management, 
who ensured our customers were always placed first, no 
matter the circumstances. 
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William (Billy) Neasham

Group CFO
Grant Scrutton

Company sectretary
Mario Louw

Corporate 
division

The division comprises the group’s property portfolio and the 
Xact ERP Solutions business. For the financial year under review, 
performance was in line with expectations. 

Revenue up 9.7%

Operating profit down 7.1%

For the past year the focus of 
Xact ERP Solutions – under the 
directive of the board – has been 
the integration of the WMS at Lords 
View distribution centre. While this 
has not been without its challenges, 
the implementation is now well 
on track, and as highlighted in the 
group’s interim results, is expected 
to deliver results in the six months 
post year-end, as well as present 
significant savings for the  
electrical division. 

Unfortunately, the premises that 
was rented by Xact ERP Solutions 
was destroyed during the civil 
unrest that rocked KwaZulu-Natal 
in July 2021, and new premises 
are now being sought. Once the 
business has been relocated, the 
emphasis will be on re-establishing 
customer relationships, and 
expanding on customer gains. 

Xact ERP remains a small revenue 
and profit generator for the 
division and the group as a whole.
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ARB recognises the value of ESG issues, and already 
embraces strong governance and sustainable business 
practices (the group’s approach to governance is 
detailed in the corporate governance report starting  
on page 55 of this integrated report). However, as a 
responsible corporate citizen the group also understands 
the need to maximise both the economic and  
non-economic value generated for key stakeholders. 

A breakdown of the wealth created, detailing the 
economic value generated and distributed by  
ARB during the 2021 financial year, can be found on 
page 12 of the integrated report. The group pays 45% 
(2020: 60%) of the wealth generated by its operations 
to employees by way of salaries and incentives, 5% to 
providers of capital (2020: 16%), 14% to government 
(2020: 10%) in the form of tax, with the balance of the 
wealth generated being retained to fund future growth 
opportunities. ARB’s cash flow requirements to run its 
operations and pay for capital expenditure are funded 
internally from cash generated by its operations.

At a local level, ARB is committed to transformation in 
South Africa as a business imperative to ensure that it 
continues to make a positive contribution to the economy, 
its stakeholders, its employees, and the communities 
within which it operates, with a long-term view of 
sustainability. A report defining the group’s stakeholders, 
as well as the current stakeholder engagement processes 
and the results of these, can be found on page 14 of this 
integrated report. 

What follows below is information about the group’s 
efforts in terms of the “E” and the “S” of ESG.

Why ESG?
The focus on ESG has been accelerating, with the onset 
of the pandemic catapulting this issue onto the Ethical 
Investing 2021’s “Must Do List”. According to the Global 
ESG Survey, issued in February 2021 by NAVEX Global®, 
the climate crisis is driving an extraordinary increase in 
new investment funds with an environmental focus, with 
multiple stakeholders exerting pressure on organisations 
to address issues related to corporate, environmental and 
social responsibility. 

There is currently a proliferation of guidelines on ESG 
reporting and the group has made a decision to 
align this year’s inaugural impact report (previously 
the sustainability report), to the ESG investment 
requirements of one of the world’s largest investment 
funds based in Norway. The fund’s framework details 
how companies should consider key issues in terms of 
ESG. For the purposes of this report, ARB has broadly 
broken these down into seven categories, covered in 
purely alphabetical order, not order of priority. 

Furthermore, the group is cognisant of the United 
Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) 
and is making efforts to align its activities with the  
17 goals as shown below:

UNSDG’S 
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Due to the complex and often interrelated nature of ESG, 
related issues are also covered in the CSI and employee 
reports (on pages 43 and 48 respectively), which form 
part of this ESG report, as well as in other areas of the 
integrated report. 

While this is ARB’s first meaningful statement on  
ESG-related issues, it is likely that the format of this report 
will continue to evolve.

Anti-corruption
ARB’s approach to anti-corruption and bribery is clearly 
set out on page 60 of the corporate governance report,  
in the section “Code of conduct, ethics and tip-off  
line”, and the code of conduct is available online  
( www.arbhold.co.za).

The group believes in ethical conduct without exception, 
with a board-led policy of zero-tolerance for unethical 
behaviour. Processes are in place to discourage, identify 
and prosecute wrongdoing. This includes internal audits, 
regular training and awareness campaigns on anti-bribery 
and anti-corruption topics, as well as an anonymous  
tip-off line available to staff. 

ARB’s credibility as a well-governed listed group is 
fundamental to the group’s long-term competitive 
advantage, given its multinational client base. It is  
non-negotiable that ARB protects its legitimacy, which at 
its most basic level is a function of having well-developed 
systems and processes in place that enable the group  
to manage the risks pertinent to the communities in 
which it operates. 

Children’s rights
ARB upholds and adheres to the UN Convention on 
the Rights of the Child and to Principle Five of the UN 
Global Compact regarding child labour, and neither 
ARB nor any of its subsidiaries make use of child labour. 
The group also strongly rejects the use of child labour 
by suppliers. With many of its suppliers are domiciled in 
jurisdictions outside of South Africa, each governed by a 
different legislative framework, ARB does acknowledge 
that monitoring labour practices across a wide range 
of suppliers in foreign jurisdictions can be difficult. That 
being said, to date ARB has not detected or actively 
encountered any instance of the use of child labour 
among its suppliers.

Climate change 
ARB is not involved in the production or manufacturing 
process of any of the products it sells. It therefore does 
not directly contribute to the generation of greenhouse 
gas (GHG) emissions. However, the following matters fall 
within the scope of climate change and are thus covered 
for the sake of completeness.

Environmental impact
In line with the guidelines outlined in King IV™, the 
group regards the protection and conservation of the 
environment as a fundamental aspect of doing business. 
ARB continues to have a low impact on the environment, 
with no operations that directly pollute or contaminate 
land, water, the oceans or air, but nonetheless remains 
committed to ensuring that measures are taken to reduce 
any indirect impact on the environment. A dedicated 
member of management at each of ARB’s operations is 
responsible for waste and environmental management.

ARB only sources products that comply with applicable 
building industry standards, such as those developed by 
the SABS and other relevant certification agencies (please 
see page 8 of this integrated report for more information). 
The group also regularly updates its procurement and 
inventory management practices to eliminate wastage 
arising from the disposal of products that can no longer 
be sold.

The implementation of the Carbon Tax Act continues to 
be hampered by the pandemic as well as South Africa’s 
deteriorating fiscus. The Act outlines the structure to 
determine the carbon tax liability of an entity, which is 
based on activities which result in the release of GHG 
emissions. The schedules in the Act outline the minimum 
thresholds for these activities according to the National 
Greenhouse Gas Emission Reporting Regulations, as well 
as the total permissible tax-free allowances for these 
activities. The threshold stipulated in the regulations 
for stationary combustion installations is 10 MWth. It is 
still unlikely to have any effect on the group, although 
compliance will be monitored.

The electrical division has implemented a centralised 
distribution strategy to have most suppliers (who are 
based in Gauteng) deliver to the Lords View distribution 
centre where loads are consolidated and sent on a regular 
basis to the branches. The consolidated loads make sure 
that distribution to the branches is optimised and that 
the division does not have hundred plus suppliers all 
delivering to each of the branches, thereby minimising 
the respective carbon footprints of these suppliers.

Eurolux uses courier deliveries extensively to increase 
the efficiency of distribution nationally. As a result of the 
courier’s consolidation of loads and optimising of routes, 
the distribution carbon footprint is further reduced. 

Energy usage
In all its operations, ARB is primarily dependent on 
electricity supplied by national or municipal electricity 
generation utilities. The bulk of the electricity supplied by 
Eskom to ARB is generated from low-grade coal, resulting 
in significant inefficiencies in the generation process 
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and consequently, high levels of carbon emissions per 
kWh consumed by the group. However, ARB remains 
committed to making full use of those opportunities 
that do present themselves to affect positive changes 
particularly in the following areas: 

 energy efficiency; 
 GHG reductions;
 water conservation;
 waste management; and
  product stewardship.

Waste management
Further to what is extensively detailed on page 9 of 
this integrated report, the lighting division ensures the 
recycling of all hydrocarbons. The removal of dangerous 
substance wastes (e.g. fluorescent tubes) is undertaken 
by a registered waste management company. During 
the year, Eurolux sold in excess of 3.8 million LED and 
1.3 million CFLs. Based on an average daily consumption, 
this could result in an energy saving of approximately  
3.1 MWs for every hour of use.

The business continues to offer a free service to customers, 
who can drop off used lamps for recycling. These are then 
placed in lined disposal bins supplied by the nominated 
service provider, collected and disposed. Eurolux is given 
a detailed register, in terms of the Waste Management 
Act, of all lamps disposed. 

During this financial year, the following were disposed of 
or recycled:

Description Amounts

Lamps and tubes safely disposed 2 900 kg
Cardboard recycled 5 400 kg
Pallets recycled 940

Human rights
ARB ensures that all employees are afforded dignity 
and respect, as enshrined in the South African 
Constitution, and endeavours to ensure that none of the 
group’s policies and procedures infringe on the rights 
of employees as articulated in all applicable legislation. 
This matter, along with related employee issues, is also 
extensively covered in the employee report, starting on 
page 48 of this report.

The group’s policy on respecting human rights is 
incorporated in the code of conduct and is guided by the 
UN’s Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, 
the International Bill of Human Rights, the International 
Labour Organization’s Declaration on Fundamental 
Principles and Rights at Work and the UN SDGs,  
namely SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being), SDG 
4 (Quality Education) and SDG 8 (Decent Work and 
Economic Growth).

JHB showroom

The group’s code of conduct outlines the human rights 
commitments applicable to ARB’s employees, as well as 
to the group’s other stakeholders. ARB conducts human 
rights due diligence reviews of new business acquisition 
opportunities with the aim of avoiding adverse human 
rights impacts on its workforce, service providers and the 
communities in which it operates.
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ARB also aims to identify and manage human rights-
related risks and to remediate any adverse human rights 
impacts it may have inadvertently caused or to which 
it may have contributed. A risk-based approach that 
includes consideration of human rights and community 
impact issues is applied towards projects in line with 
international standards. Due to the nature, location and 
scale of the group’s activities the most prevalent human 
rights issues for ARB includes the rights of communities 
near the group’s operations, occupational health and 
safety, labour conditions, security arrangements and 
supply chain responsibility.

The group intentions include keeping its employees, 
contract staff and facilities safe, while respecting the 
human rights and security of local communities. It 
respects the principles of freedom of association, the 
right to collective bargaining, non-discrimination and 
equal opportunity, along with adequate work conditions, 
adequate remuneration and the elimination of forced or 
child labour. 

From a societal standpoint, human rights are inherent to 
the dignity of human life and are a prerequisite for any 
society to prosper. ARB has an impact on safeguarding 
the human rights of its stakeholders, and expects and 
requires the same behaviour of its business partners, 
including its suppliers.

Tax transparency 
ARB is not a multinational company, and currently 
operates solely in South Africa, where it adheres to  
all relevant tax legislation and regulations, including 
those of the South African Companies Act 71 of 2008, 
the South African Revenue Service (SARS), the National 
Treasury and the South African government. Refer also to  
the taxation payment in the wealth creation graph on  
page 12 of this integrated report. In addition the group has 
no outstanding taxes or tax matters pending with SARS.

Water management/ocean sustainability
ARB uses very little water in its business processes and, 
in this respect, has a low impact on the environment. 
Neither the group nor its value chain are materially 
dependent on the ocean, and therefore ARB has little to 
no effect on the ocean. However, the group does operate 
in South Africa, which is classified as a water-scarce 
country, and so makes every effort to conserve water 
on a group-wide basis and is committed to sustainable 
water management and to educating employees on the 
importance of keeping water usage to a minimum.

CORPORATE SOCIAL  
INVESTMENT REPORT
ARB is committed to the socio-economic development 
and empowerment of the local communities in which 
it operates, with at least 80% of all beneficiaries from 
the group’s identified CSI programmes being black  
(as measured by the broad definition) and from 
previously disadvantaged communities. CSI initiatives 
are undertaken on a regional basis, with each of the 
regions having identified causes that are geographically 
within the areas that they choose to support. CSI spend 
and involvement is focused on sustainable interventions 
that are not necessarily of a financially-based nature 
and where ARB employees are able to volunteer time 
and contribute skills to make positive changes within 
communities.

Major initiatives for 2021
YES programme
ARB participates in the YES initiative by engaging eligible 
employees in new positions, who are required to sign a 
12-month, fixed-term contract, filling new positions within 
the group or with eligible alternative employers. YES is a 
collaborative economic enabler led by business with the 
backing of both government and organised labour to 
benefit unemployed black youth, with the ambition of 
creating one million work opportunities. YES’ intention is 
to stimulate demand-side job creation through company 
investment and by leveraging government’s existing 
recognitions such as the Employment Tax Incentive and 
B-BBEE recognition for broad-based transformation.

Devland Soweto Education Campus
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Only individuals between the ages of 18 and 35, who are 
“Black people”, are eligible. 

In July 2020, ARB undertook it first YES programme 
involving 30 candidates, which was administered 
by Edu Nova. The programme was completed in  
June 2021, with 27 candidates successfully completing 
the programme. Despite trying to maintain the total 
number of candidates, a window period is set whereby 
no replacement candidates may be sought. However, 
ARB managed to replace three of the 30 candidates 
within this period.

A second programme was launched on 6 April 2021, 
involving 30 candidates nationwide. The second initiative, 
which is currently active, is administered directly by the 
‘’Yes for Youth’’ organisation. 

Woolworths’ national learnership programme
Given the success of ARB’s YES programmes, Woolworths, 
as part of its national learnership programme, asked 
the group to host 30 candidates for a Production and 
Distribution Learnership across three of ARB’s identified 
branch regions, namely KwaZulu-Natal, Gauteng and 
Tshwane during the year under review. 

The aim is not only to host these candidates but to 
expose them to practical experience in order to enhance 

their workplace skills and experience to complement 
their academically-accredited certification and desired 
competencies. This is not only a worthy recognition by a 
brand as well-known as Woolworths in South Africa, but 
an acknowledgement of the group’s active participation 
in the YES initiative and its commitment to playing a 
constructive role in helping the country to develop an 
improved and skilled labour force. 

MCD Training Centre
As the group’s chosen special support project for 
the year, ARB supported the MCD Training Centre by 
donating over R1m in stock and other support during the 
year under review. Although the head office is based in 
Meyerton in Gauteng, MCD renders a service to its clients 
globally, with a satellite office in Rustenburg. 

One of the most challenging issues in South Africa 
remains finding ways to upgrade the skills of the 
population in general. Special attention needs to be 
given to those who were previously disadvantaged 
individuals who often lack formal qualifications. MCD 
Training Centre plays a vital role in providing the training, 
upgrading skills, improving safety, quality, production 
performance and competitiveness to these individuals  
in particular.

Nelson Mandela Day

The Mendicus enterprise development initiative
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While the centre has excellent training facilities, they 
are fairly old and were in need of updating. With this 
in mind, and inspired by the staff’s passion for training 
and upskilling community members, CraigCor and 
ARB Electrical Wholesalers donated stock to assist in 
upgrading the instrumentation and electrical training 
boards. In addition, LED lights were donated to the centre, 
enabling it to improve the lighting in the classrooms 
whilst also achieving significant savings each month on 
the electricity bill.

CraigCor and ARB Electrical Wholesalers have further 
committed to assisting with the complete revamp of 
the electrician trade training facility at the Meyerton 
branch, and to set up a new electrician trade facility 
in Rustenburg in the North West province in the next 
financial year. This is subject to further research and a 
needs analysis is currently being conducted.

Enterprise development project – Mendicus 
Working in conjunction with Impala Platinum, ARB’s 
electrical division this year ran an enterprise development 
initiative in support of the mining communities in 
Rustenburg. Having identified equipment worth over 
R1m that could empower small businesses in the area 
to gain better access to economic markets within 
their communities and the surrounding mines, these 
businesses were invited to apply. They needed to explain 
how they would use the products to expand or enhance 
their business, providing a short outline of how they 
planned to market and sell the products; and how the 
initiative would allow them to create jobs within the 
community. 

Of the applicants, Mendicus Trading and Products cc, 
a small majority female black-owned construction 
company, was selected as the winner, receiving the 
donated stock.

Kanelani Community Services Centre
This is an non govermental organisation (NGO) set 
up specifically for the care and support of orphans 
and vulnerable children in the communities of 
Meyerton and Sedibeng. Run entirely by volunteers, 
the centre offers Early Childhood Development (ECD) 
support in the form of providing maternal health 
nutrition to young pregnant women and children 
between the ages of 0 to 2 years of age; care for  
orphans and vulnerable children; counselling and 
support services to those community members living 
with or affected by HIV/Aids; runs a food support 
programme; offers youth development programmes, 

which include counselling and awareness workshops 
to school dropouts between the ages of 15 to 20; runs 
education programmes such as Computer Literacy in 
School Management & Administrators Finance for School 
Finance Committees and school governing bodies, 
amongst others. The centre is considered an essential 
part of this low-income area, providing much-needed 
services that local government is not able to.

The funds and equipment donated to the centre, totalling 
around R370 000, will specifically be used to assist with 
the ECD work and the HIV/Aids support it provides in the 
community. 

Community support initiatives
School support programme
ARB’s lighting division made a number of donations and 
contributions to the schools/day care centres, etc. during 
the year under review, including the Vuleka School in 
Gauteng; the Thandeka Day Care Centre in Durban, 
KwaZulu-Natal; the Devland Soweto Education Campus; 
and the Lompec Education Centre in Mamelodi, 
Tshwane, which was established in 1982 and is registered 
as a non-profit independent school incorporated under 
Section 21. 

Casual Day
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Joe Slovo sandwich scheme
Each Friday for the past six years, the ARB team in Cape 
Town has been making sandwiches for distribution 
to the Joe Slovo community, near Milnerton in Cape  
Town. Eurolux provides 21 loaves of bread and all the 
ingredients to make the sandwiches and employees 
come in early and make these sandwiches in their own 
time in what has become a great team building event. 
These sandwiches are distributed to the Joe Slovo 
community by Eurolux’s delivery team. It is estimated 
that ARB has provided more than 70 000 sandwiches to 
this project so far. In addition to this, in a matched giving 
scheme, employees and Eurolux donated money to buy 
sweets and treats to make up 400 Christmas party packs 
for the children in the settlement. The party packs were 
put together and handed out by Eurolux staff members.

New Beginnings Foundation
The Foundation houses social initiatives as well as  
social enterprises, and consists of six wholly-owned 
subsidiaries: New Beginnings Care Centre, New 
Beginnings Staffing Solutions, New Beginnings Learning 
Academy, The Incubator, New Beginnings Food 
Distribution, and New Beginnings Marketing Division. 

Each subsidiary was established out of the necessity to 
fund the New Beginnings Care Centre, a social upliftment 
initiative aimed at rebuilding people’s lives, in order to 
become self-sufficient contributing citizens. The group 
has used the services of New Beginnings in the Gauteng 
region for some time now and the lighting division 
donated stock worth R280 000 to the Foundation.

Environmental projects
The Litterboom Project
The electrical division has supported the Litterboom 
Project since 2021. This is the pilot phase of a solution 
to alleviate the increase in marine plastic pollution by 
targeting river systems, instead of only dealing with 
the pollution once it enters the ocean. Some 90% of 
marine plastic pollution comes from river systems and 
over the past few years the project has successfully 
been able to prevent over 300 000 kg of plastic from 
reaching the ocean. The project is currently active in  
10 rivers around South Africa – six in KwaZulu-Natal  
and four in the Western Cape. During the year under 
review, the business donated substantially more to the 
project than previously to ensure the continued success 
of the project. 

Joe Slovo sandwich scheme
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BirdLife South Africa
The organisation focuses on conserving South Africa’s 
birds and their habitats through programmes aimed 
at protecting important bird and biodiversity sites and 
habitats; terrestrial and sea bird conservation initiatives; 
policy and advocacy groups that influence law makers 
and implementers; and improving the capacity of bird-
orientated conservation organisations and environmental 
education. The lighting division has supported BirdLife 
South Africa for many years.

EMPLOYEE REPORT
COVID-19
The group adopted a proactive approach in dealing 
with the dangers of exposure to COVID-19, as outlined in 
both the integrated report and the sustainability report 
last year. Harsher levels of lockdown were re-introduced 
towards the end of the calendar year in 2020 and again 
in 2021, given the prevalence of the Delta variant and its 
rapid spread in the third wave of the pandemic. During 
the year under review ARB maintained strict health and 
safety protocols. The following measures have remained 
in place throughout the pandemic:

 Strict social distancing measures in the workplace.
  Accommodating vulnerable employees in their 

workplace (where possible).
  Information posters are placed throughout all 

premises, reiterating mask wearing, social distancing, 
sanitising, etc. 

  “Keeping safe” sessions are undertaken with employees 
on a regular and ongoing basis.

  A compliance officer and response teams ensure all 
legislative requirements for COVID-19 are in place, 
including training and induction, risk assessment, 
communication, etc.

  Employees and visitors’ temperatures are scanned 
prior to entering any of ARB’s premises, records 
maintained and all visitors and staff subjected to 
a sanitisation process. Anyone with a temperature 
of more than 1 degree Celsius above the normal  
37.0 degrees centigrade (i.e. 38.0 degrees centigrade 
or more), or displaying any obvious primary symptoms 
of COVID-19, are denied access to the group’s premises 
and duly advised to follow the relevant prescribed 
medical procedures.

  Workplace and employee assessment protocols were 
established in the case of positive cases or of reported 
close contact.

  Perspex screens are installed at reception, sales and 
collection counters. 

  Reporting of incidents to the National Institute for 
Communicable Diseases (NICD) is done as required 
and necessary in terms of legislation and protocols.

Our employees
ARB’s employees are critical to the achievement of 
the group’s strategic objectives. However, many of the 
business-critical skills that are required remain in short 
supply in South Africa, and so the group recognises the 
importance of attracting, developing, rewarding and 
retaining the best people to deliver its business goals. 

Moreover, accelerating strategic delivery emerged as a 
material theme from the national lockdowns, highlighting 
the need to align organisational structures to support 
the group’s strategy by investing in people, partnerships 
and culture; optimising and integrating processes; and 
ensuring fair and responsible remuneration and reward 
practices aligned to the right performance measures, 
all of which are necessary to unlock value. Empowering 
people and accelerating transformation remain a priority. 

ARB’s employees continue to play a major role in 
ensuring that the group’s competitiveness and service 
levels remain high, thereby differentiating ARB from its 
competitors. Further, employees ensure that business 
is conducted in an ethical and ultimately, profitable 
manner. The group’s commitment to employees spans a 
variety of sustainability measures including employment 
equity, health and safety, bursary schemes, basic human 
rights, HIV/Aids and skills development. ARB is also 
guided by prevailing legislation including the Basic 
Conditions of Employment Act, the Labour Relations Act, 
the Skills Development Act, the Occupational Health and 
Safety Act, and the Employment Equity Act.

As at 30 June 2021, there were 886 permanent employees 
(2020: 974) across all group companies.

ARB has an ongoing commitment to its employees
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Workforce profile
Employee gender, race and age breakdowns

2021 2020

Male Female Total Male Female Total

A C I W Total A C I W Total A C I W Total A C I W Total

Top 
management  –  –  3  9  12  –  –  –  2  2 14  –  –  1  12  13  –  –  –  2  2 15

Senior 
management  1  1  5  30  37  –  1  1  3  5 42  1  1  4  30  36  –  –  –  2  2 38

Professionals  6  3  7  20  36  3  1  1  10  15 51  6  2  8  20  36  5  2  5  10  22 58

Skilled  44  14  15  26  99  20  14  13  23  70 169  46  15  19  36  116  19  13  13  29  74 190

Semi-skilled  230  34  32  54  350  74  14  20  24  132 482  243  34  35  60  372  62  17  19  28  126 498

Unskilled  67  14  3  9  93  30  1  2  2  35 128  84  17  2  14  117  54  3  1  –  58 175

Permanent  348  66  65  148  627  127  31  37  64  259 886  380  69  69  172  690  140  35  38  71  284 974

Temporary  32  3  1  2  38  3  –  –  64  67 105  –  –  –  4  4  1  –  1  11  13 17

Total  380  69  66  150  665  130  31  37  128  326 991  380  69  69  176  694  141  35  39  82  297 991

Employment equity
The group’s recruitment policies are in line with the Employment Equity Act, and are aimed at attracting the necessary 
competencies whilst creating equal employment opportunities. Policies are geared towards attracting, retaining and 
promoting people through career development and succession planning at all levels. To support these objectives, 
recruitment processes include psychometric testing and pre-employment assessments, where appropriate.

ARB’s permanent employment demographics at the year-end are as follows (compared to the previous year):

 < 25

 25 – 35

 36 – 45

 46 – 55

 > 55

 Male 

 Female

Split of staff by race

 African

 White

 Indian

 Coloured

Split of staff by age bandSplit of staff by gender
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People-related material issues and key risks
The following key risks pertaining to people were 
identified:

  Lack of technical sales expertise.
  Ongoing focus on skills development – specifically 

sales and operations.
  To build black talent and black management from 

within the organisation.
  Succession planning for leadership and other critical 

roles. 
  Building a value proposition that attracts diversified 

talent, and specifically black talent.

Focus for next year
The HR priorities have largely remained the same as  
for the previous year, and include the following, which 
are unlikely to change in the near to medium term:

  Identifying relevant training and development 
opportunities to nurture critical skills and ensure that 
the group has the right people in the right place.

  Succession planning to address critical skills  
shortages, particularly with regard to senior and 
executive positions.

  Embedding performance measures and linking  
them to rewards, to better drive business objectives.

Transformation
A key opportunity remains to improve the group’s  
B-BBEE status is in terms of black management. 
Although ARB has made progress over the year, many 
senior management roles are still held by white males. 
The need for developing future black, female and 
disabled management talent thus continues to receive 
priority. The group’s strategy regarding transformation 
as noted below is unchanged (also see the social and 
ethics report and the remuneration report on page 69  
and page 75 for more detail):

  Black representation in management is a core  
focus for all management appointments. 

  All senior appointments in the group – the designated 
top 100 or so people – are monitored at Exco  
and board level to ensure that every endeavour is 
made to find qualified black candidates to fill vacant 
positions, without the consequences of a diminution 
of the high standards to which the group aspires.

  A B-BBEE programme has been incorporated into 
succession planning. 

  The retirement process offers an opportunity to identify 
the date when positions will become vacant and 
allows time to develop black candidates at middle-
management level and below to be considered for any 
senior management posts.

  ARB is also focused on achieving an improved gender 
balance throughout its workforce. Recruitment and 
development processes focus on female as well as 
black recruits to ensure a balanced pipeline of talent.

Diversity and inclusion
Diversity in the workplace is of critical importance, with 
diverse teams of varied experience and backgrounds 
being more capable of understanding and meeting 
the needs of ARB’s customers, thereby improving the 
group’s ability to compete for business. ARB is actively 
accelerating diversity to ensure that the succession 
pipeline is transformed, and that the workforce is 
representative of demographics in South Africa, and to 
promote a culture of diversity and inclusivity.

Talent management
ARB’s primary human capital focus includes attracting 
and developing core skills, implementing sustainable 
leadership development and succession planning 
strategies and improving the group’s B-BBEE rating. 
However, along with this, the group continues to 
ensure that other elements fundamental to human 
capital success are managed – these include employee 
engagement, performance management, talent 
development, employee relations, employee health, 
safety and wellness.

Key achievements in talent development 2021 2020 2019 2018

Investment in training, learning and development (L&D) (R000’s) 4 642 5 741 5 048 4 859
Percentage of L&D spent on black people (BAC&I) 89.4% 78% 74% 88%
Percentage of L&D spent on people under 35 93.7% 54% 54% 73%
Number of learnership programmes undertaken 95 65 47 47
Percentage previously disadvantaged (BAC&I) learnerships 100% 100% 100% 100%
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Training and skills development
ARB requires employees with the right technical skills and 
expertise to service its customers. Given the continued 
low growth environment in South Africa, ARB’s ability 
to employ learners is constrained. ARB does however, 
participate, in the YES initiative as outlined earlier in  
this report.

The group’s people management strategy centres on 
becoming an employer of choice and developing an 
engaged workforce, with both aspects being a direct 
result of a strong corporate culture. As organisational 
structures continue to be reviewed in light of continually 
changing circumstances, certain fundamental practices 
are adapted to ensure that ARB’s workforce meets 
the group’s future needs. Internal “on the job” training 
and skills-based programmes focusing on the group’s 
customers remain the backbone of store-based learning. 

ARB continues to invest in developing a robust talent 
pipeline by creating entry-level opportunities through 
structured programmes. Thirty learners were enrolled 
into learnership programmes during the year, including 
enrolment into Wholesale and Retail Distribution NQF 
Level 2 Business Administration. All the learnerships 
applicants are from previously disadvantaged 
backgrounds and were unemployed. These programmes 
are designed to facilitate their opportunities to gain 
practical experience at the workplace and enhance their 
potential employability. 

Although members of senior management are 
remunerated primarily according to financial 
performance, they are also responsible for people 
management. Annual performance reviews include a 
rating of their achievements in the following areas:

  the ability to appreciate and articulate the broad 
essence of the business relative to the sector within 
which they operate, as well as within ARB;

  the achievement of budgets and growth plans;
  the ability to attract, develop and retain solid 

employees; and
  good communications skills.

The electrical division provides study loans to qualifying 
employees to further their education. Where these 
studies are in the employee’s field of employment, the 
loans (maximum amounts are determined by the board) 
are amortised over an agreed period of post-qualification 
employment. In addition, the division has a child bursary 
scheme open to all qualifying employees. The programme 

is specifically targeted at long-serving, lower-earning 
employees for both basic and higher (tertiary) education. 
The bursary is paid directly to the educational institution 
concerned and covers a maximum of two children  
per employee. During 2021 there were 124 beneficiaries 
(2020: 133) of this scheme, which paid benefits to children 
of staff members of R437 101 (2020: R545 241).

Employee engagement
ARB values its employees’ experience. To this end, 
engagement takes place regularly at all levels throughout 
the group, a practice that has been maintained 
throughout the pandemic using online platforms. 
Engagement includes regular meetings with functional 
groups such as sales, warehouse and departmental 
teams. Furthermore, monthly Manco and Exco meetings 
ensure that strategic reviews are in place. Weekly toolbox 
talks are held to ensure that different departments within 
the broader warehouse and logistic teams are engaged.

Monthly worker forum meetings continue to be held 
formally across the business. Each branch holds an 
independent meeting where each function within 
the branch is represented by an elected employee 
representative. The minutes are collated monthly and 
matters raised are addressed directly by leadership, 
spearheaded by the divisional CEO. Finally, regular 
workers’ formal meetings represent yet another 
channel of engagement that ARB uses to ensure 
that communication is aligned, thereby promoting a 
common understanding of business expectations.

Employees have faced unprecedented social and 
economic change in the last 18 months, including 
the increasingly volatile economic and socio-political 
conditions plaguing South Africa. The uncertainty 
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Sunflower Day

ARB employees participate in most CSI initiatives

Nelson Mandela DayJoe Slovo sandwich scheme
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associated with the COVID-19 pandemic and the civic 
unrest in KwaZulu-Natal and other parts of the country 
in July 2021 has amplified the increased level of anxiety 
and stress of employees. 

The group has therefore continued to communicate 
more regularly with employees using bulk messaging 
facilities via online platforms and SMS messaging as it 
did last year to accommodate remote work. 

Within the lighting division, “Town Hall” style staff 
briefings are held on the first Wednesday of every month 
where the division’s CEO personally talks to all staff in 
the business. These forums focus on both macro- and 
micro-economic issues. This is an open forum, with a 
Q&A session to encourage employees to ask questions. 
Workers forums are also held in the warehouses, with two 
to three employee representatives sharing any specific 
issues or concerns either with their manager, one of the 
directors of the division or the divisional CEO if required. 
During the pandemic, there has also been a focus on 
COVID-19 updates, with information also communicated 
via email, WhatsApp and SMS. 

Performance management
Measuring performance is fundamental to managing 
employees’ outputs, which leads to effective business 
results. ARB has a formal performance management 
programme in place that supports succession.

Last year, year-end performance reviews in the electrical 
division were administered digitally using the ARB online 
employee self-service (ESS) system for the first time, with 
online performance reviews taking place online again 
during this financial year. 

The year-end review information forms the base for ARB 
succession planning in the future, to ensure the retention 
of key talent based on performance, potential, key 
individuals and critical roles. Performance management 
will continue to be a larger online capacity focus as the 
group reviews the optimisation of its systems to reduce 
the administrative burden of people development 
processes and to ensure that our people data is credible.

Health and safety
Safe working environments and safe practice in the 
execution of duties is important to ARB. Employees 
undergo ongoing certification to ensure that all sites have 
trained safety and fire teams and well-marked signage to 
ensure full legal compliance. The internal audit function 

is tasked with monitoring health and safety policies 
and procedures, and compliance thereto. To this end, a 
comprehensive health and safety manual is maintained 
in accordance with current legislation. Each of the 
group’s branches has a health and safety committee in 
place and all health and safety representatives receive 
external training to ensure that they are familiar with  
the legislative requirements and are equipped to 
discharge their responsibilities in this regard. Where risk 
issues are identified, appropriate measures are taken to 
mitigate them.

The group’s health and safety record for the 2021 
financial year reflects that one disabling injury on duty 
occurred (2020: 0). The department of labour conducted  
17 (2020: 6) site inspections to verify compliance with 
health and safety requirements and significant findings 
were reported, and corrected.

A fully subsidised primary healthcare plan is in place for 
all employees through a service partner, Kaelo Xelus.  
ARB employees also have access to an employee 
assistance programme, Ask Nelson, which allows 
employees to seek confidential guidance and assistance 
with regards to personal, financial, legal and domestic 
matters. Ask Nelson also allows for management 
referrals. Employees who display behaviour that requires 
professional attention are formally referred to Ask Nelson.

B-BBEE
A black-owned investment company, Batsomi Power, 
holds a 26% ownership interest in the group’s electrical 
subsidiary, ARB Electrical Wholesalers. Batsomi also has 
an indirect ownership interest of 26% in CraigCor.

ARB’s main trading subsidiaries have achieved the 
following B-BBEE ratings:

  ARB Electrical Wholesalers – Level 2 Contributor, 125% 
recognition level verified by B-BBEE Rated, a SANAS 
B-BBEE verification agency on 27 November 2019.

  CraigCor – Level 2 contributor, 125% recognition level 
verified by B-BBEE Rated.

  Eurolux/Radiant – Level 8 compliance.
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The group’s corporate governance framework has 
played a key role in supporting ARB’s resilience through 
effective leadership and oversight; enhanced stakeholder 
engagement and communications; clear and transparent 
decision making; risk management, mitigation and control; 
and the management of organisational performance.



CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE REPORT
Our governance and ethics philosophy
ARB maintains exceptionally high standards of corporate 
governance and believes in ethical and effective  
leadership that promotes transparency and ensures a 
good corporate culture. The board accepts its responsibility 
as the custodian of corporate governance within the 
group and is therefore accountable to stakeholders for 
the provision of value-enabling governance. 

The directors are committed to implementing the  
Code of Governance Principles (the Code) as set out in 
King IV™ as required by the Listings Requirements of the 
JSE Limited (JSE) and all other applicable laws. Beyond 
that, the board is responsible for ensuring that the spirit 
of good governance and ethical behaviour is embedded 
in the culture of the group.

The board is committed to the following governance 
outcomes to provide assurance to all stakeholders that 
the group’s businesses are appropriately managed: 

  an ethical culture; 
  good financial performance; 
  effective management and control, and 
  compliance with legislation.

The group’s corporate governance framework has 
played a key role in supporting ARB’s resilience  
through effective leadership and oversight; enhanced 
stakeholder engagement and communications; clear 
and transparent decision making; risk management, 
mitigation and control; and the management of 
organisational performance.

Application of and compliance with King IV™
When King IV™ became effective on 1 April 2017, the 
board conducted a comprehensive review of the  
17 principles, which can be found on www.arbhold.co.za 
(“King IV™ comply and explain report”, under the “About 
Us” section). The board is comfortable that the group 
remains in substantive alignment with the principles  
of King IV™, in a manner appropriate to a group of  
ARB’s size. 

The board’s continuing role during COVID-19
An update was included in last year’s integrated report 
to specifically address the board’s role in providing 
guidance to the group during the pandemic. Although 
the pandemic has by no means run its course, vaccination 
programmes locally and around the world will hopefully 
play a role in containing the virus. The board continues to 
monitor the effects of the pandemic, and provides advice 

and leadership in matters concerning COVID-19. Specific 
actions taken by the board and its committees in this 
respect are referred to where appropriate in this report.

The ARB board
ARB is led by an effective, unitary board that is ultimately 
responsible for retaining full and effective control over 
ARB. The delegation of certain powers and authorities 
to executive management and committees is done via 
a formal “levels of authority” document to the group 
CEO and clear and effective board committee charters. 
Decisions on material matters are reserved for the board. 

Board composition
The two new appointments to the board have already 
been detailed in this integrated report in the “About this 
report” section and on page 27.

The board therefore now comprises seven directors (see 
“Non-executive director tenure and succession planning” 
explanation on page 56): three ex-officio executive 
directors (the group CEO, the electrical division CEO 
and the group CFO), three independent non-executive 
directors, and one representative non-executive director. 
The composition of the board remains in line with 
the recommended requirement in King IV™ in being 
made up of a majority of non-executive directors. The 
independent non-executive directors ensure that no 
individual has unfettered powers of decision-making and 
authority to protect the best interests of all stakeholders.

As requested by the JSE, the remuneration and 
nominations committee reviewed the current diversity 
policy for the extended definition that includes culture, 
age, field of knowledge and experience, and concluded 
that the current board was fit for purpose and operating 
effectively. When a new position opens up on the  
board, we will consider the JSE’s broad diversity policy in 
making the new appointment. No voluntary targets have 
been set. 

Access to management
Non-executive directors have unrestricted access to 
management and group resources to enable them to 
properly discharge their responsibilities. Management 
is tasked with providing relevant material information to 
the board to enable it to discharge these responsibilities. 
Board agendas are structured through a formal 
work programme to enable the board to address all 
governance items in its charter over a 12-month period.
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Meetings
Scheduled meetings are held at least quarterly and  
more frequently if required. In addition, executive and 
non-executive directors meet informally on a regular basis. 
Directors are provided in advance with a comprehensive 
board pack containing the necessary information to 
enable them to discharge their duties. Any director 
may request that additional matters be included on the 
agenda. Proceedings at board meetings are minuted 
and minutes are circulated to board members for review 
before being approved. 

Attendance at meetings
Details of directors’ attendance at board meetings and 
board committee meetings held during the year are set 

out below. The second figure indicates the number of 
meetings that each director was eligible to attend.

Skills, knowledge and experience
Directors have the requisite knowledge and experience 
required to properly execute their duties. They are 
encouraged to stay abreast of the group’s businesses 
through independent site visits and interactions 
with executive management, and are entitled, with 
the approval of the chairman, to seek independent 
professional advice on any matter pertaining to the 
group that they deem necessary at ARB’s expense. 

* Independent non-executive director.
** By invitation.
*** Appointed to the board 6 April 2021.
@ Appointed to the board 1 July 2021.

Board
Audit

 committee
Risk

 committee

Remuneration 
and nominations

 committee

Social and
 ethics

 committee

Director
Theo Botha*** 2/2 1/1** 1/1** 1/1** –
James Dixon* 5/5 3/3 4/4 3/3 2/2
Simon Downes* 5/5 3/3 4/4 3/3 2/2
Ralph Patmore* (chairman) 5/5 3/3 4/4 3/3 2/2**

William (Billy) Neasham (group CEO) 5/5 3/3** 4/4 3/3** 2/2**

Grant Scrutton (group CFO) 5/5 3/3** 4/4 3/3** 2/2
Other executives
Blayne Burke (CEO Electrical)@ 5/5** – 4/4** – –
Jonathan Graves (CFO Electrical) – 1/1** – – 2/2**

Peter Willig (CEO Lighting) 5/5** 1/1** 4/4** –  2/2**

Non-executive director tenure and succession 
planning
Although Simon Downes and Ralph Patmore have 
been non-executive directors for over the nine years 
recommended by King IV™, members of the board 
specifically reviewed this matter again during the year 
under review, and are of the unanimous opinion that 
both Mr Downes and Mr Patmore remain independent 
and continue to contribute effectively to the board. 
A brief curriculum vitae for each director is set out on 
pages 28 and 29 of this integrated report.

The board’s succession process is crucial to its  
sustainability. The board constantly assesses its 
composition to ensure that it has the appropriate balance 
of skills, experience and competency levels required to 

effectively discharge its duties. The remuneration and 
nominations committee is responsible for succession 
planning at CEO level, as well as for all critical positions 
reporting to the group CEO, to ensure that competence 
and balance is enhanced and maintained. 

In terms of this succession plan, Blayne Burke, who has 
long been identified and groomed to take over the group 
CEO role, has been appointed to the main board. This 
appointment will be ratified at the upcoming AGM. 
Cognisance has been taken of the JSE directive for gender 
and racial equality and thus are part of the selection 
criteria in the nomination process to fill future vacancies. 
No specific deadline has been set for compliance with 
these directives as they are dependent on vacancies and 
acceptable candidates being available.
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In terms of the memorandum of incorporation (MO), one-third of the non-executive directors were required to retire 
by rotation at the AGM held on 4 November 2020, and were recommended by the remuneration and nominations 
committee for re-election. All proposed ordinary and special resolutions were passed by the requisite majority of 
shareholders at that AGM, including those dealing with the non-executive director re-elections/appointments/
remuneration as follows:

Leadership roles and functions
Chairman
Ralph Patmore was elected as chairman of the board 
in 2019, a role that is separate to that of group CEO. 
The chairman provides leadership and guidance to the 
board, ensuring he obtains input from the other directors 
and encouraging debate and proper deliberation on 
matters requiring the board’s attention. The chairman 
sets the ethical tone and leadership for the board and 
ensures that it remains efficient, focused and operates 
as a harmonious unit. 

The chairman also provides overall leadership to the 
board and to the group CEO without limiting the 
principle of collective responsibility for board decisions. 
Mr Patmore is further responsible for the evaluation of 
the board and its individual members every second 
year, and for representing the board to shareholders.

Group CEO and executive directors
The group CEO, together with the group CFO, is  
responsible for implementing ARB’s strategic plan, 
operational succession planning and operational 
decisions in respect of the day-to-day running of the 
business, while the non-executive directors review 
and provide oversight and guidance in this regard. 
The responsibility for executing strategy and executive 
management vests with the CEO.

The group financial director is the group CFO, Grant 
Scrutton. The audit committee reviews his experience 
and competence annually and is satisfied that he 
has the appropriate expertise and experience for the 
position. The group CEO and group CFO meet each

Ordinary resolution number 1: To re-elect Simon Downes as a director of the company 99.96%

Ordinary resolution number 2.1: To elect the audit committee members: James Dixon (Chairman) 100.00%

Ordinary resolution number 2.2: To elect the audit committee members: Simon Downes 99.96%

Ordinary resolution number 2.3: To elect the audit committee members: Ralph Patmore 100.00%

Special resolution number 2: To approve the remuneration of non-executive directors from 1 July 2020 99.99%

month with each of the group’s operating entities’ 
managing directors and/or CEOs to discuss financial, 
operational and strategic matters. 

Each operating entity within ARB has its own executive 
management committee that meets regularly to discuss 
and attend to the day-to-day management of their 
respective businesses. The group CEO is invited to these 
meetings.

Company secretary 
The company secretary, Mario Louw (IAC), is on a retainer 
with the group and reports to the chairman. He advises the 
board on the appropriate procedures for the management 
of meetings and implementation of governance, and is 
responsible for providing the board collectively, and each 
director individually, with technical updates and guidance 
on the discharge of their responsibilities in terms of 
the applicable legislative and regulatory requirements. 
The company secretary is also responsible for ensuring 
regulatory and legislative compliance by ARB. All directors 
have unrestricted access to the company secretary.

Mr Louw has been involved in company secretarial work 
for more than 14 years. He is not a director of the group, 
nor of any of its subsidiaries, and he is not related nor 
connected to any of the directors, thereby ensuring an 
independent arm’s length relationship between the 
company secretary and the board. On an annual basis, 
the board considers and confirms that it is satisfied with 
the competence, qualifications and experience of the 
company secretary.

The certificate required to be signed by the company 
secretary in terms of section 88(2) of the Companies Act, 
appears on page 79 of this integrated report.
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Board charter
The board is regulated by a formal charter (which is 
reviewed bi-annually), that codifies the role of the 
board and the responsibilities of the directors. This 
comprehensive charter addresses matters relating to 
board composition; leadership; remuneration; board 
evaluation; group processes and procedures; key 
operational risks, and corporate governance. It provides 
the board with a mandate to exercise leadership, to 
determine ARB’s vision and strategy, and to monitor 
operational performance.

The specific duties and responsibilities of the board as 
codified by the charter include:

  reviewing and approving the strategic plans of the 
group and its operations;

  reviewing regular feedback on the implementation of 
these strategic plans;

  reviewing new business proposals and measuring their 
performance against projections;

  reviewing and approving the annual budgets;
  defining the required competencies as well as 

the number and profile of board members, which 
includes reviewing the performance of the group CEO,  
non-executive directors and the company secretary;

  succession planning at senior executive level;
  remuneration of executive directors and recommendation 

to shareholders for the remuneration of non-executive 
directors;

  development of effective short-term incentive schemes 
for executives;

  control of capital management and allocation;
 performance monitoring and review;
  setting of policies dealing with conflicts of interest and 

codes of conduct, including related-party transactions, 
share dealings by directors, and insider trading;

  corporate governance compliance and review;
 risk management overview;

  audit and compliance overview, including the 
appointment of the external auditors and definition 
and scope of internal audit functions; and

  overview of the internal control environment and 
compliance.

Evaluation of the board and directors
The chairman leads a self-evaluation process every 
second year, reviewing the board’s role, processes, 
committees and performance in accordance with the 
board charter and assesses each director’s performance. 
The remuneration and nominations committee annually 
reviews and reports to the board on the composition 
of the board and the respective committees to ensure 
their compliance with the Companies Act, King IV™ and 
the JSE Listings Requirements. The performance and 
attendance of directors is taken into consideration by 
the remuneration and nominations committee prior to 
supporting them for re-election to the board.

Board committees
The board has four committees, each with their own 
formal charter, which deal with the more detailed 
aspects of responsibility for governance so that the main 
board, which retains ultimate responsibility for the group, 
can focus on strategic matters more effectively. Their 
reports are set out later in this report. The committees 
are as follows:

Audit committee (page 62)

Risk committee (page 66)

Remuneration and nominations 
committee (page 67)

Social and ethics committee (page 75)

These committees act as workgroups and the three 
independent non-executive directors sit on all 
committees (other than Mr Patmore, who is not a  
member of the social and ethics committee but attends 
meetings as an invitee). Mr Botha, the representative 
director, has a standing invitation to all committee 
meetings. 
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Accordingly, while the minutes of these meetings are included in the following meeting’s board pack, there is no 
need for extensive feedback at the board meeting, other than for formal ratification of specific recommendations. 
The committee chairmen are available at the AGM to respond to any shareholder questions regarding each of 
their committee’s areas of responsibility. These committees are as follows:

Beneficial shareholdings
The beneficial shareholdings of the directors in the group 
and its subsidiaries are set out in the directors’ report 
of the annual financial statements on page 83 of this 
integrated report.

Share dealings and insider trading
Directors are required to disclose their shareholdings 
and any dealings in shares of the group to the chairman 
and group CEO, who together with ARB’s sponsor, 
ensures that any such dealings are published on SENS in 
compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements. 

In addition, all main board and subsidiary directors and 
the company secretary, are prohibited from dealing 
in the shares of the group during closed periods or at 

any time when they are in possession of unpublished 
price-sensitive information in relation to those shares. 
The consent of the chairman is required before any 
director or member of senior management, including 
the company secretary, can deal in the group’s shares. 
The chairman informs the group CEO before transacting 
in group shares. 

ARB has a formal policy on the release of price-sensitive 
information. No employee may deal, directly or indirectly, 
in ARB shares based on unpublished price-sensitive 
information regarding the business or the affairs of 
the group. In addition, comprehensive confidentiality 
agreements are in place with the group’s sponsor, 
advisors, printers and investor relations company.

Social and ethics 
committee

Audit committeeRemuneration  
and nominations 

committee

Risk 
committee

Sub-
committees

THE  
BOARD

Non- 
executiveExecutive
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Interests in contracts
A formal register of directors’ interests is maintained 
by the company secretary and is available at each 
board meeting. Directors are required to inform the 
board timeously of conflicts or potential conflicts of 
interest they may have in relation to the group and any 
of its businesses and this is specifically reviewed, on an 
exception basis, at each formal board meeting. Directors 
are obliged to recuse themselves from discussions or 
decisions on matters in which they have a conflict of 
interest. Every employee is required to obtain prior 
written approval from the group CEO and, on an annual 
basis to disclose in writing, any outside business interests 
or any other potential conflicts of interest.

IT governance 
Information technology (IT) at ARB is a valuable tool 
that facilitates the successful implementation of the 
group’s strategy and sustainable business performance. 
IT governance is based on the principles as described 
in King IV™ and guides the board in discharging its 
responsibilities. The board is responsible for IT governance 
and is ultimately responsible for ensuring that information 
and IT strategies are aligned with business strategies. The 
audit and risk committees assist the board in carrying 
out these responsibilities. The board is satisfied that, 
based on reports received from these committees, an 
appropriate IT governance framework exists, is effectively 
functioning and is monitored on an ongoing basis.

Code of conduct, ethics and tip-off line
Every employee within the group is required to subscribe 
to a formal code of conduct, which stipulates the group’s 
commitment to the highest standards of corporate 
governance and compliance with the laws of South 
Africa. The code sets out standards of integrity and ethics 
in dealings with suppliers, customers, business partners, 
stakeholders, government and society at large. It requires 
all employees to act with honesty and integrity in their 
dealings with stakeholders and to interact with fairness, 
dignity and respect to create and protect a credible 
business reputation and a working environment free 
from harassment and discrimination. 

In line with the code, ARB recruits and promotes 
employees based on their suitability for the job without 
any discrimination on the basis of race, religion, national 
origin, colour, gender, age, marital status, sexual 
orientation or disability unrelated to the task at hand.

Employees have been educated about the responsibility 
of reporting any actual, perceived or potential violation 
of the code to management. Management bears the 
overall responsibility of monitoring compliance with 
the code. ARB takes the code seriously and, where 
appropriate, employs disciplinary procedures and/or 
legal proceedings to address any transgression.

ARB has a formal tip-off policy and a tip-off line, which 
is managed by the internal auditor. To encourage 
participation, employees are regularly reminded of this 
facility. There is a formal protocol and policy regarding 
these tip-offs, which has been approved by all CEOs. 
A register is submitted to the audit committee and 
reviewed to ensure tip-offs are being appropriately 
addressed. During the year, no incidents requiring 
investigation were received via the line (2020: Nil). 

Stakeholder communication
ARB is committed to timely, consistent, honest and 
transparent communication with stakeholders and 
encourages an open communication culture throughout 
the group. This is carried through to all means of 
communication including advertising where all untruths, 
concealment or misleading descriptions are prohibited.

Group announcements are released on SENS and, if 
required, published in the press. Regular presentations 
and meetings are held with investors and analysts to 
communicate the strategy and financial performance of 
the group. Furthermore, the group CEO and group CFO 
are available to answer any queries from stakeholders, 
including institutional shareholders, industry analysts 
or private investors, and whenever necessary, the group 
CEO engages with the financial media to ensure accurate 
reporting. Shareholders are also afforded the opportunity 
to put questions to the board at the AGM.

The group maintains good employee communications, 
and efforts remain ongoing to inform employees, 
particularly with regards to the COVID-19 pandemic and 
related updates.

ARB’s website (www.arbhold.co.za) provides up-to-date 
information on the group and contains the latest and 
historical financial information. There are also active websites: 
info@arbhold.co.za, info@arb.co.za and info@eurolux.co.za, 
that have responsible officers assigned to deal with queries 
from the public, requests for donations, and questions from 
new customers. 
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The group engages the services of Keyter Rech  
Investor Solutions CC (KRIS) to assist and advise it with all 
shareholder and media communications.

ARB’s approach to stakeholder engagement, as well 
as the results of this engagement, can be found on  
page 14.

Illegal acts 
The board has set the direction for governance and 
compliance in line with applicable laws and regulations, 
including those still required by the COVID-19 regulations, 
and has adopted rules, codes and standards in a way 
that supports the organisation to be ethical in addition 
to being a good corporate citizen. The monitoring of 
governance and compliance has been delegated to 
both the audit and risk committees. There have been 
no material or repeated regulatory penalties, sanctions 
or fines imposed on the organisation, the board, its 
members or officers for any contravention of, or non-
compliance with, statutory obligations. 

ARB does not engage in, or condone any form of fraud, 
bribery, corruption or any other illegal acts in the conduct 
of its business. 

Furthermore, employees are not permitted to accept 
gifts or favours from suppliers that obligate them in 
any way to reciprocate. The group’s policy is to actively 
pursue and prosecute the perpetrators of any fraudulent 
or other illegal activities should any such acts become 
visible. All executive directors, divisional directors and 
regional, branch and sales managers sign an annual 

representation confirming they have performed their 
duties in an ethical manner within the confines of the 
appropriate laws and regulations, and disclosed any 
potential conflicts of interests, family members employed 
in the group and gifts received with a value more than 
R500. The operational and group CEOs review all of 
these declarations.

Anti-competitive behaviour
The group supports and encourages free external and 
internal competition in all business units and subsidiaries. 
All executive directors, divisional directors and regional, 
branch and sales managers have signed the annual 
representation letter confirming that they have not 
participated in any anti-competitive behaviour.

Political contributions
ARB does not contribute to any political parties or 
politically-exposed individuals.

Legal matters and litigation
The group engages external legal advisors when 
deemed necessary. The board is not aware of any legal 
or arbitration proceedings in the previous 12 months that 
may have, or have had, a material effect on the financial 
position of the group or any of its subsidiaries.

Sponsor
Grindrod Bank Limited is the group’s sponsor and advises 
the board on the interpretation of and compliance  
with the JSE Listings Requirements and with the review 
of all announcements and documentation required in 
terms thereof.

ARB – Silver Lakes
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I have pleasure in presenting the audit committee report 
for the year ended 30 June 2021. 

The ARB audit committee is an independent statutory 
committee. This report sets out the corporate governance 
disclosure for the audit committee as required by 
the Companies Act. The committee operates under 
a formal term of reference, and which complies with 
the Companies Act, the JSE Listings requirements and 
the recommendations of King IV™. The scope of the 
committee extends to all the activities of ARB and its 
subsidiaries. 

Appointment
Each member of the audit committee is an independent 
non-executive director and is individually appointed at 
each AGM as required by the Companies Act (Part D, 
Section 94). The members are considered to have the 
experience and qualifications required to discharge the 
responsibilities of an audit committee.

Members
The audit committee comprises the following independent 
members:

  James Dixon (chairman) 
  Ralph Patmore 
  Simon Downes 

In addition to the above members, the shareholder 
representative director, the group CEO, group CFO, group 
internal audit manager and the external auditors attend 
audit committee meetings by invitation. Mr Patmore 
is chairman of the company and a strict interpretation 

of King IV™ requires that the chairman should not  
be a member of the audit committee. The directors  
have assessed this and given the size of the  
independent board and skills of Mr Patmore, the 
current structure is beneficial to the group and its  
corporate governance. 

The audit committee report
In terms of the Act, the audit committee has prepared its 
report which covers:

  how the audit committee carried out its functions;
  whether the committee is satisfied that the internal 

and external auditors were independent of the  
group, and

  the appropriateness of the accounting practices and 
the internal financial controls of the group.

Duties of the audit committee
A formal charter tasks the audit committee with 
reviewing the interim results; the annual financial 
statements and associated announcements, as well as 
understanding management’s accounting processes 
and policies and the internal and external auditor’s 
involvement in these processes. The charter is reviewed 
and approved bi-annually.

The specific responsibilities of the audit committee 
include:

  Statutory duties – the statutory report of the audit 
committee on page 80 of this integrated report 
confirms that, in the opinion of the committee, it has 
discharged its statutory responsibilities required in 
terms of section 94(7)(f) of the Companies Act.

ARB – Midrand
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  Internal controls – considering confirmations, 
information and explanations from management, the 
internal auditors and discussions held with the external 
auditors that there are sufficient internal controls 
developed and implemented and that these controls 
have operated for the year under review. No material 
findings came to the attention of the committee 
during the year under review to indicate any material 
breakdown in internal controls had occurred. This is 
corroborated by the absence of conflicting information 
provided to the board, the tip-off line and reports from 
external regulatory bodies.

  Financial reporting – reviewing the accounting 
policies adopted or any changes made, and the 
measures introduced by management to enhance the 
accuracy and fair presentation of all matters proposed 
for inclusion in the annual financial statements and 
any other reports prepared with reference to the affairs 
of the group for external distribution or publication, 
including those required by any regulatory or 
supervisory authority, and to evaluate significant 
judgements and reporting decisions made, including 
changes in accounting policies and decisions involving 
a significant element of judgement. 

  External audit – confirming that PKF Durban was 
independent of the group; approving the engagement 
letter and terms of reference, audit plan, budgeted 
audit fees and management representation letter for 
the year ended 30 June 2021, and recommending  
the appointment of external auditors for approval 
by the shareholders. In addition, reviewing the 
performance of the auditors and monitoring their 
independence. The audit committee also sets the 
principles that allow the external auditors to perform 
non-audit services.

  Financial director – evaluating and satisfying itself as 
to the experience, expertise and performance of the 
group CFO; the adequacy of staffing; the effectiveness 
of the finance function, and the experience of the 
senior members of financial management during the 
year under review, and providing appropriate feedback 
to the remuneration and nominations committee.

  Sustainability and integrated reporting – overseeing 
the group’s sustainability and integrated reporting; 
reviewing and approving the integrated report and 
advising the board on the need to engage external 
assurance providers to review the completeness, 
accuracy and validity of such reporting.

  Risk management and IT governance – although a 
separate risk committee exists, the audit committee 

liaises with the risk committee insofar as financial 
reporting risks, internal controls, fraud, IT governance 
and in respect of any areas of overlap. In accordance 
with the recommendations of King IV™, IT governance 
is addressed as a separate agenda item at risk 
committee meetings and reported at board meetings.

  Going concern, liquidity and solvency – evaluating 
the documented assessment by management of the 
“going concern” premise of the company and of the 
group before recommending to the board whether 
the group will be a going concern in the foreseeable 
future, and considering the liquidity and solvency 
status of the group following the declaration of any 
dividend. 

  Whistle-blowing – ensuring that appropriate interventions 
have been put in place to properly deal with whistle-
blowing throughout the group and that tip-offs are 
adequately followed up and dealt with.

  Internal audit – oversight and direction of the group 
internal audit function. The internal audit team reports 
directly to this committee through the chair, and the 
independence, performance and suitability of the 
members is assessed annually by the committee.

Activities of the audit committee
Each year, the audit committee is scheduled to meet 
three times, which the directors believe is sufficient for 
discharging the committee’s responsibilities. Additional 
meetings are convened as required. The committee had 
three formal meetings during the year. Attendance at 
these meetings is reported on page 56 of the corporate 
governance report. The committee members also had 
a number of discussions during the year to adequately 
prepare for matters formally addressed by the committee 
in line with its mandate and terms of reference. The 
work programme of the audit committee includes all 
the items required by the Companies Act and the JSE 
regulations.

Internal control framework
The specific levels of authenty for the group CEO and the 
CEOs of ARB’s major subsidiaries have been delegated 
to and are reviewed annually by the risk committee. 
The recommendations made by the risk committee are, 
however, ratified by the board. The CEOs have formally 
delegated some of these authorities to their managers 
covering the required approvals needed for all major 
decisions. Through this framework, operational and 
financial responsibility is formally and clearly delegated 
to executives of the group. This is designed to maintain 
the appropriate control environment within the board-
approved budgets and strategies, while providing the 
necessary local autonomy for day-to-day operations.
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Internal audit 
The group internal audit department, which is governed 
by a formal written charter, provides the roles and 
functions as envisaged in the Standards of Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing issued by the Institute of 
Internal Auditors. This is an independent, small, cost-
efficient team of two internal auditors who report 
directly to the audit committee chairman. In terms of 
their approved annual plan, they visit all sites at least 
once a year and the larger sites twice a year. The checks 
and procedures conducted cover both basic internal 
controls and the safety, health and environmental 
aspects of the business and provide reasonable 
assurance that the assets are safeguarded; that no 
material loss or unauthorised use have occurred; that 
the financial records may be relied on for preparing 
the financial statements, as well as maintaining 
accountability for assets and liabilities. 

The chief audit executive reports on its activities for the 
period at each committee meeting. The committee 
is satisfied that the internal audit is independent and  
has the necessary resources, budgets, standing and 
authority to discharge its duties. Details of the internal 
auditors’ function are also set out in the King IV™ report 
(Principle 15) on the group’s website, www.arbhold.co.za.

Combined assurance model
The committee ensures that a combined assurance 
model is applied which enables a cost-effective internal 
control environment oversight; supports the efficacy of 
the information used in decision making, and supports 
the integrity of related external reports. The model is 
reviewed annually, and the committee considers it to still 
be appropriate. It is also satisfied that the financial and 
administrative reporting risks are appropriately reflected 
therein.

External auditor independence and rotation
The committee satisfied itself that the auditors, PKF  
Durban and the nominated audit partner, Tania  
Marti-Warren (who replaced Rob Boulle as announced 
on SENS on 26 November 2020), were independent of 
the group. The portfolio of evidence of the firm’s internal, 
technical and IRBA investigations was reviewed and 
the committee is satisfied that the auditors, and the 
nominated partner, remain technically and practically 
capable of providing the services to the group. The 
committee has taken cognisance of the introduction of 
mandatory audit firm rotation, which dictates that ARB 
will need to appoint new auditors by the 2023 AGM.

Any non-audit services provided by the external auditors 
require the pre-approval of the audit committee on a 
case-by-case basis to ensure that the independence of 
the external auditors should not be impaired through 
such services. The committee has an internal cap on 

other services of 25% of the external audit fee and should 
services in excess of this ever be required, this decision 
will be referred to the board for review and approval. 
During the period under review, the only external services 
comprised a review of the interim report published  
on SENS.

The external auditors’ June 2021 audit plan; terms 
of engagement; Key Audit Matters (KAMs) , and the 
fee budget were reviewed, discussed and approved. 
The external auditors had unrestricted access to all 
information, documents, records, management and staff 
and no limitations were placed on their audit. The final 
KAMs as presented in the external auditors’ report were 
considered in committee and are noted.

Report back on focus areas for 2020
Last year the audit committee focused on the following 
issues in particular, which are included here as a 
reminder, along with an update on the key actions taken:

  Re-engineering processes and adopting appropriate 
procedures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic: 
Numerous measures were put in place as reported in 
the 2020 integrated report and outlined in the results 
presentations that took place during the year under 
review. Sanitising protocols and social distancing 
remain in place and continue to be subject to internal 
audit review for compliance. 

  Monitoring the outstanding agenda items of all the 
various subsidiaries’ IT steering committees: The 
steering committee for the electrical division consists 
primarily of non-IT related staff. Training has thus been 
prioritised to upskill the committee in terms of both 
IT knowledge and technical expertise. The lighting 
division does not have a steering committee in place as 
yet, with the function currently outsourced to a third-
party supplier. Peter Willig, the CEO of the division, 
meets with the service provider regularly to review the 
division’s IT performance and ensure that the necessary 
changes are implemented. Overall, the committee is 
satisfied that the IT general control environment at 
ARB is fit for purpose subject to continual compliance 
with company policy.

  Ensuring that the effective systems and controls 
have been implemented by Eurolux, after the 
integration of Radiant Lighting: The committee is 
confident that the integration has been successfully 
implemented and that the systems and controls have 
been effectively integrated. This will, however, continue 
to be monitored over the coming months. 
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Future areas of focus
A number of operational issues across the group have 
been identified for specific focus during the coming 
year, with internal audit tasked with addressing these 
issues and monitoring them on an ongoing basis to 
ensure improvement. Internal audit will report back on 
these issues to the audit committee, which will maintain 
oversight. Among these issues are the following:

  Health and safety: A third-party consultant has been 
employed to observe current processes and protocols. 
Any shortfalls in compliance with regulations will 
be assessed and implemented where considered 
necessary. 

  Time and attendance (T&A): An upgrade of the 
electrical division’s T&A system is being implemented 
to address a required improvement in controls and to 
improve reporting. 

  Lords View distribution centre stock controls: 
The reinforcement of controls and discipline at the 
distribution centre over the interface between systems 
and the movement of stock to branches.

Opinion
The duties and activities noted above assist in ensuring 
that the group’s internal control environment, disciplines 
and procedures are adequate and were implemented 
for the full year under review, in compliance with the 
Companies Act, to minimise the financial risks of the 
group and to provide adequate information in a timeous 
manner to enable management and the audit committee 
to fulfil their responsibilities. The audit committee is of 
the opinion that, in respect of the financial year ended  
30 June 2021, it has performed all of its functions required 
to be performed by an audit committee.

The committee has reviewed the separate and 
consolidated financial statements of ARB Holdings 
Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021 and has 
recommended the financial statements to the board for 
approval. The board has subsequently approved these 
financial statements, which are open for discussion at 
the forthcoming AGM.

James Dixon
Audit committee chairman

18 August 2021
Eurolux
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I have pleasure in presenting the risk committee report for 
the year ended 30 June 2021. 

The ARB risk committee is independent and operates 
under a formal term of reference, which complies with the 
recommendations of King IV™. The scope of the committee 
extends to all the activities of ARB and its subsidiaries.

This year’s report covers:

  how the committee carried out its functions;
  whether the committee is satisfied that the executive 

management has identified potential risks in those areas 
which may affect the group or its operations, and

  the appropriateness and effectiveness of the policies and 
plans to mitigate any risks and enhance ARB’s ability to 
achieve its strategic objectives and to support the group 
in being ethical and in being a good corporate citizen.

Appointment
In compliance with King IV™, which requires that the 
majority of the risk committee be made up of independent 
non-executive directors, each member of the committee is 
an independent non-executive director. They are considered 
to have the experience and qualifications required to 
discharge the responsibilities of a risk committee.

Members
The risk committee comprises the following independent 
members: 

  James Dixon (chairman) 
  Ralph Patmore 
  Simon Downes 

In addition to the above members, the shareholder 
representative director, the group CEO, the group CFO 
and the CEOs of the electrical and lighting divisions attend 
meetings by invitation. The company secretary acts as the 
secretary to this committee.

Duties of the risk committee
A formal charter tasks the risk committee with providing 
independent and objective oversight of the information 
presented by executive management and with reviewing 
the risk philosophies, strategies and policies recommended 
by executive management. Overall responsibility for the 
identification, evaluation, monitoring and management of 
risk areas lies with executive management.

The specific responsibilities of the risk committee include:

  assisting the board in discharging its duties relating 
to corporate accountability and the associated risks – 
risk in the widest sense includes, but is not necessarily 
limited to, strategic risk; financial risk; operational risk; 
reputational risk and environmental risk, and

  assisting the board in discharging its duties relating to IT 
governance.

Activities of the risk committee
During the year, the committee met four times, which 
the directors believe was sufficient for the purpose of 
discharging the committee’s responsibilities. Details of 
directors’ attendance at the meetings are set out in the 
corporate governance report on page 56. The individual 
operational risk registers were reviewed with the group 
CEO and the CEOs of the major operating subsidiaries. 

I am pleased to say that good progress was made on two 
items reported as high risk in last year’s integrated report – 
i.e. the Radiant integration and rationalisation (with Radiant 
having been successfully integrated), and the risk relating 
to trading margin, which at the time of writing is more 
than satisfactory. Systems were introduced to monitor the 
trading margin during the past year, and to ensure daily 
tracking and reporting. The committee is thus confident 
that management has successfully dealt with these issues.

Future areas of focus
The risks identified in the matrix on page 19 of this 
integrated report will be the main focus areas for this 
committee for the year ahead. While the risks posed 
specifically by the COVID-19 pandemic were a primary 
focus in 2020, this has shifted somewhat, although the 
effects of the pandemic continue to be monitored to 
ensure the group is able to respond quickly and properly. 
The committee will also continue to monitor and manage 
any further risks that may arise from the group’s risk 
management processes during the coming year.

In addition to the above, the committee will capitalise on 
opportunities arising from identified risk areas that can be 
profitably monetised.

Opinion
The committee is of the opinion that it has adequately 
discharged its obligations during the course of the year.
Furthermore, it believes that all material risks facing the 
group have been identified, quantified and, where possible, 
mitigated as prescribed by the risk committee charter.

James Dixon
Risk committee chairman

18 August 2021
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I have pleasure in presenting the committee’s report for 
the year ended 30 June 2021. This report comprises three 
sections:

Members
The committee currently comprises the following 
members:

  Simon Downes (chairman)
  Ralph Patmore 
  James Dixon 

The shareholder representative director, the group CEO 
and the group CFO attend committee meetings by 
invitation but may not be in attendance in any discussions 
regarding their own remuneration.

Role of the committee
The committee operates under terms of a formal charter 
that requires it to meet at least twice annually to fulfil 
the functions assigned to it. In the current financial year 
the committee met three times, including a special 
meeting to address succession planning. In compliance 
with King IV™, the chairman of the board is not eligible 
for appointment as chairman of this committee but does 
preside as the chairman when the committee fulfils its 
oversight responsibilities on nomination matters and 
board/director interactions. 

Report back on focus areas for 2020
In the prior year, the committee focused on the following 
matters, with the outcomes outlined below:

  Providing annual general remuneration review 
guidelines: As reported previously, a decision was 
made not to implement increases for the year ended  
30 June 2021, given the risk of the pandemic prevalent 
at the time. Whilst consideration was given to cost of 
living increases for lower-level staff, it was agreed that 
while the S189A processes in both the lighting and 

electrical divisions were still in progress, this would have 
been inappropriate. On 1 May 2020, management and 
executives of the major subsidiaries took a minimum 
of a 25% salary cut, with all other employees being 
paid on the basis of hours worked. The 25% reduction 
was implemented for two months until the end  
of June 2020, with normal salary levels reinstated on 
1 July 2020.

  Conducting performance appraisals of the group 
CEO and group CFO: The committee confirmed it was 
satisfied with the performance of both the group CEO 
and of the group CFO during the year under review.

  Reviewing the guaranteed remuneration packages 
of the senior executives: In line with the decision on 
employee remuneration, the committee agreed that 
there would be no executive salary increases for senior 
executives in the year under review.

  Considering the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
on the remuneration policy of the group: The 
committee remains of the view that it will not have a 
clear line of sight on the full impact of the pandemic 
until vaccine programmes are rolled out both in South 
Africa and globally, which might be expected closer 
to March 2022. Accordingly, the committee decided 
that incentives would be paid above the 2021 target 
+ 10% for each division. Incentives would be earned 
for achievements above the target number (e.g. for 
the electrical division, the maximum incentive of 20% 
would be paid, if profit before interest and tax [PBIT] 
reached a total of R101.506m + R1.665m, or R103.171m). 
The incentive pool would be allocated as follows:

 –  80% of the incentive will be paid in cash: 70% 
thereof, one month after the financial statements 
are published, and the balance of 30% over the next 
three years, in equal instalments, on 30 June of each 
of the ensuing three years.

Matters 
considered by 

the remuneration 
and nominations 

committee

Remuneration  
policies and 

principles for 
shareholders’ vote at 

the annual general 
meeting

Implementation 
report of the 

remuneration 
policy
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 –  20% will be payable providing that each operating 
division meets its average quarterly working capital 
target percentages to turnover.

 –  20% will be payable for the corporate division 
solely at the discretion of the remuneration and 
nominations committee.

The incentive pool, being the sum of the Total Cash 
Compensation (TCC) of each eligible executive for each 
division, will be split among the senior executives and 
management in a proportion to be recommended by 
each divisional CEO, subject to the approval of the group 
CEO and the remuneration committee.

Working capital for the purpose of the inventive pool is 
defined as the “total of inventories + accounts receivable 
and prepayments – trade creditors and all accruals”. 

  Proposing the non-executive directors’ fees: The 
remuneration committee decided that there would 
be no increases in the non-executive directors’ fees 
for the year ended 30 June 2021, in line with staff and 
executive remuneration reviews. 

Future areas of focus 
Three specific key focus areas will be addressed by the 
committee in the ensuing financial year:

1.  Due to the impending retirement of the group CEO, 
the directors will accelerate the succession plan 
to ensure a smooth and rapid transition. This plan 
will also include the appointment of further senior 
executives to the boards of the major subsidiaries.

2.  The electrical division’s CEO has been tasked with 
the design and implementation of a suitable training 
plan for the division. This encompasses the design of a 
formalised training regime to ensure that sufficiently 
trained and skilled personnel are available for future 
promotion. The anticipated cost of this programme 
will include the cost of training officers to drive 
implementation. In addition, the divisional CEO will 
also formulate a broad succession plan to cover key 
positions within the division.

3.  A fast-tracking and formalised programme will be 
established for all businesses/divisions within ARB to 
improve the management diversity via an accelerated 
management training programme.

Remuneration consultants
In order to ensure remuneration is fair and market-
related, all elements of remuneration are subject to 
regular benchmarking exercises. At least every two years, 
the committee engages consultants to benchmark the 
remuneration of the four most senior executives and to 
provide input on recent trends. This was done in March 
2021 by Willis Towers Watson.

Achievement of stated objectives
The directors are of the view that pay, working conditions 
and well-considered performance measures linked to 
variable pay are strong drivers of culture and performance. 
The committee is confident that ARB’s remuneration 
policy is generally well-aligned to its strategy and to the 
interests of its stakeholders, and has contributed to ARB’s 
sustainability and resilience in what continues to be a 
challenging economic climate. Accordingly, it is satisfied 
that the remuneration objectives for the 2021 financial 
year were achieved.

The remuneration and nominations committee is 
committed to continued improvement and forward-
looking principles, more specifically:

  the board will again propose its remuneration policy, 
as well as the associated implementation report 
contained in the remuneration report, to two separate 
non-binding advisory votes at the AGM in November 
2021 and will engage with shareholders as necessary in 
the event of any significant dissenting votes on either; 

  the remuneration policy and framework will be 
regularly reviewed against market best practice and 
governance principles, and

  the committee will continue to assess the variable pay 
performance conditions.
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Remuneration in context of the group and the workforce

2021 2020 2019 2018

Total number of permanent employees 886 990 1 079 961
Total compensation to employees (R000’s) 264 790 241 238 257 585 225 070
Total compensation as % of revenue 9.1% 10.25% 9.5% 8.7%

For the general body of employees, ARB’s remuneration policies are designed to attract and retain high-calibre people 
and reward them fairly for their skills and performance in a happy and challenging work environment. Wherever possible, 
employees have the opportunity to receive short-term bonus awards. At executive director, executive committee and 
top senior management level, the remuneration policy is designed to:

 reflect the performance of the group and the relevant business units, and 
  incentivise these employees to act in the best interests of shareholders via performance measures that stress earnings 

growth and the returns earned by the business for which they are responsible. 

These measures are described in more detail later in this report.

While there are some union members in the group, there are no bargaining agreements in place. ARB endeavours to 
maintain positive day-to-day working relationships with unionised employees and to balance their right to industrial 
action with the right of the group to conduct its activities.

Employee  remuneration reviews are set by management based on an average level referenced to CPI, adjusted by 
circumstances in the prevailing economic environment. 

Internal and external factors that influence remuneration
In discharging its duties, the committee considers various factors, including general economic and business conditions; 
past and expected performance of the group and the business unit concerned; the inflation outlook; the employment 
market conditions; the business sector generally, and the pay gap that exists in the group. 

Section 2: The remuneration policy 

Short-term 
incentive

Deferred 
incentive

Cost-to-company/
guaranteed pay

STI DI

CTC

Section 1: Background statement

Over the years, ARB has refined its remuneration policies and practices in support of its aim to be a thriving, growing 
company, a major factor of which is the quality and motivation of its people. The group’s remuneration practices are 
in line with the King IV™ remuneration governance principles, and these principles underpin the achievement of its 
business objectives, its ethical culture and the fair reward of employees.

Employee compensation is the single largest component of the group’s operating expenses. During the 2021 financial 
year, employees received approximately 45% (2020: 60%) of the total wealth created by the group (see the value-added 
statement on page 12 of this integrated report). The table below provides further context to the significance to ARB of 
employee remuneration: 

ARB has adopted an integrated approach to remuneration 
strategy, in which remuneration components are aligned 
to strategic direction and financial returns. The group’s 
remuneration philosophy is to ensure that employees 
are rewarded appropriately for their contribution to the 
execution of the strategy of ARB.
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The remuneration policy has been designed to attract, 
engage, retain and motivate the appropriate diverse talent 
required to deliver sustainable growth and acceptable 
returns. The policy recognises and rewards individual 
responsibility, performance and behaviour towards the 
achievement of ARB’s goals. The policy is applicable to all 
employees, but participation in the executive incentive 
scheme is dependent on an individual’s role and level 
within the group.

The remuneration policy, and the implementation 
thereof, are focused on achieving a fair and sustainable 
balance between fixed guaranteed remuneration and 
incentives with delayed pay-outs, having regard for the 
employee’s responsibilities.

Some of the principles adopted by ARB to ensure fair 
and responsible remuneration include:

  equal pay for work of equal value, regardless of gender 
or race;

  where possible, employees enjoy the opportunity to 
receive short-term bonus awards;

  no long-term bonus structure;
  annual reviews of base salary determined after 

consideration of market conditions;
  up-skilling of lower paid employees;
  ensuring that the lowest paid staff are remunerated well 

above the minimum legislated wage requirements, 
and

  ensuring that all permanent employees have the 
opportunity to participate in benefits such as 
retirement funding, risk benefits and medical aid.

Determination of performance incentives
ARB has instituted various formal and informal frameworks 
for performance management that are directly linked 
to increases of fixed guaranteed remuneration and, at a 
general staff level, annual short-term incentive bonuses. 
Performance management and assessment sessions 
are held at least twice annually throughout the group, 
where business performance, personal achievement of 
key performance indicators and delivery on key strategic 
imperatives are discussed.

Overview of remuneration
ARB’s employees are critical to the achievement of the 
group’s strategic objectives. Many of the business-critical 
skills that are required are in short supply and ARB 
recognises the importance of attracting, developing and 
retaining the best people to deliver its business goals. 

Employee remuneration, and particularly guaranteed 
remuneration, is a significant component of the group’s 
total operating cost. Remuneration is structured to 
be sufficiently competitive and relevant in the sectors 
in which the group operates. Variable remuneration, 
which primarily affects more senior employees, has the 
advantage of serving as an automatic cost-reduction 
mechanism when returns are under pressure.

General employees’ remuneration
The total remuneration for general employees consists 
of guaranteed pay and benefits (fixed guaranteed 
remuneration) as well as a short-term bonus award. 
Sales staff are rewarded through commission based on 
a percentage of the gross margin they achieve, less a 
multiple of their salary to cover their fixed costs.

Fixed guaranteed remuneration is monitored 
and benchmarked by management, as required. 
Remuneration levels consider industries, sectors and 
geographies from which skills are acquired or to 
which skills are likely to be lost; the general market, 
and the market in which each business operates. The 
remuneration structures are designed to meet each 
business’s requirements and operational needs as well as 
its strategic objectives. 

General reviews of guaranteed pay are implemented on 
1 July of each year. Annual increase parameters are set 
using guidance from group budgeting processes; market 
movements; individual performance; the performance 
of the business, and any other relevant factors. Increases 
above inflation depend on the factors set out above. 
During the year ended 30 June 2021, the COVID-19 
pandemic had an impact on employee remuneration, 
with no general increases being awarded.

ARB pays short-term bonuses to staff members who 
are not on a commission or a profit-sharing scheme, 
comprising an annual bonus (if the company is 
profitable) equal to one month’s salary, split equally into 
three components: increased profitability of the business 
over target; individual performance and individual 
attendance. 

Other benefits include pension or provident fund 
membership; medical aid membership and an optional 
medical expense gap cover; death and disability 
insurance; funeral cover, and in appropriate cases travel 
allowances or the use of company-owned vehicles. ARB 
considers the provision of these benefits to be socially-
responsible employment practices. These benefits 
continue to be implemented, despite the pandemic.
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Executive and senior management  
remuneration
ARB’s remuneration policy is formulated to attract and 
retain high-calibre executives and to motivate them to 
develop and implement the group’s strategy to optimise 
long-term shareholder value. It also seeks to align the 
entrepreneurial ethos and long-term interests of the 

Fixed guaranteed pay Short-term incentives Retention structure Long-term incentive schemes

  Fixed guaranteed 
remuneration on  
a cost-to-company 
basis. 

  Set at levels that  
are responsible and 
competitive within 
the 25th to 50th 
percentiles of the 
relevant market.

  Measured against 
the past and 
expected future 
performance of each 
executive, inflation, 
and benchmarking 
against salary trends 
are used as a basis 
for remuneration 
reviews. 

  Other benefits 
include a provident 
fund with group life 
and disability 
insurance; funeral 
cover; medical aid 
membership; 
medical expense  
gap cover; and travel 
allowance (or, in 
some cases, the use 
of a company-owned 
vehicle). Providing 
these benefits is 
considered to be 
market competitive.

  Capped and earned through 
the achievement of 
demanding growth and  
return targets consistent  
with shareholder interests  
over the year. 

  Based on annual results:  
80% for the achievement of 
financial objectives and  
20% for the achievement of 
non-financial objectives.  
A portion of this is subject  
to delayed payment to 
facilitate retention.

  All executives and senior 
managers are eligible to 
receive a performance-related 
annual bonus. The bonus  
is non-contractual and  
not pensionable. The 
remuneration committee 
reviews bonuses annually and 
determines the level of each 
bonus based on performance 
criteria set at the beginning  
of the performance period.

  Short-term performance-
related remuneration for  
the group CEO, the group  
CFO and board members of 
operating subsidiaries is 
currently based primarily on  
a pre-determined level of 
operational profit before 
internal rentals received, 
interest, tax and IFRS-related 
items (wherever appropriate).

  Portions of the 
short-term bonus 
earned are held over 
to later dates to 
retain staff within 
the business.

There are no long-term 
incentive schemes in place.

executive directors and senior management with those of 
the shareholders, without materially affecting the equity 
stake of existing shareholders. Senior management 
remuneration policies place a significant portion of total 
remuneration at risk while not encouraging behaviour 
contrary to the group’s approach to risk management.

The executive and senior management remuneration policy is structured as follows:
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To ensure remuneration is market-related, both the fixed 
guaranteed pay and incentive elements of remuneration 
are subject to the benchmarking exercise conducted 
every second year. The committee believes that the 
remuneration policy aligns senior management’s 
interests with those of shareholders by promoting and 
measuring performance that drives shareholder wealth.

Service contracts of executives
Executives are appointed for an unspecified open-ended 
period, subject to ARB’s standard terms and conditions 
of employment, which provide for retirement at 
attainment of the age of 60, and which may be extended 
to 65 by agreement with the board. The notice period for 
executives is between one and six months. No contractual 
payments are due to any of the executives on termination 
of employment. No contractual payments are due in the 
event of a change of control of the company. The senior 
CEOs, who are Billy Neasham (Holdings), Blayne Burke 
(electrical division) and Peter Willig (lighting division) 
have restraints of trade agreements in place that apply 
for 12 months after termination of employment.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration
Non-executive directors are appointed to the board 
based on their specific skills and their ability to contribute 
competence, insight and appropriate experience to assist 
the group to achieve its objectives. These directors, who 
add significant value to ARB, are paid a retainer for their 
membership of the board and of board committees, and 
understand their duties and responsibilities and what is 
expected from them as non-executive directors.

The non-executive directors are paid an annual retainer 
(between 45% and 60% of total possible income) and 
an attendance fee for meetings attended. They do not 
participate in any of ARB’s incentive arrangements, 
although the group does pay for all travel and 
accommodation expenses incurred by directors to attend 
board and committee meetings.

The remuneration and nominations committee 
recommends the fees of the non-executive directors to 
the board for approval by the shareholders. Consideration 
has been given for the significant responsibility placed 
on non-executive directors and which recognises 
the progressively burdensome legal and regulatory 
requirements and the commensurate risks assumed. 

Benchmarking information of companies of similar size 
and complexity are factors considered when reviewing 
the annual fees. 

Voting and shareholder engagement
In order to actively promote fair, responsible and 
transparent remuneration and remuneration reporting, 
ARB encourages engagement with shareholders on 
remuneration-related matters. The remuneration policy 
as well as the implementation report will be tabled for 
two separate non-binding advisory votes by shareholders 
at the AGM. The committee will initiate shareholder 
engagement with dissenting shareholders, should 25% 
or more of the shareholders vote against either or both.

Most recent results of shareholder voting
At last year’s AGM held on 4 November 2020, the group’s 
remuneration policy received the support of 99.95% 
(2020: 99.66%) of shareholders who voted.

Section 3: Implementation of the  
remuneration policy

The group had no prescribed officers during the year 
under review. Prescribed officers are persons, not being 
directors, who either alone or in concert with others, 
exercise executive control and management over the 
whole or a significant portion of the business of the 
company.

During the year under review, no executive director’s 
employment or office was terminated, and no payments 
were made in this regard. An ex-gratia payment was 
made to Grant Scrutton in respect of the 2020 year. 

There was no deviation from the remuneration policy 
and the committee is satisfied that the remuneration 
policy achieved its objectives in the 2021 financial year.

Group CEO and group CFO remuneration for 2021
Executive directors’ remuneration for the year ended  
30 June 2021 are as follows:

Fixed remuneration

  Billy Neasham’s guaranteed remuneration for 2021 
was R3.9m (2020: R3.8m). 

  Grant Scrutton’s guaranteed remuneration for 2021 
was R2.8m (2020: R2.5m).
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Billy Neasham

Fixed
 remuneration

R’000s

Retirement
 fund

 contributions
R’000s

Other 
benefits

R’000s

Short-term
 incentive

 bonus
R’000s

Total
 remuneration

R’000s

2021 3 323 329 264 – 3 916

2020 3 240 281 247 – 3 768

Grant Scrutton

Fixed
 remuneration

R’000s

Retirement
 fund

 contributions
R’000s

Other 
benefits

R’000s

Short-term
 incentive

 bonus
R’000s

Total
 remuneration

R’000s

2021 2 016 380 181 250 2 827

2020 2 009 329 143 – 2 481

Annual short-term bonus
The following short-term incentive performance criteria and weightings, as determined by the remuneration committee, 
were used to calculate both Billy Neasham’s annual bonus, which amounted to R3.883m (2020: RNil), as well as  
Grant Scrutton’s, which amounted to R2.588m (2020: R250.000). 

Target
% of 

bonus Share Achieved

Bonus
 (R000’s)

2021 

Bonus
 (R000’s)

2020 

Billy Neasham Financial# 80 60% of pool 100% of target
Non-financial## 20 100% of target 3 883 –

Grant Scrutton Financial# 80 40% of pool 100% of target
Non-financial## 20 100% of target 2 588 250

Total 6 471 250

#	 	Financial	targets	are	set	by	the	remuneration	committee	on	a	sliding	scale	based	on	targeted	profit	levels	up	to	the	maximum	which	is	achieved	at	a	level	of	
the target + 30%.

##	 	Non-financial	targets	are	set	annually	at	the	discretion	of	the	remuneration	committee.

The non-executive directors’ fees for the period ended 30 June 2021 were as follows: 

R000’s Ralph Patmore Simon Downes James Dixon Theo Botha Total

2021 698 451 464 75 1 688

2020 665 400 426 – 1 491
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The non-executive directors’ fees were held constant from the year ended 30 June 2020 to the year ended  
30 June 2021. The reasons for the increase in aggregate pay were an increase in the number of meetings held in the 
current year, and the voluntary waiving of fees for the months of May and June 2020, which reduced the fees payable 
in the prior year. 

At ARB’s AGM, to be held on 15 November 2021, shareholders will be requested to approve the non-executive directors’ 
fees for the period beginning 1 July 2021, which are proposed to increase by 5% from the previous two years. 

Remuneration is proposed as follows:

Rand Ralph Patmore Simon Downes James Dixon Theo Botha

Year ending 30 June 2022
Retainer 426 200 206 900 206 900 206 400
Meetings chaired 34 100 20 500 20 500 20 500
Planned meetings attended 13 700 13 700 13 700 13 700

Ad hoc meetings attended 7 000 7 000 7 000 7 000

Year ended 30 June 2020
Retainer 405 900 197 000 197 000 –
Meetings chaired 32 500 19 500 19 500 –
Meetings attended 13 000 13 000 13 000 –

Remuneration of next three highest executives
The total remuneration for the year of the three highest paid employees who are not directors of the holding company 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 are set out below:

R000’s Basic Bonuses Total % increase

Employee 1 3 742 – 3 742 3.6
Employee 2 3 098 – 3 098 7.8
Employee 3 2 075 – 2 075 3.4

Total 9 545 – 9 545 2.3

Simon Downes
Remuneration and nominations committee chairman

18 August 2021
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I have pleasure in presenting the social and ethics 
committee report for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Members
The social and ethics committee comprises the following 
members:

  Simon Downes (chairman)
  James Dixon 
  Grant Scrutton 

In addition to the above, the group and senior operational 
CEOs, or their alternates, attend the social and ethics 
committee meetings by invitation. 

Role of the social and ethics committee
The committee is governed by a charter and its primary 
objective is to provide oversight on the impact which 
ARB’s activities have on the environment, consumers, 
employees, communities, stakeholders and all other 
members of the public, by recognising that the ultimate 
objective of managing organisational integrity is to build 
an ethical corporate culture. 

The specific responsibilities of the social and ethics 
committee include, inter alia:

  to build and sustain an ethical corporate culture in the 
group;

  to promote good corporate citizenship;
  to care for the environment, public health and safety, 

and particularly the impact thereon of ARB’s activities 
and of its products;

  to monitor the group’s labour and employment 
policies;

  to ensure that ARB’s code of conduct and ethics-
related policies are complied with, and

  to ensure compliance with the Employment Equity 
Amendment Act, 47 of 2013 and the B-BBEE Act, 53  
of 2003, and associated codes of good practice.

Activities and meetings of the social and  
ethics committee
During the year, the social and ethics committee 
considered or reviewed the following issues falling  
under its mandate. Some items on the list below 
continue to receive ongoing attention, and are therefore 
mentioned again:

  health and safety compliance levels (refer to page 53);
  the B-BBEE scorecards and transformation strategies 

(refer to page 50);
  the electrical division’s bursary scheme (refer to  

page 51);

  donations and CSI initiatives (refer to pages 44 to 48);
  ARB electrical division’s learnership programme (refer 

to page 51), and
  the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the 

employment and remunerations policies of the group.

ARB’s tip-off line was also reviewed during the year and 
was still deemed to be relevant and effective, providing 
an appropriate balance between encouraging effective 
reporting and discouraging malicious and frivolous 
reporting. Feedback in terms of calls received, via the 
tip-off line or directly with the internal auditor or human 
resources department, are reported on at each meeting. 
No calls of consequence were received this year.

The committee met twice this year in line with its 
mandate, with additional meetings convened as 
required – none were believed necessary during the 
year under review. Details of directors’ attendance at  
the meetings held during the year are set out on  
page 56 of the corporate governance report.

In accordance with King IV™, the board and committees 
are evaluated every second year. An evaluation was 
conducted during the prior reporting period as 
reported in the 2020 integrated report, with the board 
being satisfied that the committee had discharged its 
responsibilities.

Future areas of focus
The committee is focused on improving the ARB 
workplace and the environment in which the group 
operates. Specific focus areas for the next year are as 
follows:

  A continued emphasis on the development of black 
employees to increase the level of black management 
in the group. For more information on this, please 
refer to page 68 of the remuneration and nominations 
committee report. This committee will also have input 
into and oversight on this matter.

  Last year we spoke about enhancing health and safety 
training at every branch (including compliance with 
COVID-19 requirements). To this end, a third-party 
contractor was engaged to conduct an assessment on 
the group’s health and safety processes and training, 
and the findings will be used to close any gaps 
identified.

  An updated and combined code of ethical conduct 
will be rolled out to all employees through the health 
and safety training sessions. The code will also deal 
with the ethical treatment of whistle-blowers.
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  From an environmental perspective, even though the 
group has a low to zero impact on the environment, 
divisional CFOs have been tasked with monitoring 
water and electricity usage. The committee will also 
monitor the new EPR regulations. ARB will continue 
to work through industry PROs such as Lightcycle SA 
and SAFEhouse for the purposes of engaging with 
government and industry-related initiatives as outlined 
earlier in this integrated report (page 9). 

  Good governance principles in line with King IV™ and 
social initiatives are well-entrenched within the group, 
but will continue to be reviewed by this committee 
and other committees as per their mandate and 
overseen by the board.

Simon Downes
Social and ethics committee chairman

18 August 2021

Eurolux
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The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial 

control established by the group and place 
considerable importance on maintaining a strong 

control environment. To enable the directors 
to meet these responsibilities, the board sets 

standards for internal control aimed at reducing 
the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner.
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The directors are required by the Companies Act of South Africa to maintain adequate accounting records and are 
responsible for the content and integrity of the consolidated financial statements included in this report. It is their 
responsibility to ensure that these consolidated financial statements comply with IFRS as to form and content and 
present fairly the consolidated statement of financial position, results of operations and business of the group, and 
explain the transactions and financial position of the business of the group at the end of the financial year. The 
consolidated financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied throughout 
the group and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established 
by the group and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors 
to meet these responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss 
in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined 
framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. 
These controls are monitored throughout the group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical 
standards in ensuring the group’s business is conducted in a manner that is, in all reasonable circumstances, above 
reproach.

The focus of risk management in the group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk 
across the group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that 
appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined 
procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management and the internal 
auditors that the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied 
on for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can 
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. The going-concern basis 
has been adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Based on forecasts and available cash resources, 
the directors have no reason to believe that the group will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future. The 
consolidated financial statements support the viability of the group.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by the independent auditing firm, PKF Durban, who 
have been given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of 
shareholders, the board of directors and committees of the board. The directors believe that all representations made 
to the independent auditor during the audit were valid and appropriate. The independent auditor’s unqualified audit 
report is presented on page 85. The directors confirm that the company is in compliance with the Companies Act, 
specifically in relation to its incorporation, and is in conformity with its MOI.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the supervision of the group’s CFO,  
Grant Scrutton CA(SA). The consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 88 to 126 were approved by  
the board on 18 August 2021 and were signed on their behalf by:

      

Ralph Patmore William (Billy) Neasham
Chairman Group CEO

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL
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The directors, whose names appear below, hereby confirm that after due, careful and proper consideration:
i.  the annual financial statements set out on pages 88 to 126, fairly present in all material respects the financial 

position, financial performance and cash flow of the issuer in terms of IFRS;
ii.  no facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make these annual financial statements false 

or misleading;
iii.  internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that the material information relating to the issuer and 

its subsidiaries have been provided to effectively prepare the annual financial statements for the issuer; and
iv.  the internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied on in compiling the annual financial 

statements, having fulfilled our role and function within the combined assurance model pursuant to principle 15 
of King IV™.

Where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the audit committee and the auditors the deficiencies in design and 
operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls and any fraud that involves directors and have taken the 
necessary remedial action. 

 

William (Billy) Neasham Grant Scrutton
Group CEO Group CFO

18 August 2021

COMPANY SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE 

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the requirements as stated in section 88(2) of the Companies Act 
of South Africa, have been met and that all returns, as required of a public company in terms of the aforementioned  
Act, have been submitted to the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission and that such returns are true, 
correct and up to date.

Mario Louw
Company secretary

10 Mack Road
Prospecton
Durban

18 August 2021

CEO AND CFO RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
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The audit committee is pleased to submit its report for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 in terms of section 94(7)(f) of 
the Companies Act.

The audit committee has discharged its responsibilities in terms of its formal audit committee charter, which include the 
duties outlined in section 94(7) of the Companies Act. The committee is supported in this process by the risk committee, 
which monitors risk management and compliance activities.

The committee considered and satisfied itself that the independent auditors, PKF Durban, and the nominated audit partner, 
Tania Marti-Warren, are independent of the group.

At its various meetings held during the year, the audit committee is presented with information by the independent 
auditors, internal auditors and management, and based on this information the committee has come to the conclusion 
that nothing has come to its attention that would suggest that the group’s accounting practices and system of internal 
financial controls are not adequate or effective and do not form a basis for the presentation of reliable financial 
statements. 

The audit committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 with the 
assurance providers and management and is satisfied that they comply, in all material respects, with the requirements 
of the Companies Act and IFRS. This committee recommended that these consolidated financial statements should be 
approved by the board and distributed to the shareholders.

For further details regarding the audit committee, reference is made to the corporate governance report on page 62 of this 
integrated report.

On behalf of the audit committee

James Dixon
Audit committee chairman

18 August 2021
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1. Nature of business and operations
  ARB Holdings Ltd is a holding and investment company which owns investments in closely related trading and 

distribution businesses, as well as fixed property for letting. The various operations of the group are summarised 
below with the expanded explanation of the various businesses detailed in the operating divisions’ reviews in the 
integrated report. ARB’s operations comprise three main business segments, namely:

	    Electrical division
	    Lighting division
	    Corporate division

  ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd, together with its subsidiaries, is a majority owned subsidiary (74%), and is the 
group’s largest operating division. It is a black-empowered electrical wholesaler operating in southern and South 
Africa offering a wide range of locally manufactured and imported products including power and instrumentation 
cabling; OHL hardware and conductors; insulators; transformers and general electrical contracting materials. 
Clients range across large and heavy industry, parastatals, major construction groups, mining houses and electrical 
contractors. The subsidiary continues to expand its footprint by marketing through its Connect stores. 

  CraigCor Distribution Co (Pty) Ltd, a majority owned subsidiary (75%) of ARB Electrical Wholesalers, is the exclusive 
Rockwell automation distribution agent in Gauteng, Western Cape, Rustenburg, Namibia and Zambia and 
Honeywell in South Africa, Namibia and Zambia. 

  ARB Global (Pty) Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary, sells a range of locally manufactured and imported electrical 
products across South Africa’s borders. 

  Consolidated Electrical Distributor (Pty) Ltd (CED), a wholly owned subsidiary, is the distributor of low voltage 
products including the Horizon plugs and socket range in South Africa.

 Lighting Division
  Eurolux (Pty) Ltd, a majority owned subsidiary (60%), together with its wholly owned subsidiaries, the Radiant 

Group (Pty) Ltd and Cathay (Pty) Ltd, imports and distributes electrical light fittings, lamps and related electrical 
accessories mainly to retail and wholesale stores and principally in South Africa.

 Corporate Division
  Xact ERP Solutions (Pty) Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary, services the majority of the electrical division’s IT 

requirements and sells computer hardware and software support. 

  ARB Holdings Ltd also owns a property portfolio and rents these properties to certain of the group’s electrical 
branch operations. 

2. Management philosophy
  The group’s compliance with the King IV™ recommendations (and the JSE Listings Requirement 8.62(d))  

on corporate governance requirements of a unitary board led by an independent chairman are set out on  
page 55 to 58 of the integrated report. The board-approved strategy and direction are executed by the executive 
directors and the subsidiary boards. ARB adopts a hands-on approach to managing its subsidiaries. Each 
subsidiary is self-contained and has its own CEO or managing director and a full complement of financial and 
administration infrastructure. The ARB group CEO is, however, actively involved in the executive committees 
of all operations, with executive directors of the group actively controlling and participating on the boards of 
subsidiaries. The staffing levels, working capital and cash flow management is always a major focus of the group 
and is managed at the group CEO level with formal monthly reviews.
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3. Financial results
  This is the first year of results following the severe COVID-19 lockdown of the economy from April to June 2020. 

This period was all in the group’s previous year, which makes comparison between the years challenging. During 
the current year, there continued to be limited lockdowns, but these were “commerce friendly” and the group 
produced a record-breaking year. Some of this came from the catch-up of projects that could not be done during 
the longer 2020 COVID-19 lockdowns, some from a rising copper price, but much of it from making sure the group 
had the stock and the reduced team pulling together to make a plan.

  The group recognised a R13.7m fair value loss (2020: R33.0m gain) through profit and loss on the put option 
granted to the non-controlling interests (NCIs) of CraigCor and Eurolux. This primarily arose because the estimated 
strike price of the put option decreased in the year due to the combined effect of the decrease in (expected) 
earnings in the underlying business, the purchase of one of the options at a discount and increase in the weighted 
average ARB share price. It is probable that this fair value adjustment will continue to reverse in the near future 
resulting in material charges to profit and loss. 

 In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements do not require further comment. 

 A seven-year summary of the group’s earnings is presented on page 31.

4. Share capital
 Authorised share capital
  The authorised share capital amounts to R100 000, being 1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of 0.01 cents each. There 

were no changes to the authorised share capital during the year under review.

 Issued share capital
  The issued share capital amounts to R23 500, being 235 000 000 ordinary shares of 0.01 cents each. There 

were no changes to the issued share capital during the year under review. The unissued ordinary shares are not 
subject of a general authority granted to the directors in terms of the Companies Act (2008) and the JSE Listings 
Requirements. In terms of the company’s MOI this general authority remains valid only until the next AGM, which 
is to be held on 15 November 2021. Members will be requested at the meeting to consider an ordinary resolution 
placing the said ordinary shares under the control of the directors until the 2022 AGM.

5. Dividend
  The board has approved as a minimum, a 2.5 times dividend cover ratio, subject to any future funding requirements 

(such as Capex) and an informal policy to return excess cash to shareholders. Subsequent to the year-end, a final 
dividend was declared for the 2021 year which will be to shareholders in September 2021 of R100m (42.5 cents 
per share, comprising an ordinary dividend of 32.5 cents per share and a special dividend of 10.0 cents per share). 
The 2020 (COVID year) dividend was waived to retain cash within the group due to the significant uncertainty that 
existed at the time.

6. Directors
 The directors of the company during the year under review and to the date of this report are as follows:
 Ralph Patmore Independent non-executive chairman
 William (Billy) Neasham Managing director and group CEO 
 Theo Botha Non-executive director (appointed 6 April 2021) 
 Blayne Burke  Executive director (appointed 1 July 2021) 
 James Dixon Independent non-executive director 
 Simon Downes Independent non-executive director
 Grant Scrutton Financial director and group CFO 

 Directors’ remuneration is reported in note 22 (related parties).
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7.  Directors’ interest in contracts
  No material contracts in which directors have an interest were entered into during the year. All transactions with 

related parties are detailed in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

8. Directors’ shareholding in the issued share capital of the company

Shares (000’s)

Direct
 beneficially

Indirect
 beneficially

%
 held

2021
Simon Downes#* – 600 0.26
James Dixon#* 20 – 0.01
William Neasham (CEO) 4 862 75 2.10
Blayne Burke 77 – 0.03
Jason Burke** 71 – 0.03

5 030 675 2.43

2020
Simon Downes#* – 600 0.26
James Dixon#* 20 – 0.01
William Neasham (CEO) 4 862 75 2.10
Blayne Burke** 77 – 0.03
Jason Burke** 71 – 0.03

5 030 675 2.43

* Non-executive.
# Independent.
** Director of subsidiary, ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd.

  None of these shares have been encumbered or pledged as security. There have been no changes in the directors’ 
shareholdings between the year-end and the date of this report.

9. Borrowings
  The board has set the acceptable gearing level at interest-bearing debt of 43% of equity (effectively a 30% gearing 

ratio). The directors have established credit facilities with various financial institutions for use by the company  
and its subsidiary companies. The directors did not exceed any authorised levels of borrowings during the year 
under review.

10. Special resolutions
  The only special resolutions passed during the period were those passed at the AGM, and included in the 2021 

integrated report, giving directors general authority to repurchase up to 5% of the shares in the company; approving 
the non-executive directors’ remuneration and financial assistance of subsidiaries (in terms of sections 44 and 45 of 
the Companies Act). No shares were repurchased during the year. These resolutions will again be proposed at the 
forthcoming AGM.

11. Acquisitions
 There were no acquisitions during the year.

12. Ultimate holding company
 The group’s ultimate holding company is Burke Consolidated Holdings (Pty) Ltd.
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13. Commitments and subsequent events
  The duration and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the group’s customer base, as well as the effectiveness 

of government and central bank responses, still remain unclear at this time, although better than this time last 
year. While it is expected that trading operations and results may be negatively impacted in the future, it is not 
possible to reliably estimate the duration and severity of these ongoing consequences in ARB’s market, as well as 
the impact on the financial position and results of the group for future periods.

  The directors are not aware of any other material event or circumstance arising since the end of the reporting 
period and up until the date of this report, not otherwise disclosed in these consolidated financial statements 
which significantly affects the financial position, results or cash flows of the group.

 18 August 2021
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To the shareholders of ARB Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ARB Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the group) set 
out on pages 88 to 126, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, and the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of ARB Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021, and its consolidated financial performance 
and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS and the requirements of the Companies 
Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ 
Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to 
performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. 
The IRBA Code is consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
KAMs are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. 

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Valuation of put option liabilities
As disclosed in note 21, there are certain put option 
liabilities relating to the rights the NCIs of a subsidiary  
have to put their remaining shareholding to the group  
and the option exercise date has yet to be reached. The 
valuation of these financial instruments required the 
directors to make assumptions about future operating 
performance including:
 revenue growth;
 operating margins; and
  the discount rates applied to the projected future 

payment. 

The current economic climate and the COVID-19 induced 
uncertainty surrounding the future economic conditions 
increased the complexity of forecasting.

The fair value calculation is considered to be a KAM due  
to the extent of judgement and estimation required.

Our audit work involved the following:
  we analysed the future projected profits used in the 

model to determine whether the assumptions used 
were reasonable and supportable;

  we checked that the calculation of the liabilities was 
in line with the put option contract; and

  we subjected the key assumptions to sensitivity 
analyses.
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the document titled “ARB Holdings Limited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2021”, which 
includes the company secretary’s certificate, the audit committee statutory report and the directors’ report as required 
by the Companies Act of South Africa, and the CEO and CFO responsibility statement, which we obtained prior to the 
date of this report, and the document titled “ARB Holdings Limited Integrated Report 2021”, which is expected to be 
made available to us after that date. The other information does not include the consolidated or the separate financial 
statements and our auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s 
internal control. 

  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors. 
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  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the group 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 
PKF Durban has been the auditor of ARB Holdings Limited for 22 years.

PKF Durban
Partner: Tania Marti-Warren
Registered Auditor

18 August 2021

Durban
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Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

Revenue – comprising sales of merchandise 1 2 922 919 2 352 995
Cost of sales (2 171 570) (1 765 391)

Gross profit 751 349 587 604
Other income 16 805 10 912
Selling, administration and distribution costs (473 331) (452 620)

Operating profit before put option and impairment adjustments 294 823 145 896
Impairments of trademarks and goodwill – (66 447)
Impairments of land and buildings 2/9 (10 540) (9 559)
Put option liability fair value adjustment 21 (13 700) 33 003

Profit before interest and tax 2 270 583 102 893
Interest received 4 19 880 16 628
Interest paid 5 (14 507) (12 854)

Profit before tax 275 956 106 667
Tax 6 (64 551) (13 352)

Profit for the year 211 405 93 315

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified into profit or loss
Revaluation of property 7 3 580 (6 085)
Tax of other comprehensive income 7/11 (2 364) 1 636

Total other comprehensive income 7 1 216 (4 449)

Total comprehensive income 212 621 88 866

Profit for the year attributable to:
NCIs 20 001 9 472
ARB ordinary shareholders 191 404 83 843

211 405 93 315

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
NCIs 20 001 9 472
ARB ordinary shareholders 192 620 79 394

212 621 88 866

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 8.1 81.45 35.68
Dividends per share (cents) 8.3 – 25.00

  Ordinary dividend 8.3 – 25.00
  Special dividend 8.3 – –
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Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 508 752 429 587
Right-of-use (ROU) assets 18 60 867 69 817
Goodwill and intangible assets 10 10 000 10 000
Deferred tax 11 24 069 19 480

603 688 528 884

Current assets
Inventory 12 588 129 599 412
Trade and other receivables 13 495 871 353 679
Cash and cash equivalents 14 345 242 151 956

1 429 242 1 105 047

Non-current assets held for sale 15 20 000 –

Total assets 2 052 930 1 633 931

Equity and liabilities
Equity and reserves
Share capital and premium 16 116 174 116 174
Revaluation reserve 17 71 945 70 729
Accumulated profits 1 047 522 856 119

Attributable to ARB ordinary shareholders 1 235 641 1 043 022
NCIs 128 795 137 394

1 364 436 1 180 416

Non-current liabilities
IFRS 16: Lease Obligations 18 61 017 64 513
Long-term loans 19 80 386 –
Put option liability 21 6 200 4 000
Deferred tax 11 16 054 28 004

163 657 96 517

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 429 670 260 009
Short-term loans 19 24 671 38 753
Short-term IFRS 16: Lease Obligations 18 11 522 15 898
Tax payable 26.2 6 974 2 338
Put option liability 21 52 000 40 000

524 837 356 998

Total equity and liabilities 2 052 930 1 633 931
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at 30 June 2021

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION



Note

Share 
capital and

 premium
R000’s

Revaluation
 reserve
R000’s

Accumulated
 profits
R000’s

Equity
 attributable 

to ARB
 ordinary

 shareholders
R000’s

Non-
 controlling 

interests
R000’s

Total
R000’s

Balance at 30 June 2019 116 174 75 178 831 026 1 022 378 131 172 1 153 550
Total comprehensive 
income for the year – (4 449) 83 843 79 394 9 472 88 866

Profit for the year – – 83 843 83 843 9 472 93 315
Other comprehensive 
income 7 – (4 449) – (4 449) – (4 449)

Dividends – – (58 750) (58 750) (3 250) (62 000)

Balance at 30 June 2020 116 174 70 729 856 119 1 043 022 137 394 1 180 416
Total comprehensive 
income for the year – 1 216  191 404 192 620 20 001 212 621

Profit for the year – – 192 620 192 620 20 001 212 621
Other comprehensive 
income 7 – 1 216 (1 216) – – –

Dividends – – – – (28 600) (28 600)

Balance at 30 June 2021 116 174 71 945 1 047 523 1 235 642 128 795 1 364 437

Notes 16 17 SoFP SoFP SoFP SoFP
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Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

Cash generated by operating activities 26.1 356 285 135 391
Interest received 16 484 16 466
Interest paid (3 248) (3 618)
Dividends paid (28 600) (62 000)
Income tax paid 26.2 (78 818) (40 363)

Net cash generated by operating activities 262 103 45 876

Cash flows from investing activities
Property, plant and equipment acquired  (32 170) (51 918)
Proceeds on disposals of property, plant and equipment 26.3 6 064 7 956
Repayment of put option liability 21 – (2 277)

Net cash utilised in investing activities (26 106) (46 239)

Net cash from financing activities
Repayments of lease liabilities 18 (20 440) (28 474)
Repayment of loans 26.4 (22 271) (97)

Net cash utilised in financing activities (42 711) (28 571)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 193 286 (28 934)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 14 151 956 180 890

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14 345 242 151 956
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 



Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

1. Revenue
Revenue from contracts with customers
  Sale of merchandise 2 922 919 2 352 995

Electrical division 2 187 931 1 743 133
Lighting division 778 721 674 871
Corporate division 67 541 61 545
Inter-segment sales (111 274) (126 554)

Disaggregated sales by segment 2 922 919 2 352 995

Disaggregated revenue from products
Cable 1 076 687 698 943
Overhead line 234 867 288 584
Lighting 696 730 616 983
General products 914 635 748 485

Disaggregated revenue by products 2 922 919 2 352 995

Disaggregation of revenue from customers
Wholesale 420 561 278 561
Retail 407 685 325 147
Cash 488 808 433 852
Mining and industry 1 202 166 928 350
Exports 196 453 145 868
Other 207 246 241 217

Disaggregated revenue by customer type 2 922 919 2 352 995

There are no outstanding performance obligations at year-end.

2. Profit before interest and tax
Profit before interest and tax is arrived at after taking into account the 
following items which are not disclosed elsewhere in these financial 
statements:
Income
Excess of contingent consideration taken to profit – 2 124
Profit on sale of plant and equipment 3 454 –
Exchange rate profits on foreign exchange 4 459 3 633
Profit on recognition of right-of-use asset – 249
Expenditure
Auditors’ remuneration 2 056 1 734
Auditors for other services and adjustments for prior year 35 86
Impairments 10 540 76 006

Goodwill impaired – 7 947
Trademarks impaired – 58 500
Land and buildings impaired 9 10 540 8 666
ROU assets impaired 18 – 893

Short-term lease rentals 829 890
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 26.1 – 326
Dividends paid to derecognised NCI now expensed 283 3 670
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2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

3. Staff costs
Short-term employee benefits 225 120 197 027
Contributions to defined contribution retirement funds 10 972 16 086
Other employment benefits 16 306 14 643
Retrenchment cost (reversed)/provided (2 334) 6 435
Other staff costs 16 347 7 047

266 411 241 238

  Staff costs include key management personnel (as defined in note 22) and exclude directors’ remuneration  
(note 22). There are no prescribed officers.

 Short-term employee benefits comprise salaries, commissions and bonuses paid.

  Other employment benefits comprise travel allowances, fringe benefits on the use of company vehicles and 
contributions to medical aid funds. Other staff costs comprise accruals raised but not paid in respect of the liability 
for bonuses, as well as staff training and related expenditure.

 Employee benefits
	 Contributions	to	defined	contribution	plan
  It is the policy of the group to provide retirement benefits to all its employees. A number of defined contribution 

provident and pension funds, all of which are governed by the Pensions Fund Act of 1956, exist for this purpose. 
These include the Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund, Investment Solutions, Liberty Corporate Provident Fund 
and Momentum Funds at Work. All the schemes are funded by group contributions, which are charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income as they are incurred. 

Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

4. Interest received
Financial institutions 12 368 8 184
Finance lease receivables 484 162
Trade receivables 7 028 8 282

19 880 16 628

5. Interest paid
Unwinding of ROU lease liability 18 (7 547) (8 956)
Unwinding of put option liability discount to present value 21 (500) (280)
Financial institutions (4 823) –
Related parties 22 (1 637) (3 618)

(14 507) (12 854)
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Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

6. Tax
SA normal tax
 Current tax 26.2 (83 563) (38 538)
 Prior years 26.2 109 145
Deferred tax
 Current year temporary differences 11 16 462 25 041
 Prior year temporary difference adjustments 11 2 441 –

Tax for the year (64 551) (13 352)

2021
%

2020
%

SA normal tax rate 28.00 28.00
Adjusted for:
Exempt income
 Change in put option liability carrying value 2.44 (8.66)
 Other – (0.63)
Expenses not deductible
 Goodwill write-off not deductible – 2.09
 IFRS asset impairments not deductible – 2.35
 NCI dividends expensed – 0.99
 Other (1.43) 0.06
Tax loss utilised (4.62) (10.64)
Special allowances (1.00) (1.04)

Effective rate of tax 23.39 12.52

  The group has estimated income tax losses of R34.0m (2020: R80.2m) and capital losses of R10.1m (2020: R10.1m), 
available for offset against future taxable income and capital gains in the specific companies. These amounts 
exclude assessed losses utilised to create deferred tax assets.

Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

7. Total other comprehensive income
Revaluation of land (24 330) (1 200)
Devaluation/(revaluation) of buildings 27 910 (4 885)

9 3 580 (6 085)

Tax on revaluation of land 5 450 269
Tax on revaluation of buildings (7 814) 1 367

Total deferred tax 11 (2 364) 1 636

Total other comprehensive income 1 216 (4 449)

The tax charge in respect of land is calculated at the effective capital gains tax (CGT) rate.
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8. Earnings and dividends per share
 There are no instruments that have a dilutive impact on the shares in issue:

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

8.1 Basic and diluted earnings per share
Basic earnings as disclosed 191 404 83 843
Weighted number of shares 235 000 235 000
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 81.45 35.68

8.2 Headline earnings per share (HEPS) (undiluted and diluted) 

Gross Tax
NCI’s 

share Net

2021
Basic earnings as disclosed 191 404 – – 191 404
Impairment of land and buildings 10 540 (2 951) – 7 589
Deferred tax not taken on prior revaluations – (2 513) – (2 513)
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (3 432) 961 (162) (2 636)

Headline earnings 198 512 (4 503) (162) 193 847

Undiluted and diluted headline earnings per share (cents) – – – 82.49

2020
Basic earnings as disclosed 83 843 – – 83 843
Impairment of Eurolux trademarks 58 500 (16 380) – 42 120
Impairment of land and buildings 8 666 – – 8 666
Impairment of CraigCor goodwill 7 947 – (2 066) 5 881
Impairment of ROU assets 893 (250) (167) 476
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 326 (91) (126) 109
Profit on recognition of right-of-use asset (249) 70 – (179)

Headline earnings 159 926 (16 651) (2 359) 140 916

Undiluted and diluted headline earnings per share (cents) – – – 59.96

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

8.3 Dividends per share
Dividends declared and paid during the year – 58 750
Number of shares – 235 000

Dividends per share (cents) – 25.00

Ordinary dividend per share (cents) – 25.00
Special dividend per share (cents) – –

   No dividend was declared for the 2020 year to preserve cash in the group to protect against the uncertainties 
at the time. The final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2021 payable September 2021 of 42.5 cents per 
share has only been declared after the year-end, so it has not been included as a liability in these financial 
statements.
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9. Property, plant and equipment

Cost/
 valuation

2021
R000’s

Accumulated
 depreciation

 and 
 impairment

2021
R000’s

Carrying 
value
2021

R000’s

Cost/
valuation

2020
R000’s

Accumulated
 depreciation

2020
R000’s

Carrying 
value
2020

R000’s

Land 158 344 – 158 344 155 119 – 155 119
Buildings 270 590 4 949 265 641 178 503 3 496 175 007
Plant and equipment 56 080 18 672 37 409 53 464 17 180 36 284
Vehicles 46 610 20 902 25 708 45 868 18 866 27 002
Furniture and equipment 18 278 10 343 7 935 18 793 9 945 8 848
Computer equipment 24 681 10 965 13 716 11 751 7 587 4 164
Capital work in progress – – – 23 163 – 23 163

Total property, plant 
and equipment 574 583 65 831 508 752 486 661 57 074 429 587

 The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:

Carrying
 value 
at the 

 beginning
 of the

 year
R000’s

Addition 
R000’s

Transfer*

R000’s

Impair-
ments

R000’s

Dis-
posals 

R000’s

Depre-
ciation 
R000’s

Reva-
luations**

R000’s

Carrying
 value at 
the end 

of the 
year

 R000’s

2021
Land 155 119 33 211 (3 000) (2 656) – – (24 330) 158 344
Buildings 175 007 55 702 16 359 (7 884) – (1 453) 27 910 265 641
Plant and equipment 36 284 4 858 – – (764) (2 970) – 37 409
Vehicles 27 002 4 455 – – (1 761) (3 988) – 25 708
Furniture and equipment 8 848 1 898  – – (76) (2 735) – 7 935
Computer equipment 4 164 13 018 – – (9) (3 457) – 13 716
Capital work in progress 23 163 7 603 (30 766) – – – – –

Total property, plant  
and equipment 429 587 120 745 (17 407) (10 540) (2 610) (14 603) 3 580 508 752

*  This net transfer of property, plant and equipment of R17.4m represents two properties sold, but which titles had not been registered by the year-end and 
are disclosed, with their accrued profit of R2.6m as “Non-current assets held for sale” – refer to note 15 below.

**  These are the net of revaluations of the existing property portfolio. Four properties were devalued (but still valued above cost) by R4.1m and seven  
properties revalued by R3.9m. The difference in revaluation between land and buildings is driven by a new valuers assessment of land value, which is  
only used for accounting purposes.
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Carrying
 value 
at the 

 beginning
 of the

 year
R000’s

Additions 
R000’s

Transfer 
R000’s

Impair-
ments

R000’s

Dis-
posals 

R000’s

Depre-
ciation 
R000’s

Reva-
luations

R000’s

Carrying
 value at 
the end 

of the 
year

 R000’s

2020
Land 151 949 1 902 2 468 – – – (1 200) 155 119
Buildings 196 488 – (6 352) (8 666) (731) (847) (4 885) 175 007
Plant and equipment 18 685 22 852 – – (3 117) (2 136) – 36 284
Vehicles 27 992 5 920 – – (3 702) (3 208) – 27 002
Furniture and equipment 12 328 934 – – (458) (3 956) – 8 848
Computer equipment 5 440 1 031 – – (274) (2 033) – 4 164
Capital work in progress – 19 279 3 884 – – – – 23 163

412 882 51 918 – (8 666) (8 282) (12 180) (6 085) 429 587

  A register of land and buildings is available to shareholders at the registered office of the company. There are no 
restrictions to the title, nor are any pledged as security. Capital commitments are set out in note 24.1 below. There 
were no sales of properties during the year, so all valuation adjustments are “unrealised”. If the cost model had 
been applied, the carrying value of the land would have been R108.0m (2020: R77.8m) and the buildings would 
have been R216.0m (2020: R172.2m). 

  The company has a “call option” to acquire the property held by a company controlled by certain key management 
of one of the subsidiary companies (Eurolux) for cash at externally appraised market value at date of exercise of the 
option. Under this call option the group has the right, but not the obligation, to acquire the property.

  The fair value of land and buildings is determined by a full site visit valuation every three years and, in the intervening 
years, are updated annually, using desktop valuations, by the independent professionally qualified valuator, Marius 
Groenewald (Pr Val Reg No 5047, M.I.V.S.A.; MRICS) of Valquest Property Valuers & Consultants, who has 20 years’ 
valuation experience and has recent experience in the locations and categories of land and buildings being  
valued. These full fair value valuations were determined at 30 May 2021 using the income method based on  
market-related rentals. 

  This involved estimating the future net annual income of the properties and capitalising this at an appropriate 
capitalisation rate. In estimating the fair value of the land and buildings, the highest and best use is their current 
use. Land is valued, for accounting purposes only, using the “comparable” method. There has been no change 
in the valuation technique to that used during the prior full valuation. The fair value measurement of land and 
buildings has been classified at a level 3 (2020: level 3). There were no transfers between fair value levels 1, 2 or 3 
during the year. Capital commitments are set out in note 24.1. 
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9. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
  The valuer again considered the effect of COVID-19 on these valuations and in light of this, the prior year rental rates 

decreased significantly as he determined them in the market and the current capitalisation rates being achieved 
in the properties specific locations. The significant key assumptions used in the fair valuer measurement are  
as follows:

2021 2020

Material assumptions
Average capitalisation rate 10.47% 11.31%
Average rental income per square metre R349 R360
Average cost ratio 20.19% 29.78%

  If the average capitalisation rate changed by 0.50% upwards or downwards then the fair value adjustment to the 
portfolio carrying value would have decreased by R15.1m (2020: R7.8m) and increased by R16.6m (2020: R9.1m) 
respectively.

  If the average rental per square metre was increased by 5% upwards or downwards, the fair value adjustment 
to the portfolio carrying value would have increased by R26.7m (2020: R13.4m) and decreased by R25.8m  
(2020: R12.8m) respectively. 

  If the average cost ratio changed by 2.00% upwards or downwards then the fair value adjustment to the portfolio 
carrying value would have decreased by R8.4m (2020: R5.0m) and increased by R8.1m (2020: R5.4m) respectively.

10. Goodwill and intangible assets

Cost
2021

R000’s 

Accumulated
 impairment

2021
R000’s

Carrying
 value

2021
R000’s

Cost
2020

R000’s 

Accumulated
 impairment

2020
R000’s

Carrying
 value
2020

R000’s

Group
Goodwill 17 947 (7 947) 10 000 17 947 (7 947) 10 000
Trademarks 58 500 (58 500) – 58 500 (58 500) –

76 447 (66 447) 10 000 76 447 (66 447) 10 000

 The carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets can be reconciled as follows:

Carrying
 value at the

beginning of
 the year

2021
R000’s 

Impairment/
amortisation

2021
R000’s

Carrying
 value at the 

end of the year
2021

R000’s

2021
Goodwill – CraigCor 10 000 – 10 000

2020
Trademark – Eurolux brand 58 500 (58 500) –
Goodwill – CraigCor 17 947 (7 947) 10 000

76 447 (66 447) 10 000
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  None of these intangibles have been pledged, have contractual commitments or whose title is restricted. Goodwill 
is allocated to the cash-generating units (CGU) being the business operations of the operating company CraigCor 
Distribution Co (Pty) Ltd.

  In assessing their recoverable amount, intangible assets have been valued on a value-in-use basis as stated in 
note 29.3. Impairment tests relating to the Eurolux trademark was conducted as a single CGU on the business 
of Eurolux. Impairments are presented as a separate line on the face of the SoCI. The impairment losses were 
recognised due to the recoverable amount being adversely impacted by pressure on the projected future gross 
margins resulting from the COVID-19 induced anticipated tougher retail market conditions ahead.

  As set out in the accounting policies, impairments are assessed using the discounted cash flow basis. Cash 
flows are estimated over five years, where after an in-perpetuity growth is estimated. In performing the  
cash flow projections, management has based its key assumptions on their best view of the “new normal” post  
COVID-19. Guidance was taken from macro-economic forecasts published on expected growth rates (standardised 
on the Investec forecasts) and management’s best judgement as to the expected results and cash flows of the next 
few years, in COVID-19 circumstances that make this very challenging. The impairment loss was recognised due 
to the recoverable amount of the CraigCor and Eurolux CGUs being adversely impacted. Key assumptions used in  
the projections are: 

CGU
Discount rate*

%
Growth rate

%

Terminal 
growth rate

%

Growth rate 
required**

for write off
%

2021
CraigCor 16.9 7.4 3.0 2.4

2020
CraigCor 16.4 7.0 3.0 21.15***

* The discount rate is determined by calculating the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) and adjusting for CGU specific business risks. 
**  The discounted cash flows are most sensitive to changes in the growth rate. A 1% change in the discount rate, growth rate and terminal growth rate 

would not have a significant impact on the recoverable amount and would not result in an impairment of the carrying value.
*** In the prior year the discounted cash flow was most sensitive to changes in the discount rate. 

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

11. Deferred tax
Opening carrying value (8 524) (35 900)
Movements during the year attributable to:
Revaluation of land and buildings 2 823 1 636
Intangible assets – 16 380
Property, plant and equipment (4 938) (3 418)
 Adjustment to prior year 2 514 –
Arising on IFRS 16: Leases adoption in retained earnings – 699
ROU asset and liability timing differences 302 2 267
Assessed loss asset on the balance sheet 3 180 8 504
Staff accruals 12 658 1 308

Carrying value at the end of the year 8 015 (8 524)
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Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

11. Deferred tax (continued)
The carrying value comprises:
Revaluation of land and buildings (18 668) (21 491)
Property, plant and equipment (12 604) (10 180)
ROU asset and liability timing differences 3 268 2 966
Assessed loss asset on the balance sheet 11 684 8 504
Staff accruals 24 335 11 677

8 015 (8 524)

Deferred tax asset 24 069 (28 004)
Deferred tax liability (16 054) 19 480

8 015 (8 524)

Balance at 1 July (8 524) (35 900) 
Current year timing differences 6 16 462 25 041
Adjustment to prior timing differences 6 2 441 –
IFRS 16 adoption – 699
Included in other comprehensive income 7 (2 364) 1 636

Balance at year-end 8 015 (8 524)

  Subsidiaries of the group have estimated deferred tax assets of R9.5m (2020: R22.4m) that have not been recognised 
due to the uncertainty regarding the probability that future taxable profit will be available to utilise these losses.

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

12. Inventory
Merchandise for resale 652 613 659 863
Allowance for impairment (64 484) (60 451)

588 129 599 412

  Inventory has been valued as stated in note 30.5, which includes the effect of COVID-19. Management assessed the 
impact of COVID-19 on the net realisable value of inventory and, because of the long shelf life, low technological 
obsolesce and the low stock holding levels, the increase in the inventory provision as a result COVID-19 was  
not material. There is a general notarial bond registered over the Eurolux (Pty) Ltd inventory with a book value  
of R279.6m (2020: R329.6m) which has been pledged to Nedbank for security for their general banking facility of 
R50m. This facility was not utilised at year-end. No other inventory has been pledged as security.

100

for the year ended 30 June 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued) 



Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

Impairment allowance
Allowance for impairment in respect of inventory can be 
reconciled as follows:
Opening carrying value (60 451) (59 366)
Increase in impairment allowance recognised  
in cost of sales 26.1 (7 420) (10 570)
Utilised to write off stock 3 387 9 485

Closing carrying value (64 484) (60 451)

Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

13. Trade and other receivables
Gross trade receivables 494 479 355 986
Expected credit loss allowance (4 733) (4 843)
Provision for credit notes (9 319) (9 661)

Net trade and other receivables 480 427 341 482
Deposits 1 785 2 301
Other receivables 2 425 2 696

Financial instruments 484 637 346 479
Prepayments and VAT refundable 11 234 7 200

495 871 353 679

The carrying value of trade and other receivables approximated their 
fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

Expected credit loss allowance
The allowance can be reconciled as follows:
Opening carrying value (4 843) (2 720)
Provision utilised 229  1 922
New allowance raised 26.1 (119) (4 045)

Closing carrying value (4 733) (4 843)
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13. Trade and other receivables (continued)
  The following table illustrates the relationship between aged gross trade receivables and the impairment allowance:

Gross
 carrying
 amount 

2021
R000’s

Estimated
 lifetime

 ECL
 2021

R000’s

ECL %
2021

R000’s

Net
2021

R000’s

Gross
 carrying
 amount 

2020
R000’s

Estimated
 lifetime

 ECL
 2020

R000’s

ECL %
2020

R000’s

Net
2020

R000’s

Not past due 413 692 (1 287) 0.30 412 405 291 310 (1 515) 0.52 289 795
Past due 1 to 30 days 54 646 (880) 1.61 53 766 18 432 (156) 0.84 18 276
Past due 31 to 60 days 9 589 (612) 6.38 8 977 20 290 (1 016) 5.00 19 274
Past due 61 to 90 days 3 663 (102) 3.27 3 561 8 404 (781) 9.29 7 623
Past due 91 days plus 3 570 (1 852) 51.88 1 718 7 889 (1 375) 17.42 6 514

485 160 (4 733) 0.98 480 427 346 325 (4 843) 1.39 341 482

Electrical
2021

%

Lighting
2021

%

Electrical
Insured

2020
% 

Electrical
Uninsured

2020
%

Lighting
2020

%

Estimated aggregated credit  
loss rates as follows:
Not past due 0.54 0.03 1.14 0.40 0.04
Less than 30 days past due 3.89 0.14 4.34 1.69 0.23
31 to 60 days past due 12.67 0.24 5.92 2.25 0.42
61 to 90 days past due 23.28 0.34 6.25 2.64 0.68
91+ days past due 100.00 0.80 6.57 2.82 2.27

  Trade receivables inherently expose the group to credit risk, being the risk that the group will incur financial loss if 
customers fail to make payments as they fall due. The estimated credit loss (ECL) allowance was calculated based 
on the year-end receivables’ age analysis, based on the past due status. In the current year, for the electrical division, 
the directors reassessed the risk profile as a result of the insurance companies having reduced their coverage 
percentages, and are now of the opinion that the insured and uninsured customers can be viewed collectively as 
they are considered to have a similar risk profile. Had the same approach been followed in the prior year the effect 
on the ECL rates would have been immaterial.

  The gross trade receivables are spread across the following wide customer categories: government; parastatals; 
municipalities; large industry/mining sector; large contractors; small contractors; wholesalers; export customers; 
and retail and hardware chains. These diverse trade receivable balances reduce the group’s overall exposure 
to credit risk. Interest is charged on some of the overdue accounts. The last three years have been an adverse 
risk period and insurers have experienced adverse loss ratios. As a result, insurers have increased premiums and 
reduced cover percentages. 

  The full effects of COVID-19 have not been experienced yet, as many companies have used cash flows from 
reductions in working capital to fund operating expenditure and will not have the financial capacity to restart 
operations. Subsequent to the start of COVID-19, insurance companies have also aggressively reduced debtors 
(insured) limits, often resulting in the group taking on additional “own risk” credit in excess of the insurance limits to 
maintain sales levels to these customers. This is only done by employees authorised to do so in terms of the board’s 
strict delegation of authority levels. No benefit from government assistance has been obvious in our industry and 
no cognisance of this has been taken in exercising our judgement. 
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  While the group holds personal or related party sureties for R120.7m (2020: R94.0m) of the receivables at year-end, 
reliance is placed on credit insurance as the primary credit protection basis. Most receivables are insured except 
government; parastatals; accounts less than R200 000 (2020: R200 000) or where management have given more 
credit than the insurers will allow. R5.2m (2020: R2.7m) of insurance recoveries have been netted off the ECL 
impairment provision of the insured debtor’s book at year-end. 

  As at the year-end, R101.9m (2020: R94.0m) of trade receivables were not covered by credit insurance. Credit 
evaluations are performed, using the reports and tools of credit vetting agencies amongst other things, on new 
customers, those experiencing payment problems and existing customers requiring credit above their previously 
authorised levels. 

  Listings of overdue customer balances are reviewed daily and any customers exceeding their credit must settle 
their overdue balances before any further credit is extended. Overdue trade receivables are handed over to insurers 
or attorneys for collection as soon as it becomes apparent that recovery may be uncertain. As at the year-end 
contractual trade receivables of R10.5m (2020: R15.6m) were written off during the year but are still subject to 
enforcement activity. The credit risk in respect of other receivables is considered by the directors to be minimal as 
it relates to transactions with major corporations within the Republic of South Africa. 

  Forward-looking ECL adjustments are based on externally observable data and future economic views of Investec 
Bank and includes the number of liquidations, gross fixed capital formation, GDP growth, inflation, CPI, etc. The 
COVID-19 pandemic has put liquidity pressure on many of our contractor customers and, at present, there is very 
limited visibility on the timing of any future recovery in the construction economy and consequently the group 
has adjusted the historic credit loss rates in the ECL provision matrix to cater for these anticipated future liquidity 
pressures. 

  Other receivables and deposits consist of a variety of items which are not material both individually and in 
aggregate. ECL impairments of these are also immaterial. 

  The group has ceded its debtors to Nedbank to secure banking facilities. Facility and utilisation levels are set out in 
note 14 below.

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

14. Cash and cash equivalents
Money market instruments 286 453 106 466
Bank balances and call deposits 58 789 45 490

345 242 151 956

  Money market instruments are collective investments in various cash and cash equivalent investments with a  
24-hour liquidity, mainly the NedGroup Core Income Fund R259.1m (2020: R106.2m), Investec Money Market funds 
R0.2m (2020: R0.2m) and Nedbank Deposit Notes R27.0m (2020: R11.5m). Fair value approximates the carrying 
amount due to the short-term nature of these investments.

  The group has banking facilities with Nedbank Ltd of R261m. Of this facility, R50.0m (2020: R56.6m) was utilised at 
30 June 2021; R9.7m for guarantees (2020: R45.0m); R16.3m for letters of credit (2020: R8.6m); R23.4m for supply 
chain finance (2020: R2.5m); RNil for overdraft facilities (2020: RNil); and R0.6m for the “marked” percentage of 
forward exchange contracts (2020: R0.4m). Refer to note 2.2 (liquidity risk). 
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2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

15. Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Eurolux property 20 000 –

  The group has entered into a sale agreement for two properties for R20m, comprising Erf 445 and 446 Wynberg 
measuring 4 500 m2. Transfer is expected to take place in the next 12 months. 

  These properties are included in total assets of the lighting segment per the segment report disclosed in note 25.

  The unrealised fair value gain of R2.4m has been recognised in the line item “revaluation of property” included in 
profit and loss.

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

16. Share capital and premium
Authorised
1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of 0.01 cents each 100 100

Issued
235 000 000 ordinary shares of 0.01 cents 24 24
Share premium 116 150 116 150

116 174 116 174

  Ordinary shareholders are entitled to equal voting rights per share at shareholder meetings and to receive equal 
dividends per share. There are no restrictions attaching to these shares. There are no limitations on the payment 
of dividends and the repayment of capital. There are no share option schemes so no shares have been reserved 
for share option schemes. There are no treasury shares repurchased by the group. The directors are authorised, 
until the forthcoming AGM, to issue and allot 5% of the unissued shares for any purpose and upon such terms and 
conditions as they deem fit.

Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

17. Reserves
Revaluation reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year 70 729 75 178
Revaluation for the year 7 3 580 (6 085)
Less deferred tax thereon 7/11 (2 364) 1 636

Balance at the end of the year 71 945 70 729

  The revaluation reserve is a reserve that represents the amount by which land and buildings have been revalued. 
There are no restrictions on the distribution of this reserve.
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Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

18. Leases
Impact on the statements of financial position
ROU assets – premises
Opening carrying value 69 817 –
ROU assets on initial recognition on 1 July 2019 – 89 218
Additions 8 127 5 041
Derecognition of ROU asset and recognition of finance  
lease receivable (2 630) (1 921)
Depreciation and impairments 26.1 (14 447) (22 521)

60 867 69 817

Lease liabilities
Opening carrying value 80 411 –
Right-of-use liabilities on initial recognition – 94 888
Additions 8 127 5 041
Reduction of ROU liability against asset on re-measurement (2 630) –
Derecognition of ROU lease (476) –
Finance costs 5 7 547 8 956
Lease payments SoCF (20 440) (28 474)

72 539 80 411

Long-term 61 017 64 513
Short-term 11 522 15 898
Lease straight-line liability – –

 The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 23.2.

 Leasing activities
  The group has entered into a number of lease agreements in respect of fixed property used for warehousing, 

offices and branch trading facilities. These leases generally have an initial three to five-year lease term with options 
to renew at market-related rentals. Annual escalations from 6% to 10% are common to all leases. No leases 
contain contingent rent provisions or covenants; variable lease payments; residual value guarantees or have not yet 
commenced.

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

19. Loans
Nedbank property mortgage loan 84 977 –
Loans from minority shareholders 20 080 38 753

Total loans 105 057 38 753
Reflected as long-term (80 386) – 

Reflected as short-term 24 671 38 753
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19. Loans (continued)
 1.  The mortgage bond was used to fund Eurolux’s investment in the Radiant properties, is secured by these 

properties with a book value of R103.9m, bears interest at prime less 0.65%, is repayable in monthly 
instalments of R0.4m/month with a final bullet payment in August 2025 (refer note 9). In addition to the 
monthly instalments, R20m of the Nedbank property mortgage loan will be repaid upon transfer of the 
property classified as non-current assets held for sale.

 2.  Loans from the minority shareholders in Eurolux were extended to fund their portion of the investment 
in Radiant, bear interest at prime overdraft rates and are repayable in terms of a loan agreement with the 
group. (Refer to note 22.)

Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

20. Trade and other payables
Trade payables 331 542 203 215
Accruals 56 407 30 519
Amount due to the GMC Powerlines vendor – 4 782

Financial instruments 22 387 949 238 516
Leave pay and payroll accruals 34 631 14 127
VAT payable 7 090 7 366

429 670 260 009

  The carrying value of trade and other payables approximated their fair value due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments. Amounts due to vendors in the prior year were paid out to them in the current year.

Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

21. Put option liability
CraigCor put option liability
Balance at the end of the previous year 4 000 19 000
Payment made to early settle one of the put options – (2 277)
Realised gain on early settlement of put option – (4 848)
Put option liability fair value adjustment 1 700 (8 155)
Unwinding of present value discount 5 500 280

Balance at the end of the year shown as long-term liability 6 200 4 000

  The put option liability is in respect of the right of the NCI in a subsidiary CraigCor to put his remaining shareholding 
to the group at a multiple of 60% of the group’s 120-day volume weighted average price earnings multiple 
(VWAPM) (with a minimum of 4 and a maximum of 7,5) on the (future) date when the put is exercised, applied to 
the annualised average of CraigCor’s 36 months “profit after tax” immediately preceding the group's most recent 
reporting period applied to the listed company’s VWAPM. This put option cannot be put until 1 March 2023 at the 
earliest. For a maturity analysis and further disclosures refer to note 23.2 and 23.6. The only significant input which 
are unobservable from market data is CraigCor’s average projected last 36 months results prior to the first date the 
option can be put amounting to R7.4m (2020: R4.5m).
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  Forecasts were redone by management. Key assumptions used in estimating the CraigCor put option liability are: 
Average growth of 7.4% (2020: 8%), price earnings multiple of 4.0x (the “floor price”) (2020: 4.0x) and a discount 
rate at the incremental borrowing rate of 7.0% (2020: 7.25%). If the multiple had been increased to 7.5x (the cap) 
the liability would increase by R5.4m (2020: R3.0m). 

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

Eurolux put option liability
Balance at the beginning of the year 40 000 60 000
Put option liability fair value adjustment 12 000 (20 000)

Balance at the end of the year shown as short-term liability 52 000 40 000

  The put option liability is currently exercisable. This liability is in respect of the right of the NCIs in a subsidiary, 
Eurolux (Pty) Ltd to put their remaining shareholding to the group at a multiple of 60% of the group’s 120-day 
weighted average cost of capital (VWAP) (with a minimum of 4x and a maximum of 7,5x) (adjusted to reverse 
the effects of IFRS as it relates to put options) applied to the annualised average of Eurolux’s previous 36 months 
profit after tax, immediately preceding the group's most recent reporting period. As the put options are currently 
puttable at any time, the liability is based on actual information that existed at the reporting date. For a maturity 
analysis and further disclosures refer to note 23.2 and 23.6. The change in value of the liability is as a result in  
the change in the historical profits and the change in the VWAP since the last measurement date. The only 
significant input which is unobservable from market data is Eurolux’s average past 36 months results amounting 
to R22.0m (2020: R23.0m).

22. Related party transactions
  Ultimate controlling company: Burke Consolidated Holdings (Pty) Ltd. The ultimate controlling person is  

Mr AR Burke. 

  The group has a related party relationship with non-controlling shareholders of Eurolux who are also directors 
and key management, directors and key management personnel. The nature of the business of the subsidiaries of 
the group is set out in note 27 and in the directors’ report. Details of material transactions with related parties are 
disclosed below. 

Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

Statement of financial position
Put option liability CraigCor director and NCI 21 6 200 4 000
Amounts due to vendors of GMC Powerlines 20 – 4 782

Long-term borrowings from Eurolux NCIs 19 20 080 –
Short-term borrowings from Eurolux NCIs 19 – 38 754
Put option liability Eurolux NCIs 21 52 000 40 000

Statement of comprehensive income
Rentals paid to companies controlled by Eurolux NCIs* (9 617) (16 052)
Interest paid on loans from Eurolux NCIs 5 (1 637) (3 616)

Sales to companies controlled by Eurolux NCIs 3 031 –

*  The group has a “call option” to acquire the property held by Green Willows Properties (Pty) Ltd, a company controlled by Eurolux NCIs for cash at an 
externally appraised market value at date of exercise of the option. The group rents the Eurolux Cape Town property on market related terms from these 
Eurolux NCIs. The Cape Town rental is R669 000 (R86.14/m2) per month on a triple net basis, escalating at 8% per annum and runs to November 2028 
with a reversion to market in January 2024; 2027. Eurolux has the right at any time after June 2021, by giving six months’ notice to terminate the lease in 
the event that the property no longer meets its operational requirements in Eurolux’s reasonable discretion. This lease is included in ROU assets and 
liabilities and management currently has no reason to believe that the property doesn’t meet its requirements. 
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22. Related party transactions (continued)

Salary
2021

R000’s

Performance
 bonus 

2021
R000’s

Directors’
 fees
2021

R000’s

Contributions
 to retirement

 funds 
2021

R000’s

Other
employment

 benefits
2021

R000’s

Total 
2021

R000’s

Directors’ remuneration
2021
Executive directors
William (Billy) Neasham 3 323 – – 329 264 3 916
Grant Scrutton 2 016 250 – 380 181 2 827
Non-executive directors
Theo Botha* – – 75 – – 75
Simon Downes – – 451 – – 451
James Dixon – – 464 – – 464
Ralph Patmore – – 698 – – 698

5 339 250 1 688 709 445 8 431 

*  Appointed 6 April 2021. Paid to controlling shareholder, Burke Consolidated Holdings, as the shareholder represented by the director.

Salary
2021

R000’s

Performance
 bonus 

2021
R000’s

Directors’
 fees
2021

R000’s

Contributions
 to retirement

 funds 
2021

R000’s

Other
employment

 benefits
2021

R000’s

Total 
2021

R000’s

2020
Executive directors
William (Billy) Neasham 3 240 – – 281 247 3 768
Grant Scrutton 2 009 – – 329 143 2 481
Non-executive directors
Simon Downes – – 400 – – 400
James Dixon – – 426 – – 426
Ralph Patmore – – 665 – – 665

5 249 – 1 491 610 390 7 740

 Key management personnel
  Key management personnel of the group are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the group, both directly and indirectly, and include directors of the 
holding and subsidiary companies, divisional directors and regional managers.
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 Remuneration paid to key management (excluding directors reported above) 

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

Short-term employment benefits 32 228 32 522
Contributions to retirement funds 519 3 104
13th cheques and bonuses 1 882 1 081
Other employment allowances and benefits 5 380 3 191

40 009 39 898

Note

At amortised 
cost

R000’s

At fair value
 through profit

 and loss
R000’s

23. Financial risk management
Classification of financial instruments
Assets 
2021
Trade and other receivables 13 484 637 –
Cash and cash equivalents 14 345 242 –

2020
Trade and other receivables 13 346 479 –
Cash and cash equivalents 14 151 956 –

Note

At amortised 
cost

R000’s

At fair value
 through profit

 and loss
R000’s

Liabilities* 
2021
Put option liabilities 21 – 58 200
Loans 19 105 057 –
Trade and other payables 20 387 949 –

2020
Put option liabilities 21 – 44 000
Short-term loans 19 38 754 –
Trade and other payables 20 238 516 –

* ROU lease liabilities are not included above, they are scoped out by IFRS 9.

  The group’s operations expose it to a number of financial instrument risks, namely credit, liquidity, interest rate 
and foreign exchange risks. The group has a financial risk management process in place to protect against and 
minimise the potential effects of these financial risks. This note presents information regarding the exposure to 
each of these risks and processes for managing them.
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23. Financial risk management (continued)
 23.1 Credit risk
   Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations and arises principally from the group’s gross trade receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents held at banking institutions.

   The group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties and it is the group’s policy that all customers 
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, trade receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the group’s exposure to bad debts is not 
significant. The group also believes that it has no significant exposure to credit risk due to the large number 
of customers comprising the group’s customer base and their dispersion across different industries and 
geographical areas. 

   Credit risk in respect of ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd, Eurolux (Pty) Ltd, Radiant (Pty) Ltd and 
Consolidated Electrical Distributor (Pty) Ltd (CED) is reduced as they maintain credit insurance in respect 
of all their customers except government, parastatals and small accounts with balances under R200 000 
(2020: R200 000). The maximum exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed in note 13. COVID-19 and 
its effects on an overleveraged government has had a larger effect on the construction industry and those 
companies that service it. This includes fewer large projects to sustain the industry (many of which used to 
be state-funded infrastructure developments) and many customers becoming very illiquid, impacting their 
ability to pay their debts timeously or at all. The effects of this have been included in the assessment of the 
receivable impairment provisions and business downsizing to reflect the lower expected trading levels. 

   To limit the credit risk exposure relating to cash and cash equivalents, the group’s cash is placed only 
with reputable financial institutions of high credit standing and limits its exposure to AA rated (or better) 
counterparties.

  The maximum exposure is the carrying amounts as disclosed in note 14.

 23.2 Liquidity risk
  Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

   The group ensures, as far as possible, that it has sufficient liquidity available to meet its liabilities as and when 
they fall due. Daily and monthly cash flow requirements are monitored to ensure sufficient cash is available 
on demand or that access to facilities is available to meet expected operational expenses. Any surplus cash is 
appropriately invested. The group maintains a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through 
the use of bank facilities and inter-company funding. In terms of the group’s MOI, there is no limit on the 
group’s authority to raise interest-bearing debt.

  Details of the banking facilities are set out in note 14 above.

  Financial liabilities – maturity analysis
   The table on the following page summarises the gross (undiscounted) maturity profile of the financial 

liabilities (not all liabilities). The put option liability maturity analysis is based on earliest date of the contractual 
undiscounted payments of the put option liability.
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Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

Payable more than five years
Lease liability 28 433 22 991
Long-term loan 44 443 –

72 876 22 991

Payable one to five years
Lease liability 40 397 56 419
Long-term loan 42 515 –
Put option liability* 7 439 4 490

90 351 60 909

Payable in one to 12 months
Put option liability** 21 52 000 40 000
Short-term loan 24 671 38 754
Lease liability 11 522 32 290
Trade and other payables 20 387 949 238 516

494 538 349 560

* Relates to the CraigCor put options and can only be exercised at the earliest 1 March 2023.
**  Relates to the Eurolux put options which are already exercisable, at the option of the NCIs, and are payable six months after notice has  

been given. 

 23.3 Interest rate risk
   Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in the interest rate will affect the group’s results or value of its 

financial instruments, namely its cash and cash equivalents and interest-bearing borrowings. 

   The group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relate primarily to the cash and cash 
equivalents and short-term loans, with a variable interest rate. As part of the process of managing the 
group’s interest rate risk, interest rate characteristics of surplus cash investments are positioned according 
to expected movement in the interest rate. The group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially 
independent of changes in the interest rates.

   Surplus cash and cash equivalents exposed to interest rate risk are placed with institutions and facilities 
which yield the highest rate of return, but which are still within acceptable liquidity maturities and risk 
parameters. The cash equivalent balances vary during the month and during the year in line with business 
cycles. The sensitivity analysis below is based on the year-end cash and loans receivable equivalents and 
short-term loans balances.
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23. Financial risk management (continued)
 23.3  Interest rate risk (continued)

  Sensitivity analysis
   The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of profit before tax to a possible change in the interest rates, 

with all other variables held constant:

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

Cash and cash equivalents 
Increase of 100 basis points would result in an improvement  
of profit before tax of 3 452 1 520
Decrease of 200 basis points would result in a reduction of  
profit before tax of (6 904) (3 309)
Short-term loans
Increase of 100 basis points would result in a reduction of  
profit before tax of 247 (388)
Decrease of 200 basis points would result in an improvement  
of profit before tax of (494) 775

 23.4 Foreign exchange risk
   ARB Global, CED and ARB Electrical Wholesalers counter their exposure to foreign currency risk against 

stronger currencies by entering into forward exchange contracts where there is a pre-determined selling 
price. Eurolux manages its foreign exchange exposures by taking out forward exchange contracts (FECs)  
or all payment terms that are in excess of 14 days from bill of lading, and all fixed term contracts are  
covered forward. Such exposure arises from purchases in currencies other than in South African Rand. It 
is the group’s policy to make use of FECs to eliminate the currency exposure on any individual transaction 
for which the payment is anticipated to be more than one month after the group has entered into a firm 
commitment for a purchase. The mark-to-market valuation of FECs are included in profit and loss and the 
residual balances reflected in receivables or payables as is appropriate, but are not material at the year-end. 
The group does not formally apply hedge accounting to its foreign currency risk.

  The group has the following exposures in foreign currencies:

2021
US$

2021
Euro

2020
US$

2020
Euro

Year-end spot rates 14.28 16.93  17.35 19.49

Foreign denominated receivables 459 – 326 21
Foreign denominated cash and equivalents 727 11 253 3
Foreign denominated payables (2 598) (88) (2 563) (57)

On-balance sheet exposures (1 412) (77) (1 984) (33)
Open purchase orders (8 775) 38 (4 194) 13
Open sales orders 1 255 – 353 –
Open forward exchange contracts (buy) 859 – 1 423 19

Total exchange exposure (8 073) (39) (4 402) (1)
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2021
R000’s

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

2020
R000’s

Foreign exchange – sensitivity analysis
If the Rand weakened by 10%, it would result in  
a decrease of profit before tax of: (11 530) (66) (7 637) (2)
If the Rand strengthened by 20%, it would result 
in an increase of profit before tax of: 23 060 122 15 274 4

   In practice, many of the group’s products that it imports are not locally manufactured, so all suppliers would 
be exposed to the same movement, and these increases would be passed onto the customers, or decreases 
demanded back by these customers.

 23.5 Capital management
   The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and 
to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the 
level of risk.

   The group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The group changes the capital structure and 
makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the 
underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the number of 
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, repurchase shares or sell 
assets to reduce debt. The board has approved a maximum of 30% gearing as an acceptable level of gearing. 

   There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during the year and the board again 
confirmed the 30% gearing limit. The group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
The banking facilities have a maximum of two times “good debtors” covenant. The group has not exceeded 
any authorised borrowing levels during the year.

   The group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net 
interest-bearing debt (excluding the ROU lease liability, offset by ROU assets) divided by capital. Net 
interest-bearing debt is calculated excluding the put option liability, the ROU lease liability and less cash and 
cash equivalents, as set out in the table below. The directors have clarified this definition of “net debt”, used 
in determining the compliance with a board mandate of 30% gearing. Capital comprises all components 
of equity. The group meets the JSE capital requirements and there are no other externally imposed capital 
requirements. The debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 30 June was as follows:

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

Loans 105 057 38 754
(Less) cash and cash equivalents (345 242) (151 956)

Net debt (240 185) (113 202)

Total equity 1 364 436 1 180 416

Debt to adjusted capital ratio (17.6%) (9.6%)

  These ratios are within the group’s stated gearing limit.

   If the ROU lease liabilities were included in the gearing ratio, the “debt to adjusted capital ratio” would have 
been 12.29% 2020: 2.77%. 
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23. Financial risk management (continued)
 23.6 Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
   Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are categorised in 

its entirety into the three levels of the fair value hierarchy based on the basis of the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety:

Note Level
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

Put option liabilities – non-current 21 3 6 200 4 000
– current 21 3 52 000 40 000

58 200 44 000

   There have been no transfers between levels. The fair value of the put option financial liabilities disclosed 
under level 3 has been determined in accordance with the predetermined contractual valuation method in 
accordance with the valuation method, disclosed in note 21. 

24. Commitments and contingencies
 24.1  Commitments
  The group has capital commitments of:

Contracted 
2021

R000’s

Not
 contracted 

2021
R000’s

Contracted 
2020

R000’s

Not
 contracted

 2020
R000’s

Land and buildings – 1 665 88 000 1 973
Computers – – 89 4 100
Motor vehicles 5 290 – – –
Furniture and fittings, plant and 
equipment 352 288 – 286

5 642 1 953 88 089 6 359

25. Segment report
  IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reporting on operating divisions of 

the group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the 
segments and to assess their performance. This group officer, who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the chief executive officer who acts in 
terms of levels of authority formally delegated by a unitary board, comprising a majority of independent non-
executive directors. 

  The group’s reportable segments were identified primarily based on the difference in products or services offered 
by the different segments rather than geographical area or regulatory environments in which they operate.

  Based on management’s monthly significant reporting segments, the segment report has been prepared by 
reportable operating segment. As a result, the primary reporting format is by business segments with no secondary 
reporting format.

for the year ended 30 June 2021
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  The group has three operating segments from which it derives its revenue. The activities associated with each 
segment are noted below:

  Electrical  Distributors of electrical products across three main categories: power and instrumentation cable, 
OHL equipment and conductors, and low voltage products.

 Lighting  Distributors of incandescent, energy-saving LED and fluorescent lamps, light fittings and electrical 
accessories.

 Corporate Property holding and specialist IT hardware, software services and support.

  The following table presents revenue and profit information and certain asset and liability information regarding 
the group’s business segments. 

R000’s Electrical Lighting Corporate

Inter-company
 elimination

 and 
reallocation Total

2021
Segment revenue 2 191 256 812 311 67 541 (148 189) 2 922 919
Inter-segment revenue (3 325) (33 590) (58 583) 95 498 –

Sales to external customers 2 187 931 778 721 8 958 (52 691) 2 922 919

Depreciation and amortisation 53 769 12 181 372 (37 290) 29 032

Operating profit 151 775 104 620 50 310 (11 883) 294 823
Impairment of property, plant  
and equipment – – (15 028) 4 488 (10 540)
Change in put option derivative 10 300 – (21 500) 11 200 –
Change in put option liability (1 700) – – (12 000) (13 700)

Net profit before interest and tax 160 375 104 620 13 782 (8 195) 270 583
Investment income – – 94 400 (94 400) –
Interest received 17 209 9 419 25 786 (32 534) 19 880
Interest paid (27 389) (33 632) (8 055) 54 569 (14 507)

Profit before tax 150 195 80 407 125 913 (80 560) 275 956
Tax (39 283) (9 218) (12 950) (3 100) (64 551)

Profit for the year 110 912 71 189 112 963 (83 714) 211 405

Segment assets 1 165 499 718 743 849 209 (680 522) 2 052 930
Segment liabilities (638 035) (432 457) (202 926) (584 925) (688 493)

Entity-wide disclosure
Exports (mainly sub-Saharan Africa) 134 659 61 794 – – 196 453
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25. Segment report (continued)

R000’s Electrical Lighting Corporate

Inter-company
 elimination

 and 
reallocation Total

2020
Segment revenue 1 746 458 674 871 61 545 (129 879) 2 352 995
Inter-segment revenue (3 325) (33 590) (58 583) 95 498 –

Sales to external customers 1 743 133 641 281 2 962 (34 381) 2 352 995

Depreciation and amortisation 56 391 17 804 1 243 (41 631) 33 807

Operating profit 73 317 28 521 54 138 (10 080) 145 896
Impairment of goodwill, trademark and 
other property, plant and equipment (8 841) – (19 324) (47 841) (76 006)
Change in put option liability 13 003 – – 20 000 33 003

Net profit before interest and tax 77 479 28 521 34 814 (37 921) 102 893
Investment income – – 39 250 (39 250) –
Interest received – – 17 159 (531) 16 628
Interest paid (11 035) (27 525) – 25 706 (12 854)

Profit before tax 66 444 996 91 223 (51 996) 106 667
Tax (15 734) 11 036 (17 213) 8 559 (13 352)

Profit for the year 50 710 12 032 74 010 (43 437) 93 315

Segment assets 1 091 309 607 770 730 318 (795 466) 1 633 931
Segment liabilities (544 440) (394 459) (265 861) 751 244 (453 516)

Entity wide disclosure
Exports (mainly sub-Saharan Africa) 103 586 42 282 – – 145 868

 Geographical information
  All trading activities and non-current assets of the segments are domiciled in South Africa. No single customer 

contributes more than 10% of the group’s revenue.
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Note
2021

R000’s
2020

R000’s

26. Statements of cash flow notes
26.1 Operating cash flow before working capital changes

Profit for the year SoCI 211 404 93 315
Adjusted for items disclosed later in the statement of cash flow
 Interest received SoCI (19 880) (16 628)
 Interest paid SoCI 14 507 12 854
 Income tax SoCI 64 551 13 352
Adjusted for non-cash transactions
 Change of put option liability fair value 21 13 700 (33 003)
 Gain from settlement of contingent consideration – (2 124)
 Impairment of goodwill – 7 947
 Impairment of trademark – 58 500
  Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and 

equipment 9 25 143 20 846
 Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 18 14 447 21 628
 Derecognition of ROU assets 18 (476) 893
 Movement in inventory impairment provision 12 4 033 10 570
 Movement in accounts receivable ECL provision 13 (110) 4 045
 (Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 (3 454) 326
 Profit on derecognition of right of use asset – (249)
 Revaluation of assets held for sale (2 593) –
Working capital changes
 (Increase)/decrease in inventories 7 250 (2 612)
 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (138 686) 57 409
 Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 166 449 (111 678)

356 285 135 391

26.2 Tax paid
Tax owing at the beginning of the year SoFP (2 338) (4 308)
Current year tax charge 6 (83 563) (38 538)
Current year prior period adjustment 6 109 145
Tax owing at year-end SoFP 6 974 2 338

Tax paid (78 818) (40 363)

26.3 Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Disposals of property, plant and equipment 9 2 610 8 282
Profit/(loss) on disposal included in profit and loss 2 3 454 (326)

6 064 7 956

26.4 Repayment of loans
Opening balance of long-term and short-terms loans (38 753) (38 851)
Non-cash mortgage loan advanced (88 575) –
Closing balance of long-term and short-term loans 105 057 38 753

(22 271) (97)
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Shares issued
Number of shares

Ownership
%

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

27. Investments in direct subsidiaries
ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd (local empowered  
electrical wholesaler) 74 10 000 10 000
Eurolux (Pty) Ltd (lighting wholesaler) 6 1 900 1 900
Xact ERP Solutions (Pty) Ltd (IT system developer and provider) 100 100 100
ARB Global (Pty) Ltd (global electrical wholesaler) 100 100 100
CED – Consolidated Electrical Distributor (Pty) Ltd  
(chint distributor) 100 120 120

Company’s share of the aggregate profits after tax of subsidiaries 177 206 66 320

  All investments are measured at cost in the company’s separate financial statements. All subsidiaries are incorporated 
in the Republic of South Africa. Set out below is the summarised information in respect of each subsidiary with 
material NCI. As disclosed in note 21, the Eurolux and CraigCor NCIs hold a put option over their shares in the 
respective companies. In terms of the group’s accounting policy for these put options, the NCI is derecognised 
and consequently the respective subsidiaries are not included in the summary below. The group also has a  
“call option” over these shares held by the Eurolux and CraigCor NCIs, but only in the event that a NCI’s employment 
is terminated. The call option value will be determined using the same method as the put option disclosed in  
note 21. The partially owned subsidiaries have minority protections in their MOIs that set out the shareholder 
agreed minority protections. These include the standard “put and calls” typical of a shareholders agreement. In 
addition to Companies Act special resolution powers, Eurolux NCIs can veto items not in the ordinary course of 
business such as appointment/retrenchment of management, issue of shares or guarantees, etc.

  The summarised information below is presented before intra-group but after intra sub-group eliminations and 
adjustments on consolidation:

ARB Electrical Wholesalers 
(Pty) Ltd

2021
R000’s

2020
R000’s

% of interest and voting rights held by NCI 26% 26%
Profit for the year allocated to NCI 20 001 9 472
Accumulated NCIs at the end of the reporting period 128 795 137 394
Dividend paid to NCI (28 600) (3 205)
Total revenue 2 009 089 1 623 388
Profit for the year 106 976 46 597
Non-current assets 281 874 302 398
Current assets 762 236 674 345
Non-current liabilities (215 868) (245 725)
Current liabilities (332 879) (202 585)
Net cash flow from operating activities 54 909 152 597
Net cash flow from investing activities (25 172) (142 267)
Net cash flow from financing activities 138 (1 795)
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28. Events after reporting date
  Subsequent to the year-end and up to the signature date of these annual financial statements, the effects 

of COVID-19 continued to have an effect on the country, and it is anticipated that this will continue into 
the foreseeable future. It is not possible to accurately predict the full financial impact on the group should 
there be any significant change in the pandemic and the national management of it. Given that the group is 
soundly structured, with a substantial equity base, limited external debt and a bank balance of R345.2m as 
at year-end, management has considered a range of potential trading scenarios in an attempt to assess the 
potential financial impact COVID-19 will have which included taking into account the actual trading results 
since year-end. 

  On 11 July 2021, South Africa experienced unrest in the form of riots, looting and vandalism particularly in  
KwaZulu-Natal and Gauteng. The group was, mercifully, largely unaffected, however on 13 July 2021 the 
building in which the Xact ERP Solutions (Pty) Ltd leased office space from was destroyed. The force majeure 
process, in terms of the lease agreement, has begun and the directors are of the opinion that Xact will not be 
liable for further lease payments until the building has been brought back into a usable condition. 

  The directors are not aware of any other material event or circumstance arising since the end of the reporting 
period and up until the date of this report, not otherwise disclosed in these consolidated financial statements 
which significantly affects the financial position, results or cash flows of the group.

29. Basis of preparation
 29.1  Statement of compliance
   The consolidated financial statements of ARB Holdings Ltd (the group) are prepared in accordance with 

IFRS and its interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board in issue and effective 
for the group at 30 June 2021, the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council, the JSE Listings Requirements and the Companies Act of South Africa.

 29.2 Basis of measurement
   The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for land and buildings 

and certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value.

 29.3 Functional and presentation currency
   The consolidated financial statements are presented in South African Rand (the group’s functional currency), 

rounded to the nearest thousand, except where otherwise indicated.

 29.4  Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
   No new, revised or amended accounting standards were implemented during the financial reporting period 

ended 30 June 2021.

   At the time of authorisation of these consolidated annual financial statements, the following standards and 
interpretations were in issue, but were not yet effective. The directors have considered the impact of the 
standards and interpretations below and believe their effect to be immaterial.

Standard
Accounting periods

 beginning

Intertest rate benchmark reform – phase 2 (amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,  
IFRS 7, and IFRS 16) 1 January 2021
IFRS 3 – Reference to the conceptual framework 1 January 2022
IFRS 9 – Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018 – 2020 1 January 2022
IAS 16 – Property, plant and equipment – proceeds before intended use 1 January 2022
IAS 37 – Onerous contracts – cost of fulfilling a contract 1 January 2022
IAS 8 – Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023
IAS 1 –  Classification of liabilities as current or non-current and disclosure of 

accounting policies 1 January 2023
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29. Basis of preparation (continued)
 29.5 Accounting estimates and judgements
   The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that may affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results 
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

   The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision only affects that period, 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements, are set out below.

  Revaluation of land and buildings 
   The valuation of land and buildings required judgement. Details of how this judgement is exercised are set 

out in note 9 (property, plant and equipment).

   Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill
   The valuation of intangible assets and goodwill required judgement. Details of how this judgement is 

exercised are set out in note 10 (goodwill and intangibles). 

   Deferred tax
   A deferred tax asset is recognised on unused tax losses adjusted for the current year to the extent that it is 

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised. The 
group used the following criteria in assessing the probability that the taxable profit will be available against 
which the unused tax losses can be utilised: 

	 	   whether the entity has sufficient taxable temporary timing differences relating to the same taxation 
authority (SARS) which will result in taxable amounts against which the unused tax losses can be used;

	 	   whether it will be probable that the entity will have taxable profits before the unused tax losses expires 
based on the budgets for the following financial year; and

	 	  whether the unused tax losses result from identifiable causes which are unlikely to recur. 

   Future taxable profits are estimated based on the budgets prepared by management and approved by the 
board. To the extent that it is not probable that taxable profits will be available against which the unused 
tax losses can be utilised, the deferred tax asset is not recognised. To determine the probability that the 
taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised, the group has reviewed 
its forecasts for the foreseeable future and compared that to its total tax losses. 

   Impairment of inventory
   In assessing the impairment of inventory, management has identified inventory that did not show any 

movement for 12 months based on sales and evaluated the extent to which this inventory will not be sold. 
While this evaluation was done by management who are experienced and knowledgeable, there is still a 
significant amount of estimation and judgement involved in arriving at the amount to be provided. Details 
of the number of years’ worth of future sales are on hand in inventory, by line item, at each period end and a 
progressive provision formula is used as a basis for management’s assessment of the impairment required. 
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   Impairment of gross trade receivables
   In developing the provision matrix used to estimate the expected credit loss allowance, judgement had to 

be used in identifying how best to disaggregate customers used to determine the appropriate customer 
credit loss and which payment history to use. In assessing the future adjustment to the ECL, factors that are 
specific to the group’s customers such as GDP and GDFD growth levels, liquidations inflation and business 
confidence levels are considered.

   Put option liability
   The valuation of put option liabilities required judgement. Details of how this judgement is exercised are set 

out in note 21 (put option liabilities).

   ROU lease liability and ROU assets
   The group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for some of the lease contracts, in which 

it is a lessee, that include renewal options. The assessment of whether the group is reasonably certain to 
exercise such options impacts the lease term, which affects the amount of lease liabilities and ROU assets 
recognised.

   In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive to exercise an extension option, or to not exercise a termination option. The economic incentives 
considered include factors such as the anticipated benefits from the location of the property, levels of 
construction development and competition in the area, ability to attract foot traffic, and the availability of 
suitable alternative properties. Extension options (or periods after termination options) are included in the 
lease term if the lease is reasonably certain not to be terminated. The assessment is reviewed if a significant 
event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and is within the 
control of the lessee. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable by the group on 
conjunction with the respective lessor, based on the fair market rental at that time.

30. Significant accounting policies
 30.1  Basis of consolidation
   These financial statements are the consolidated financial statements of ARB Holdings Ltd and entities 

controlled by it. Control is achieved when the group has powers over the investee, has control of the voting 
rights of the entity, is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to use its voting rights to affect its returns.

  Investment in subsidiaries
   Consolidation of a subsidiary begins from the date the investor gains control of an investee and ceases when 

the investor loses control of an investee.

   The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the group. 
The cost of the acquisition is measured as the fair value of assets transferred, equity instruments issued and 
liabilities incurred at the date of exchange. Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and 
losses on transactions between group companies are eliminated.

   NCIs in subsidiaries are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position separately from the 
equity attributable to equity owners of the parent company. Non-controlling shareholders’ interest may 
initially be measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling shareholders’ interests’ proportionate share 
of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on each 
acquisition individually. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of NCIs is the amount of those 
interests at initial recognition plus the NCIs’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive 
income is attributed to NCIs even if this results in the NCIs having a deficit balance.
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30. Significant accounting policies (continued)
 30.1  Basis of consolidation (continued)

  Goodwill
   Goodwill on acquisitions comprises the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration 

transferred, the fair value of any previously held interests and the recognised value of the NCI in the acquiree 
over the net amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.

   Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. 
In assessing value-in-use, the expected future cash flows from the budgets for the next year prepared by 
management are increased by the growth rate for the following four years. Capex and net working capital 
are calculated based on prior history. The resulting future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risk specific to the asset. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss. Gains and losses on the disposal of 
an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

 30.2 Property, plant and equipment
   Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Thereafter this is reduced by any accumulated 

depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is computed by allocating the 
depreciable amount of an asset on a systematic basis over its useful life. Residual values and useful lives are 
assessed at the end of every financial year and the year’s depreciation determined.

   Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative 
purposes are stated in the statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at 
the date of revaluation. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts 
do not differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the reporting date.

   Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of such land and buildings is credited in equity to the 
revaluation reserve except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously 
recognised in profit or loss in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease 
previously charged. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings 
is charged to profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties’ revaluation 
reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. On disposal the difference between the proceeds and 
the carrying value are charged to profit and loss and, if a revalued asset, the related revaluation reserve is 
transferred in equity to accumulated profits. 

  Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives as follows:
  Plant and equipment 5 to 15 years
  Furniture and equipment 5 to 6 years
  Computer equipment 3 years
  Leasehold improvements over the shorter of useful life or the term of the lease
  Buildings 50 years
  Vehicles 4 to 5 years
  Land is not depreciated

 30.3 Intangible assets
   Intangible assets acquired separately are shown at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and 

impairment losses. Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite period trademarks that do not 
have a foreseeable limit to the period over which it is expected to generate cash flows is not amortised. 
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   The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if there are 
indicators that the intangible assets may be impaired. Amortisation periods and methods are reviewed 
annually and are adjusted if appropriate.

 30.4  Impairment of non-financial assets
   The carrying amounts of the non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 

there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, and the impairment loss is recognised in 
profit and loss. 

   The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate, which reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset 
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

 30.5  Inventory
   Inventory consists of power and instrumentation cable, overhead line conductor and equipment, general 

electrical contracting materials and lamps and light fittings purchased for resale and is valued at the lower 
of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost basis. Adequate provision 
is made for obsolete, redundant and slow-moving inventory.

 30.6  Financial instruments
   The group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, 

a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 
Financial instruments are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

   Financial instruments are recognised initially at their fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial instrument, except for financial assets and financial 
liabilities at “fair value through profit or loss”, which are initially measured at fair value, excluding transaction 
costs which are recognised in profit or loss.

   Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired 
or have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expires.

  Loans receivable and payable
  Loans receivable and payable are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

  Put option liability 
   Written put options on the shares of a subsidiary held by NCIs entitle the NCIs to sell their interest in the 

subsidiary to the group. The group initially records a financial liability for its contractual obligation to pay 
the put option at the present value of the estimated option price discounted from the date the option is 
first exercisable to the reporting date. In recognising this liability, the NCI is derecognised and any excess or 
shortfall is charged or realised directly in accumulated profits in the statement of changes in equity. After 
initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at fair value through profit and loss. Dividends paid to the 
derecognised NCIs are charged to profit or loss.
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30. Significant accounting policies (continued)
 30.6  Financial instruments (continued)

   The unwinding of the present value discount on this financial liability is recorded in finance charges. The 
financial liability is fair valued at the end of each financial year and any changes in the fair value of the liability 
as a result of changes in assumptions used to estimate the future option price are also recognised in profit 
and loss.

   Once the put option is exercisable, the option price variables are known and calculated in terms of the 
contract. Refer to note 23.

  Trade and other receivables
   Trade receivables are recognised initially at the transaction price, being the amount of the consideration 

that is unconditional. Trade and other receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost less loss 
allowances. 

   The group has adopted the simplified credit loss model which recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses on trade receivables, excluding VAT and prepayments. This amount of expected credit losses 
is updated at each reporting date. The group measures this loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected credit losses (lifetime ECL), which represents the expected credit losses that will result from all 
possible default events over the expected life of the receivable. 

  Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
   The group makes use of a provision matrix as a practical expedient to the determination of expected credit 

losses on trade and other receivables. The group’s definition of default is when judgement is obtained against 
the customer. The provision matrix is based on historic credit loss experience, adjusted for future factors that 
are specific to the receivables (note 30.6), including the time value of money where this is expected to be 
significantly different in the future.

   An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying 
amount of trade and other receivables, through use of a loss allowance account. The impairment loss is 
included in operating expenses in profit or loss as a movement in credit loss allowance. 

  Write-off policy
   The group writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 

financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Receivables written off may still be subject 
to enforcement activities under the group recovery, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any 
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

  Trade and other payables
  Trade payables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

  Cash and cash equivalents 
   Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances, money market instruments and call deposits. Cash and 

cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.

	 	 Impairment	of	financial	assets
   The group calculates an allowance for ECLs on a forward-looking basis for financial assets measured at 

amortised cost. Credit losses are measured based on ECLs, being the present value of all cash shortfalls over 
its lifetime. 
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 30.7  Leases
   The group recognises ROU assets and lease liabilities for each lease. The lease liability is initially measured at 

the present value of the contractual lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing 
rate as at the lease commencement date. The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest charge 
on the lease liability and decreased by repayments made, such that the remaining liability at the end of 
each reporting period is the present value of the remaining lease payments.

   The group remeasures the lease liability (an makes a corresponding adjustment to the related ROU asset) 
should the following circumstances arise:

	 	  The lease term has changed.
	 	  The lease payments change due to changes in CPI.
	 	  A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease.

   In these cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the remaining lease payments at the 
appropriate discount rate.

   The ROU asset is initially measured at cost, comprising the amount of the initial measurement of the lease 
liability adjusted for any initial direct costs. The ROU asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the shorter of 
the asset’s useful life and the lease term. Where impairment indicators exist, these ROU assets are impaired.

 30.8 Revenue recognition
   The group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation and when control is transferred 

to a customer. Revenue is measured based on the transaction price specified in the contract with the 
customer. If the consideration in the contract includes a variable amount, the group estimates the amount 
of consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the customer. 

   The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable 
that a significant revenue reversal will not occur. Contracts for the sale of goods provide customers with a 
right of return. Accordingly, revenue is shown net of value-added taxes, credit notes for estimated returns, 
rebates and discounts after eliminating sales within the group. All revenue is from the sale of merchandise 
and is recognised at the point in time when the customer accepts delivery and the transfer of control of 
the merchandise. Payment is typically due within 60 to 120 days from date of invoice. The contracts do not 
provide for a significant benefit of financing the transfer of merchandise to the customer. 

   Sales-related warranties are not separate performance obligations as they serve as assurance that the 
products sold comply with agreed-upon specifications and cannot be purchased separately.

   The group recognises revenue from the sale of merchandise to the following types of customers: wholesale; 
retail; cash; mining and industry; exports and other. 

 30.9 Employee benefits 
	 	 Short-term	employee	benefits
   The cost of all short-term benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related 

service. The accruals for employee entitlements to salaries, bonus and annual leave represent the amount 
which the group has a present obligation to pay as a result of employees’ services provided to the reporting 
date. These accruals have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on current salary rates.

	 	 Retirement	benefits
   The group contributes to defined contribution funds. Contributions to defined contribution funds are 

recognised as an expense as incurred.
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30. Significant accounting policies (continued)
 30.10  Income tax
   Current tax
    The charge for current tax is based on the results for the year adjusted for items which are tax exempt or 

are not tax deductible. Tax is calculated using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.

   Deferred tax
    Deferred tax is recognised on the temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of 

assets and liabilities shown on the statement of financial position. 

    Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

    Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

 30.11  Contingencies 
     Contingent liabilities are a possible obligation whose existence will be confirmed by a future event or a 

present obligation which cannot be recognised because the probability of an outflow is remote or the 
amount cannot be measured reliably.

 30.12  Foreign currency transactions
    Foreign currency transactions are converted to the respective functional currency at the rate of exchange 

ruling at the date of the transaction. Gains or losses on translation are recognised in profit or loss. At 
the end of the reporting period foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate. 
Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period, or in previous 
consolidated financial statements, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

 30.13  Earnings per share and headline earnings per share
    Earnings per share is based on earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. Headline earnings per share is based on the 
same calculation as earnings per share except that attributable earnings specifically excludes items as set 
out in Circular 1/2021: “Headline Earnings” issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

 30.14  Operating segments
     Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 

chief operating decision maker. The group’s compliance the with JSE Listings Requirement 8.62(d) 
on corporate governance requirements of a unitary independent board are set out on page 55 of the 
integrated report. The chief operating decision making body who is responsible for executing the board’s 
strategy and allocating resources and assessing operating segments has been identified as the group 
chief executive officer. 

    Segment operating assets and liabilities are only those that can be specifically identified within a particular 
segment. Sales between segments are carried out on an arm’s length basis at competitive market related 
prices based on the volumes involved.
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We thank our shareholders and other stakeholders for 
your ongoing support of and belief in the group. We 
are constantly aware that without a functioning and 

supportive business ecosystem around us, ARB could 
not have achieved the results we did.

Ralph Patmore
Chairman
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as at 30 June 2021

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

Number of
 shareholdings

% of total
 shareholdings

Shares held
000’s % held

Shareholder spread
1 – 1 000 shares 2 072 77.63 188 0.08
1 001 – 10 000 shares 378 14.16 1 429 0.61
10 001 – 100 000 shares 137 5.13 4 495 1.91
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 62 2.32 27 727 11.80
1 000 001 shares and over 20 0.75 201 161 85.60

Total 2 669 100.00 235 000 100.00

Distribution of shareholders
Companies and close corporations 36 1.35 133 334 56.74
Trusts 41 1.54 20 411 8.69
Retirement, hedge and collective funds 17 0.64 15 906 6.77
Retail shareholders 2 506 93.89 20 157 8.58
Custodians and nominees 9 0.34 11 584 4.93
Other 60 2.25 33 608 14.30

Total 2 669 100.00 235 000 100.00

Shareholder type
Non-public shareholders 7 0.67 152 234 64.31

Shareholder with > 10% of the shares 2 0.00 145 490 61.91
Directors direct 4 0.28 5 029 2.14
Directors indirect 1 0.39 1 715 0.26

Public shareholders 2 662 99.33 82 766 35.69

Total 2 669 100.00 235 000 100.00

Shares %

Beneficial shareholders with a holding greater than 5% of the shares in issue:
Burke Consolidated Holdings (Pty) Ltd 130 527 55.54
Alan Burke Trust 14 963 6.37
Namibian GIPF 14 720 6.26

Total 155 724 68.17

No change notice
 There were no shares issued and no changes in beneficial shareholder with a holding greater than 3% between 
the year-end and the date of this report.
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Listed on JSE 20 November 2007

Announcement of year-end results 20 August 2021

Integrated report posted 27 September 2021

AGM 15 November 2021

Announcement of half year interim results 12 February 2022 

Financial year-end 30 June 2022
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ARB HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Registration number: 1986/002975/06)
Share code: ARH
ISIN: ZAE000109435
(“ARB” or “the company”)

Notice
Notice is hereby given to the shareholders of ARB that the AGM of ARB will be held entirely via a remote interactive 
electronic platform Zoom meeting on 15 November 2021 at 10:00 to (i) deal with such business as may lawfully be dealt 
with at the meeting, (ii) the presentation of the directors’ report, the annual financial statements, the audit committee 
report and the social and ethics committee report of the company for the year ended 30 June 2021 (contained in the 
integrated report of the company for the same period, of which this notice forms a part (the integrated report) and  
(iii) consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions set out 
hereunder in the manner required by the Companies Act, 2008, as amended (the Companies Act), as read with the 
Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (JSE). ARB will be assisted by Computershare Investor Services Proprietary 
Limited (the company’s transfer secretaries) who will also act as scrutineers.

Kindly note that meeting participants (including shareholders and proxies) are required in terms of section 63(1)  
of	 the	 Companies	 Act	 to	 provide	 reasonably	 satisfactory	 identification	 before	 being	 entitled	 to	 attend	 or	 
participate	in	a	shareholders’	meeting.	Forms	of	identification	include	valid	identity	documents,	driver’s	licences	
and passports.

Record	dates,	voting	and	proxies
Please take note of the following important dates with regard to the AGM:

Record date for the purposes of receiving this notice Friday, 17 September 2021

Distribution of the integrated report Thursday, 30 September 2021

Last day to trade for voting purposes Tuesday, 2 November 2021

Record date for voting purposes Friday, 5 November 2021

Last day to lodge proxy form in writing (by 10:00) Thursday, 11 November 2021*

AGM to be held at 10:00 Monday, 15 November 2021

Results of AGM published on SENS Wednesday, 17 November 2021

*  Dematerialised shareholders who have elected own-name registration in the sub-register through a Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) and 
who are unable to attend but wish to vote at the AGM, should complete and return the attached form of proxy and lodge it with the transfer secretaries of the  
company at least 48 hours prior to the AGM. If this deadline is not met, the shareholder or proxy may bring it to the meeting but will be required to provide proof 
(sufficient to the chairman of the meeting) of the validity of the proxy and the identification of the bearer.

A shareholder of the company entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint one or more proxies 
(who need not be a shareholder of the company) to attend, vote and speak in his/her stead. On a show of hands, 
every shareholder of the company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote only. On a poll, every 
shareholder of the company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote for every ordinary share held 
in the company by such shareholder. 

Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker, other than through own-name 
registration and who wish to attend the AGM must instruct their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary 
written authority to attend. If such shareholders are unable to attend but wish to vote at the AGM they should provide 
their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the agreement entered into between that shareholder 
and his/her CSDP or broker.
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Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the company’s transfer secretaries. The completed forms of proxy 
must be deposited at, posted or faxed to the transfer secretaries at the address below, to be received at least 48 hours 
prior to the AGM. Any shareholder who completes and lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend 
and vote in person at the AGM should the shareholder subsequently decide to do so.

Presentation of annual financial statements 
The consolidated annual financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 30 June 2021, 
including the directors’ report, the independent auditor’s report, the audit committee report, the risk committee report, 
the social and ethics committee report and the balance of the integrated report as approved by the board of directors 
are presented to shareholders. Shareholders are afforded the opportunity to ask questions and make comments on 
these financial statements. 

Questions:  Shareholders are encouraged to submit via email any questions in advance of the AGM to the company 
secretary at mariol@arbhold.co.za. These questions will be addressed at the AGM and will be responded 
to via email thereafter.

Ordinary resolutions
1. Ordinary resolution 1: To elect Blayne Gordon Burke as a director of the company
  “RESOLVED that Blayne Gordon Burke, in terms of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, as amended 

or substituted, and who, being eligible, offers himself for election, be and is hereby elected as a director of  
the company.”

 A brief curriculum vitae of Blayne is set out on page 29 of the integrated report of which this notice forms part.

2. Ordinary resolution 2: To elect Theophilous James Bennett Botha as a director of the company
  “RESOLVED that Theophilous James Bennett Botha, in terms of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, as 

amended or substituted, and who, being eligible, offers himself for election as the representative non-executive 
director for Alan Burke, be and is hereby elected as a director of the company.”

 A brief curriculum vitae of Theo is set out on page 29 of the integrated report of which this notice forms part.

3. Ordinary resolution 3: To re-elect James Stephen Dixon as a director of the company
  “RESOLVED that James Stephen Dixon, who retires by rotation in terms of the company’s memorandum of 

incorporation, as amended or substituted, and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby 
re-elected as a director of the company.”

 A brief curriculum vitae of James is set out on page 28 of the integrated report of which this notice forms part.

4. Ordinary resolution 4: To elect the audit committee members, each by separate vote:
 Subject to the passing of ordinary resolution 3 above:
  “RESOLVED that shareholders elect, each by way of a separate vote, the following non-executive directors as 

members of the audit committee, with effect from the end of this AGM:
	  James Stephen Dixon (chairman) – independent non-executive director; 
	  Simon Trouncer Downes – independent non-executive director; and
	  Ralph Bruce Patmore – lead independent non-executive director.”

  Brief curriculum vitae of these independent non-executive directors offering themselves for re-election as 
members of the audit committee are set out on page 28 of the integrated report of which this notice forms part.
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5. Ordinary resolution 5: To reappoint the auditor and fix their remuneration 
  “RESOLVED that the audit committee be and is hereby authorised to reappoint PKF Durban as the auditor of the 

company and its subsidiaries and Tania Marti-Warren being a partner of PKF Durban, as the individual designated 
auditor, until the conclusion of the company’s next AGM and, in addition, the audit committee be and is hereby 
authorised to determine and pay the auditor’s remuneration.”

6.  Ordinary resolution 6: To authorise directors and/or the company secretary to act and sign  
documentation

  “RESOLVED that any two directors of the company or the company secretary be and is hereby authorised to settle 
the terms of and sign all such documentation and do all such things as may be necessary for or incidental to the 
implementation of the ordinary and special resolutions which are passed by the shareholders.”

7. Ordinary resolution 7: To endorse the ARB remuneration policy – non-binding advisory vote
  The remuneration policy, which forms part of the remuneration report, as set out on pages 69 to 74 of this integrated 

report, for the financial year ended 30 June 2021, will be tabled at the meeting.

  “RESOLVED that shareholders endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, that the company’s remuneration 
policy, as tabled, be and is hereby approved.”

  In terms of King IV™ dealing with the board of directors, companies are required to table their remuneration 
policy every year to shareholders for a non-binding advisory vote at the AGM. This vote enables shareholders to 
express their views on the remuneration policies adopted. This ordinary resolution is of advisory nature only and 
failure to pass this resolution will, therefore, not have any legal consequences relating to the existing arrangements. 
The board, however, will take the outcome of the vote into consideration when considering the company’s future 
remuneration policies.

8.  Ordinary resolution 8: To endorse the implementation of the ARB remuneration policy – non-binding 
advisory vote

  The implementation of the remuneration policy, which forms part of the remuneration report, as set out on  
pages 69 to 79 of this integrated report, for the financial year ended 30 June 2021, will be tabled at the meeting.

  “RESOLVED that shareholders endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, the implementation of the company’s 
remuneration policy, as tabled, be and is hereby approved.”

  In terms of King IV™ dealing with the board of directors, companies are required to table their implementation of 
the remuneration policy every year to shareholders for a non-binding advisory vote at the AGM. This vote enables 
shareholders to express their views on the remuneration policies adopted. This ordinary resolution is of advisory 
nature only and failure to pass this resolution will, therefore, not have any legal consequences relating to the 
existing arrangements. The board, however, will take the outcome of the vote into consideration when considering 
the company’s future remuneration policies.

  Should more than 25% of the total votes be cast against ordinary resolutions 7 and 8, the company will issue 
an announcement on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange News Service (SENS) inviting shareholders, who voted 
against the resolutions, to meet with members of the remuneration committee. The process to be followed will be 
set out in a SENS announcement

  Save for ordinary resolution 2, a 50% majority of votes cast by those shareholders present or represented and voting 
at the AGM is required for the ordinary resolutions as set out in this notice to be adopted.
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Special resolutions
1. Special resolution 1: To approve a general authority to repurchase the company shares
  “RESOLVED that the directors of the company be and are hereby authorised, by way of a general authority, to 

repurchase on behalf of the company and/or any of its subsidiaries, ordinary shares issued by the company, 
in accordance with the Companies Act, and in particular, subject to section 48(8)(b) thereof, the company’s 
memorandum of incorporation, as amended or substituted, and the Listings Requirements of the JSE, and 
provided that:

	   any such acquisition of ordinary shares shall be effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading 
system and done without any prior understanding or arrangement between the company and the counter-party;

	    this general authority shall only be valid until the company’s next AGM, provided that it shall not extend beyond 
15 months from the date of the passing of this special resolution;

	   an announcement setting out such details as may be required in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE 
will be published on SENS once the company or any of its subsidiaries has acquired ordinary shares constituting, 
on a cumulative basis, 3% of the initial number of ordinary shares in issue as at the time the general authority 
was granted and for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number of shares acquired thereafter; 

	   in terms of the general authority, the acquisition of ordinary shares in any one financial year may not exceed, in 
aggregate, 20% of the company’s issued share capital of that class, at the time the approval is granted, and the 
shares held by a subsidiary of the company may not exceed, in aggregate, 10% of the number of issued shares 
of the company of that class;

	   in determining the price at which the company’s ordinary shares are acquired by the company and/or any of its 
subsidiaries in terms of this general authority, the maximum premium at which such ordinary shares may be 
acquired will be 10% of the weighted average market price at which such ordinary shares are traded on the JSE, 
as determined over the five business days immediately preceding the date of the acquisition of such ordinary 
shares by the company and/or any of its subsidiaries;

	   a resolution shall be passed by the board of directors that it has authorised the repurchase, that the company 
and its subsidiaries have passed the solvency and liquidity tests as required by section 46 of the Companies Act 
and that, since the test was performed, there have been no material changes to the financial position of the 
company and its subsidiaries;

	   the company will only appoint one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on its behalf; and
	   the company and/or its subsidiaries will not acquire the company’s shares during a prohibited period as defined 

in paragraph 3.67 of the Listings Requirements of the JSE unless they have in place a repurchase programme 
where the dates and quantities of securities to be traded during the relevant period are fixed (not subject to any 
variation) and has been submitted to the JSE in writing prior to the commencement of the prohibited period.”

  Reason for and effect of special resolution 1 (including statement of the board of directors’ intention regarding 
the utilisation of the authority sought)

  The reason for and effect of special resolution 1 is to grant the directors of the company a general authority, up 
to and including the date of the next AGM of the company or the expiration of 15 months from the date of the 
passing of this special resolution, whichever is the earlier date, for the acquisition by the company, or any of its 
subsidiaries, of shares issued by the company. 

  A repurchase of shares is not contemplated at the date of this notice; however, the directors believe it to be in the 
interests of the company that shareholders grant a general authority to provide the board with the flexibility to 
facilitate the repurchase of company shares as and when the board considers it appropriate.

  Please refer to the additional disclosure of information contained elsewhere in this notice required in terms of the 
Listings Requirements of the JSE.
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2. Special resolution 2: To approve the remuneration of non-executive directors from 1 July 2021
  “RESOLVED that the remuneration of non-executive directors, in the form of fees for their services as directors, from 

1 July 2021 as set out below, be and is hereby approved as contemplated in section 66(9) of the Companies Act:

Chairman of the board Retainer of R426 200 per annum (2021: R405 900)
R34 100 per board meeting chaired (2021: R32 500)
R13 650 per committee meeting attended (2021: R13 000) 

Non-executive director Retainer of R206 900 per annum (2021: R197 000)
R13 700 per board or committee meeting attended (2021: R13 000)
R7 000 per ad-hoc board meeting attended (2021: RNil) 

Committee chairman R20 500 per committee meeting chaired (2021: R19 500)

 Reason for and effect of special resolution 2
  The reason for and effect of special resolution 2 is to approve the remuneration of the non-executive directors 

in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act and the company’s memorandum of incorporation.  
Ad hoc meetings of the board are new and not all ad hoc meetings of the board will be paid meetings, some are 
covered by the board retainer. Where a meeting requires preparation and meeting time that is not incidental, the 
chairman in his reasonable discretion my determine that the meeting to be a remunerable ad hoc meeting.

3.  Special resolution 3: To approve the granting of financial assistance to related and inter-related com-
panies and corporations

  “RESOLVED that the company be and is hereby authorised, in terms of a general authority contemplated in  
section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act for a period of two years from the date of this resolution, to provide 
direct or indirect financial assistance as defined in section 45(1) of the Companies Act to a related or inter-related 
company or corporation, subject to the board of directors of the company being satisfied that:

 (a)  pursuant to section 45(3)(b)(i) of the Companies Act, immediately after providing such financial assistance, the 
company would satisfy the solvency and liquidity test (as contemplated in section 4(1) of the Companies Act);

 (b)  pursuant to section 45(3)(b)(ii) of the Companies Act, the terms under which such financial assistance is 
proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to the company; and

 (c)  any conditions or restrictions with respect to the granting of such financial assistance set out in the company’s 
memorandum of incorporation and/or the Listings Requirements of the JSE have been complied with.”

 Reason for and effect of special resolution 3
  The reason for and effect of special resolution 3 is to provide the directors with an authority to provide  

financial assistance to related or inter-related companies and corporations in accordance with Section 45 of  
the Companies Act.

  A 75% majority of votes cast by those shareholders present or represented and voting at the AGM is required for 
each of the special resolutions as set out in this notice to be adopted.

Additional disclosure required in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE
The following additional information, some of which might appear elsewhere in the integrated report of which this 
notice forms part, is provided in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE for purposes of considering special 
resolution 1:
  major shareholders (refer to page 128 of this integrated report); and
  share capital of the company (refer to page 82 of this integrated report).
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Repurchase undertaking
The directors of the company confirm they are satisfied, after considering the effect of the maximum repurchase 
contemplated by special resolution 1, that for a period of 12 months after the date of notice of this AGM:

  The company and the subsidiaries of the company (the group) will be able to repay their debts as such debts become 
due in the ordinary course of business;

  The assets of the company and group, fairly valued in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and on a basis consistent with the previous financial year, will exceed the liabilities of the company and group;

 The company and the group will have adequate share capital and reserves for ordinary business purposes; and
 The company and the group will have sufficient working capital for ordinary business purposes.

Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors, whose names are given on pages 28 and 29 of this integrated report that this notice forms part  
of, collectively and individually, accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information pertaining to special 
resolution 1 and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which 
would make any statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been 
made and that this notice contains all information required by law and the Listings Requirements of the JSE.

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in this integrated report, there have been no material changes in 
the financial or trading position of the company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit report and 
up to the date of this notice.

Electronic participation arrangements
The company’s memorandum of incorporation authorises the conduct of shareholders’ meetings entirely by electronic 
communication as does section 63(2)(a) of the Companies Act. 

Shareholders or their duly appointed proxies who wish to participate in the AGM are required to complete the 
electronic participation application form available immediately after the proxy form on page 139 and email same to the 
company’s transfer secretaries at proxy@computershare.co.za and to ARB at mariol@arbhold.co.za as soon as possible, 
but in any event by no later than 9:00 on Thursday, 11 November 2021. 

Shareholders or their duly appointed proxies are required to provide satisfactory identification before being entitled to 
participate in the AGM. 

Upon receiving a completed electronic participation application form, the company’s transfer secretaries will follow 
a verification process to verify each applicant’s entitlement to participate in and/or vote at the AGM. The company’s 
transfer secretaries will provide the company with the nominated email address of each verified shareholder or their 
duly appointed proxy to enable the company to forward them a Zoom meeting invitation required to access the AGM. 

Fully verified shareholders or their duly appointed proxies who have applied to participate electronically in the AGM 
are requested by no later than 09:50 on Monday, 15 November 2021 to join the lobby of the meeting by clicking on 
the Zoom meeting link to be provided by ARB’s company secretary or by the secretarial office, whose admission to the 
meeting will be controlled by the company secretary/secretarial office.
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Voting and proxies
For an ordinary resolution to be approved by the shareholders, it must be supported by more than 50% of the voting 
rights exercised on the resolution. For a special resolution to be approved by the shareholders, it must be supported by 
at least 75% of the voting rights exercised on the resolution.

Voting will be via a poll; every shareholder of the company shall have one vote for every share held in the company by 
such shareholder.

A shareholder entitled to participate and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to electronically 
participate, speak and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company. 

The electronic platform (Zoom) to be utilised to host the AGM does not provide for electronic voting during the meeting. 

Accordingly, shareholders are strongly encouraged to submit votes by proxy in advance of the AGM, by completing  
the form of proxy (found at page 137) and lodging this form with the company’s transfer secretaries by no later than 
10:00 on Thursday, 11 November 2021 by:

  delivery to Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue,  
Rosebank; or

 email to proxy@computershare.co.za. 

Any forms of proxy not submitted by this time can still be lodged by email to proxy@computershare.co.za prior to the 
commencement of the meeting. 

Shareholders are reminded that they are still able to vote normally through proxy submission, despite deciding to 
participate either electronically or not at all in the AGM. 

Shareholders who indicate in the electronic participation application form that they wish to vote during the electronic 
meeting, will be contacted by the company’s transfer secretaries to make the necessary arrangements. 

By order of the board

Mario Louw
Company secretary

20 August 2021

Registered office Rosebank Towers
10 Mack Road 15 Biermann Avenue
Prospecton Rosebank
Durban, 4110 Johannesburg, 2001

(PO Box 26426, Isipingo Beach, 4115) (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)
Telephone: +27 31 910 0200 Telephone: +27 11 370 5000

Fax: +27 11 688 5248
Transfer secretaries Email: ecomms@computershare.co.za
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
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ARB Holdings Limited
(Registration number: 1986/002975/06)
Share code: ARH
ISIN: ZAE000109435
(“ARB” or “the company”)

For use at the AGM of the shareholders of the company to be held at 10:00 via an online webinar at us06web.zoom.us/5/87353810198 on 
Monday, 15 November 2021. The notice of AGM will be contained in the integrated report which will be posted to shareholders by no later than 
Thursday, 30 September 2021. The record date, for purposes of determining which shareholders are entitled to receive the notice of AGM will be 
Friday, 24 September 2021. The last day to trade and the record date, in order for shareholders to be eligible to participate in and vote at the AGM 
will be Tuesday, 2 November 2021 and Friday, 5 November 2021, respectively.

For use by the holders of the company’s certificated ordinary shares (certificated shareholders) and/or dematerialised ordinary shares held 
through a Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker who have selected own-name registration (own-name dematerialised 
shareholders). 

Not for use by the holders of the company’s dematerialised ordinary shares who are not own-name dematerialised shareholders. Such 
shareholders must contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the AGM in person and request that they be issued 
with the necessary written authorisation to do so or provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the 
AGM in person but wish to be represented thereat.

I/We (full name in block letters)

of (address)

being the registered holder(s) of ordinary shares in the issued share capital of the company, do hereby appoint:

1. of or failing him/her,

2. of or failing him/her,

3. The chairman of the AGM,

as my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the AGM of the company which will be held for the purpose of considering 
and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the special and ordinary resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any 
adjournment thereof, and to vote for and/or against the special and ordinary resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the 
ordinary shares registered in my/our name(s), in accordance with the following instructions:

Number of ordinary shares/votes

In favour of* Against* Abstain*
Ordinary resolutions
1. Ordinary resolution 1: To elect Blayne Gordon Burke as a director of the company
2. Ordinary resolution 2: To elect Theophilous James Bennett Botha as a director of the company
3. Ordinary resolution 3: To re-elect James Stephen Dixon as a director of the company

4. Ordinary resolution 4: To elect the audit committee members, each by separate vote:
4.1 James Stephen Dixon (chairman)
4.2 Simon Trouncer Downes
4.3 Ralph Bruce Patmore

5. Ordinary resolution 5: To reappoint the auditor and fix their remuneration
6. Ordinary resolution 6: To authorise directors and/or the company secretary to act and sign 

documentation
7. Ordinary resolution 7: To endorse the ARB remuneration policy – non-binding advisory vote
8. Ordinary resolution 8: To endorse the implementation of the ARB remuneration policy –  

non-binding advisory vote
Special resolutions
1. Special resolution 1: To approve a general authority to repurchase the company shares
2. Special resolution 2: To approve the remuneration of non-executive directors from 1 July 2021
3. Special resolution 3: To approve the granting of financial assistance to related and  

inter-related companies and corporations

*  Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces above how you wish your votes to be cast. If no indication is given, the proxy will be entitled to vote or ab-
stain as he/she deems fit.

Signed at (place) on (date) 2021

Signature

Assisted by (where applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse side.
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FORM OF PROXY



1. This form of proxy is to be completed only by those shareholders who:
 a. hold shares in certificated form; or
 b. are recorded in the sub-register in electronic form in their own name.
2.  Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares, other than own-name dematerialised shareholders, and who 

wish to attend the AGM in person must contact their CSDP or broker who will furnish them with the necessary 
written authority to attend the AGM, or they must instruct their CSDP or broker as to how they wish to vote in this 
regard. This must be done in terms of the agreement entered into between the shareholders and their CSDP or 
broker.

3.  Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not be shareholder(s) of the company) to 
attend, speak and, on a poll, vote in place of that shareholder at the AGM.

4.  A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternate proxies of the shareholder’s choice in 
the space provided, with or without deleting “the chairman of the AGM”. The person whose name stands first on 
the form of proxy and who is present at the AGM will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose 
names follow.

5.  A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes 
exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed 
to authorise the chairman of the AGM, if the chairman is the authorised proxy, to vote in favour of the ordinary and 
special resolutions at the AGM, or any other proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the AGM as he/she deems fit, 
in respect of all the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat.

6.  A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to vote in respect of all the ordinary shares held by such shareholder 
or represented by such proxy, but the total number of votes for or against the resolutions or in respect of which 
any abstention is recorded may not exceed the total number of votes to which the shareholder or his/her proxy is 
entitled.

7.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity 
must be attached to this form of proxy, unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer secretaries or waived 
by the chairman of the AGM.

8.  The chairman of the AGM may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other than in 
accordance with these instructions and notes, provided that he is satisfied as to the manner in which a shareholder 
wishes to vote.

9.  Any alterations or corrections to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory(ies).
10.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the 

AGM and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.
11.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent/guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal 

capacity are produced or have been registered by the company’s transfer secretaries.
12.  Where there are joint holders of any shares, only that holder whose name appears first in the register in respect of 

such shares need sign this form of proxy.
13.  Completed forms of proxy must be lodged with the transfer secretaries at the address provided below at least 

48 hours prior to the AGM. If this deadline is not met, the shareholder or proxy may bring it to the meeting but 
will be required to provide proof (sufficient to the chairman of the meeting) of the validity of the proxy and the 
identification of the bearer.

Additional forms of proxy are available from the transfer secretaries on request.

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)

Telephone: +27 11 370 5000
Fax: +27 11 688 5248
Email: ecomms@computershare.co.za
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Participation in the AGM via electronic communication
Capitalised terms used in this form shall bear the meanings ascribed thereto in the notice of AGM to which this 
participation form is attached
Shareholders or their duly appointed proxy(ies) that wish to participate in the AGM via electronic communication 
(Participants), must apply to Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, by email to proxy@computershare.co.za, or 
by delivering the duly completed form by hand to: Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg, 
2001, or mailing it to Private Bag X9000, Saxonwold, 2132 so as to be received by Computershare Investor Services 
(Pty) Ltd as soon as practically possible but by the latest 09:00 on Thursday, 11 November 2021 with sufficient proof 
of identification such as the required “CSDP or broker written authority to attend” and a copy of your ID document 
attached. Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd will first validate such requests and confirm the identity of the 
shareholder in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, and, if the request is validated, full details on how to access 
the Zoom Webinar facility will be provided.

Important notice
The company shall, by no later than 17:00 on 12 November 2021 prior to the meeting at 10:00 on Monday,  
15 November 2021, notify Participants that have delivered valid notices in the form of this form, by email of the relevant 
details through which Participants can participate electronically.

Application form 
Full name of Participant:

ID number:

Email address: 

Cell number: 

Telephone number: (code) (number):

Name of CSDP or broker (if shares are held in dematerialised format): 

Contact number of CSDP/broker:

Contact person of CSDP/broker:

Number of shares certificate (if applicable): 

Signature: 

Date:

PTO for terms and conditions for participation in the AGM via electronic communication.
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ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION FORM



1.  The cost of electronic participation in the AGM is for the expense of the Participant and will be billed separately by 
the Participant’s own service provider.

2.  The Participant acknowledges that the electronic communication services are provided by third parties and 
indemnifies ARB against any loss, injury, damage, penalty or claim arising in any way from the use or possession of 
the electronic services, whether or not the problem is caused by any act or omission on the part of the Participant 
or anyone else. In particular, but not exclusively, the Participant acknowledges that he/she will have no claim 
against the company, whether for consequential damages or otherwise, arising from the use of the electronic 
services or any defect in it or from total or partial failure of the electronic services and connections linking the 
participants via the electronic services to the AGM.

3.  The application to participate in the AGM electronically will only be deemed successful if this application form has 
been completed and signed by the Participant.

4.  ARB cannot guarantee there will not be a break in electronic communication that is beyond the control of  
the company.

5.   In terms of voting, the meeting will progress and the members will be asked to complete the proxy form  
(on page 137). Once the meeting has been completed, members are requested to e-mail the proxy forms to  
proxy@computershare.co.za within 2 hours of the meeting.

6.  The results of the voting will be published on SENS the next day (16 November 2021). 

Participant’s name: 

Signature: 

Date:  /   /2021
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AGM Annual general meeting (of shareholders)

ARB Electrical Wholesalers ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd – 74% held subsidiary and part of the 
electrical division

ARB IT Solutions ARB IT Solutions (Pty) Limited – 100% subsidiary of ARB that provides the IT 
services to the electrical division and forms part of the corporate division 

ARB,	the	group,	the	company	 ARB Holdings Limited

Batsomi Power Batsomi Power (Pty) Limited – 26% B-BBBEE shareholder of ARB Electrical 
Wholesalers 

BAC&I Black, Asian, Coloured and Indian: the broad definition of “black” in terms of 
the B-BBBEE code 

B-BBEE Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment

CED Consolidated Electrical Distributor (Pty) Limited – CHINT Distributors and part 
of the electrical division 

CFL Compact Fluorescent Lamp – form of energy saving luminaire (light bulb)

CSI Corporate Social Investment – investing in the local community with money 
and time as part of “good corporate citizenship” 

DIY Do-It-Yourself

Elektro Vroomen Elektro Vroomen (Pty) Limited – 100% subsidiary of ARB Electrical Wholesalers 
and part of the electrical division 

ECL Estimated credit losses, an IFRS 9 term, being the probability weighted 
estimated loss on accounts receivable in total and in each credit status period 
(current, 60 days, etc)

EIR Effective interest rate, used in discounting amounts to net present value and 
unless otherwise stated, is the South African prime rate of interest 

ERP Enterprise Resource Planning – a component of a broader IT solution

Eurolux Eurolux (Pty) Limited – 60% held subsidiary and part of the lighting division

CGU Cash-generating unit – being a business unit, usually used in IFRS to ascribe 
goodwill to and the subject of discounted cash flow calculations to justify the 
valuation of goodwill

IEC International Elektro-technical Commission – Belgian-based international 
standard setting authority, used as the base for new RSA standards 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards and its interpretations issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board

JSE The JSE Limited – Johannesburg Stock Exchange

LAP List The Eskom List of Approved Products, being those products Eskom is allowed 
to buy

LOA Letter of Authority – authority issued for five years by the NRCS [can be 
extended by three years] as evidence of compliance with applicable South 
African Standards, allowing the manufacture or import of an item

LED Light Emitting Diode – type of luminaire (light bulb)

MOI Memorandum of Incorporation

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
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MWth Megawatts thermal

NCI Non-controlling interest – outside/minority shareholders in the group

NQF National Qualification Framework – RSA national education qualification 
standard benchmark

NRCS National Regulator Compliance Standards – incorporated by the NRCS Act 
2008 to enforce RSA standards such as the SABS standards

OEM Original Equipment Manufacturer

OHL Overhead line – a form of power connectivity using suspended (aluminium) 
conductor and the name of a department in the electrical division

RCP Republic Copper Price – the industry standard measure of the copper price 
being the monthly average daily price of copper on the LME (London Metals 
Exchange) multiplied by the daily rand/dollar exchange price

S189 process Sections 189 and 189A of the South African Labour Relations Act 66 of 1995 
deal with dismissals based on operational requirements – retrenchments 
being one of them

SABS South African Bureau of Standards

SADC Southern African Development Community – covering South Africa, Botswana, 
Lesotho, Eswatini and Namibia

SANAS South African National Accreditation System – National body that oversees 
standards compliance (such as B-BBEE certification, calibration laboratories)

SANS South African National Standards – developed by the SABS, reviewed by the 
NRCS and gazetted by the Department of Trade and Industry

SENS Securities Exchange News Service – the JSE automated news service

SoCI Statements of comprehensive income (IFRS term for an income statement)

SoFP Statements of financial position (IFRS term for a balance sheet)

SoCE Statement of change in owner’s equity

TERS Temporary Employer/Employee Relief Scheme – specifically in this integrated 
report refers to one of the measures implemented by the South African 
government to provide relief to employers and employees as a result of 
COVID-19 losses

UIF Unemployment Insurance Fund

VWAP Volume weighted average (share) price

WMS Warehouse Management System at Lords View distribution centre
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Telephone: +27 31 910 0200
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Telephone: +27 11 459 1860 
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